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PART I  
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS  

Franklin Electric Co., Inc. is an Indiana corporation founded in 1944 and incorporated in 1946, and together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter 
referred to as the "Company" unless the context requires otherwise), conducts business in a single business segment: the design, manufacture 
and distribution of electric motors, electronic motor controls and related equipment.  

On October 24, 1997, the Company sold the common stock of Oil Dynamics, Inc. (ODI), previously a wholly-owned subsidiary, to an 
unrelated entity. ODI's operations represented substantially all of the Company's oil well pumping systems product line.  

Products and Markets Served  

The Company manufactures and distributes electric motors, electronic motor controls and related equipment. These motors are sold principally 
by a single company sales force in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia, South Africa, Mexico and other world markets.  

The market for electric motors is highly competitive and includes both large and small suppliers. The Company's motor sales are primarily to 
original equipment manufacturers of pumps, petroleum pumping equipment, compressors, fans, heating and air conditioning equipment, 
swimming pool equipment, medical furniture and business machines. Motors are also sold in the replacement market through independent 
distributors and repair shops.  

Goulds Pumps, Inc., a customer of the Company, accounted for 12.4 percent, 12.5 percent and 12.9 percent of the Company's consolidated 
sales in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.  

The Company offers normal and customary trade terms to its customers, no significant part of which is of an extended nature. Special 
inventory requirements are not necessary, and customer merchandise return rights do not extend beyond normal warranty provisions.  

The principal raw materials used in the manufacture of the Company's products are steel in coils and bars, copper wire, and aluminum ingot. 
Major components are capacitors, motor protectors, forgings, gray iron castings and bearings. Most materials are available from many sources 
in the United States and in many world markets. In the opinion of management, no single source of supply is critical to the Company's 
business. Availability of fuel and energy is adequate to satisfy current and projected overall operations unless interrupted by government 
direction or allocation.  

The Company employed 2,338 persons at the end of 1997.  

Financial Information by Geographic Area  

Financial information by geographic area is included within this Form 10-K at page 32.  



Research and Development  

The Company spent approximately $5.1 million in 1997, $4.8 million in 1996 and $4.7 million in 1995 on activities related to the development 
of new products, on improvements of existing products and manufacturing methods, and on other applied research and development.  

In 1997, development continued on the product line expansion of rewindable motors, production startup of severe duty motors and a new line 
of variable speed drives integrated with custom motors. Research continued on new materials and processes which will result in more cost 
effective manufacture of high volume products.  

The Company owns several patents. In aggregate, these patents are of material importance in the operation of the business; however, the 
Company believes that its operations are not dependent on any single patent or group of patents.  

Backlog  

The dollar amount of backlog at the end of 1997 and 1996 was as follows:  

 

The backlog is composed of written orders at prices adjustable on a price-at- the-time-of-shipment basis for products, some of which are 
specifically designed for the customer, but most of which are standard catalog items. Both add-ons and cancellations of catalog items are made 
without charge to the customer, but charges are generally made on any cancellation of a specifically designed product. The amount for 1996 
included ODI's backlog of $7.1 million. All backlog orders are expected to be filled in fiscal 1998.  

The Company's sales and earnings are not substantially seasonal in nature. There is no seasonal pattern to the backlog and the backlog has not 
proven to be a significant indicator of future sales.  

Environmental Matters  

Compliance with federal, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of material into the environment, or otherwise relating to the 
protection of the environment, is not expected to have any material adverse effect upon the financial position, capital expenditures, earnings or 
competitive position of the Company. Refer to Item 3 of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding legal proceedings related to 
environmental matters.  

                                      (In thousands ) 
                                    Fiscal Year End ing 
                                    --------------- --- 
                                   1997             1996 
                                   ----             ---- 
 
Backlog.......................   $17,477          $ 21,324  



ITEM 2. PROPERTIES  

The Company maintains its principal executive offices in Bluffton, Indiana; manufacturing plants are located in the United States and abroad. 
Location and approximate square footage for the Company's principal facilities are described below. All principal properties are owned or held 
under operating leases.  

The Company's principal properties are as follows:  

 

In the Company's opinion, its facilities are suitable for their intended use and are in good condition.  

(1) Leased facility, which expires on April 30, 1998.  

(2) Seven of the facilities are leased with approximately 74,000 square feet.  

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

The Company is defending various claims and legal actions, including environmental matters, which have arisen in the ordinary course of 
business. The Company has attempted, where possible, to assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome to the Company as a result of these 
actions. Legal counsel has been retained to assist the Company in making these determinations, and costs are accrued when an unfavorable 
outcome is determined to be probable and a reasonable estimate can be made. As a result, the Company has an accrual balance of 
approximately $1.4 million and $1.6 million at January 3, 1998 and December 28, 1996, respectively, to provide for such actions.  

Included in such matters, the Company has been designated, in conjunction with other parties, as a "potentially responsible party" (PRP) under 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act with respect to a reclamation and recycling site located in 
Columbia City, Indiana. Under consent decree, the Company has paid approximately $153,000 through January 3, 1998 toward the cost of 
remediation. Future remediation costs are estimated at less than $5.0 million over the next four to fourteen years, for which the Company's 
share is estimated to be $35,000.  

                                           Acres        Approximate  
     Location                             of Land       Square Feet  
     --------                             -------       -----------  
 
Bluffton, Indiana                          35.8           405,660 
Siloam Springs, Arkansas                   32.6           240,400 
Wilburton, Oklahoma                        30.0           324,940 
Jonesboro, Indiana (1)                      -              34,750 
Wittlich, Rhineland, Germany                6.8            70,444 
Eight facilities with less 
  than 30,000 square feet each (2)          1.7            97,342 
                                          -----         --------- 
Total                                     106.9         1,173,536 
                                          =====         ========= 



ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY  HOLDERS  

None  

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  

The names, ages and all positions and offices held by the executive officers of the Company are:  

 

Each officer is elected for a term of one year or until his successor is elected and qualified at the meeting of the Board of Directors following 
the Annual Meeting of Shareholders.  

With the exception of Mr. Ford, each executive officer was employed by the Company during the preceding five years as an officer or in a 
management position. Prior to joining the Company in October 1995, Mr. Ford was employed by Tokheim Corporation (a manufacturer of 
petroleum dispensing marketing systems) from 1992 until 1995 as Vice President-Finance, Secretary and Chief Financial Officer.  

                                                             In this 
     Name            Age        Positions and Offic es    office since  
     ----            ---        ------------------- --    ------------  
 
William H. Lawson     61     Chairman of the Board and        1985 
                             Chief Executive Office r 
John B. Lindsay       55     President                        1995 
Jess B. Ford          46     Vice President and 
                             Chief Financial Office r          1995 
William J. Foreman    61     Vice President                   1995 
Kirk M. Nevins        54     Vice President, Sales            1995 
Donald R. Hobbs       56     Vice President, Submer sible      1996 
                             Motor Marketing 



PART II  
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY A ND RELATED STOCKHOLDER  
 
MATTERS  

The number of shareowners of record as of February 24, 1998 was 1,221. The Company's stock is traded on NASDAQ National Market: 
Symbol FELE.  

Dividends paid and the price range per common share as quoted in "The Wall Street Journal" for 1997 and 1996 were as follows:  

 

              DIVIDENDS PER SHARE              PRIC E PER SHARE 
                  1997  1996               1997                1996 
                  ----  ----               ----                ---- 
 
                                      Low       Hig h      Low       High 
                                      ---       --- -      ---       ---- 
1st Quarter...    $.12  $.10        $42 3/4   $49 1 /2   $31 1/4   $38 1/4  
2nd Quarter...    $.15  $.12        $41 1/4   $49 3 /8   $35       $37 
3rd Quarter...    $.15  $.12        $47 1/2   $61 1 /2   $30 3/4   $35 5/8  
4th Quarter...    $.15  $.12        $55 9/16  $64 1 /4   $33 3/4   $45 1/4  



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  
 

 

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------  
 
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
                                              1997      1996      1995      1994      1993 
                                              <F1>                          <F2> 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------  
Operations: 
  Net sales.............................   $303,298   $300,689  $276,440  $241,440  $206,406 
  Gross profit..........................     85,533     79,214    65,471    63,134    53,131 
  Income before change in accounting 
    principle...........................     25,505     21,510    15,502    18,709    16,103 
  Gain on sale of subsidiary............      3,500        -         -         -         - 
  Interest expense......................      1,435      1,308     2,128     2,172     2,949 
  Income taxes <F3>.....................     15,004     11,827     8,777    11,504     5,796 
  Net income............................     25,505     21,510    15,502    18,709    17,096 
  Net income available to common shares.     25,505     21,510    15,502    18,556    16,485 
  Depreciation and amortization.........      7,628      8,389     8,890     6,961     6,185 
  Capital expenditures..................      8,598      6,235     6,111     7,612     6,359 
Balance sheet: 
  Working capital.......................     87,973     89,471    69,267    51,005    45,598 
  Property, plant and equipment, net....     32,357     40,097    41,670    41,896    25,591 
  Total assets..........................    163,110    172,959   153,357   151,581   122,703 
  Long-term debt........................     19,163     20,276    20,171    20,000    30,016 
  Shareowners' equity...................   $ 92,841   $ 99,823  $ 80,557  $ 64,865  $ 50,127 
Other data: 
  % Net income to sales.................       8.4%       7.2%      5.6%      7.8%      8.3% 
  % Net income to total average assets..      15.2%      13.2%     10.2%     13.6%     15.4% 
  Current ratio.........................       3.2       3.2       2.7       1.9       2.3 
Per share: 
  Market price range 
  High..................................   $  64.25   $  45.25  $  34.50  $  36.50  $  37.25 
  Low...................................      41.25      30.75     28.25     24.50     22.00 
  Income before change in accounting 
    principle...........................       4.33       3.43      2.51      3.02      2.50 
  Income before change in accounting 
    principle, assuming dilution........       4.01       3.22      2.35      2.84      2.37 
  Net income per weighted average 
    common share........................       4.33       3.43      2.51      3.02      2.66 
  Net income per weighted average 
    common share, assuming dilution.....       4.01       3.22      2.35      2.84      2.52 
  Book value............................      14.58      14.95     12.21      9.92      7.65 
  Cash dividends on common stock........   $   0.57   $   0.46  $   0.38  $   0.29  $   0.15 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------------------------  
 
 
<F1> Includes ten months of the results of operatio ns of Oil Dynamics, Inc. 
     until its sale on October 24, 1997. 
<F2> Includes only one month of results of operatio ns of Oil Dynamics, Inc., 
     but total assets and liabilities of Oil Dynami cs, Inc. at 
     December 31, 1994.  If the effect of including  Oil Dynamics, Inc. on a 
     fully consolidated basis beginning November 29 , 1994 was excluded, net 
     income as a percent of total average assets wo uld have been 15.8 percent 
     and the current ratio would have been 2.3.  Pr eviously, the Company 
     maintained an investment in affiliate account approximately equal to 50 
     percent of the net assets of Oil Dynamics, Inc . 
<F3> Includes credit for cumulative effect of chang e in accounting principle - 
     SFAS No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" of  $993 in 1993. 
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified t o conform to the current 
year presentation. 



ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND  
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  
Net sales for 1997 were $303.3 million, a 0.9 percent increase over 1996 net sales of $300.7 million. Sales volume in the submersible water 
systems and the gasoline systems product lines increased during 1997. This increase was partially offset by the effect of having only 10 months 
of Oil Dynamics, Inc.'s (ODI) net sales for 1997. ODI was a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company until its sale on October 24, 1997. The 
strengthening of the US dollar relative to the German mark and South African rand also resulted in lower translated dollar sales for 1997. In 
1995, net sales were $276.4 million. The increase in 1996 net sales over 1995 was due to higher unit sales volume at ODI and FE Petro, Inc., a 
wholly owned subsidiary, and due to higher average selling prices throughout the Company.  

Net income for 1997 was $25.5 million, or $4.01 per diluted share, compared to 1996 net income of $21.5 million, or $3.22 per diluted share. 
Net income for 1997 includes the after tax gain on the sale of ODI of $2.3 million, or $.36 per diluted share. Excluding the gain on the sale of 
ODI, 1997 net income was $23.2 million, up 8.0 percent over the prior year. Net income for 1995 was $15.5 million, or $2.35 per diluted share. 
The increase from 1995 to 1996 was primarily due to higher net sales and improvements in the operations of ODI and in the Company's 
European operations.  

Cost of sales as a percent of net sales for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was 71.8 percent, 73.7 percent and 76.3 percent, respectively. The decrease in 
1997 was primarily due to lower manufacturing costs. The 1996 decrease was a net result of increased sales and decreases in both fixed and 
variable manufacturing costs at ODI and the Company's European operations.  

Selling and administrative expenses as a percent of net sales for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was 16.2 percent, 15.3 percent and 14.7 percent, 
respectively. The increase in 1997 was primarily a result of higher employee medical costs and employee compensation. The increase in 1996 
was primarily due to sales commissions on ODI's sales to Russian oil companies, performance incentives and expenses associated with 
employee stock awards and stock appreciation rights granted prior to 1996.  

The before tax gain on sale of subsidiary of $3.5 million resulted from the sale of ODI on October 24, 1997. All shares of ODI's common stock 
were sold to an unrelated entity for $34.4 million.  

Included in other income, net for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was interest income of $2.4 million, $2.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, 
primarily derived from the investment of cash balances in short-term U.S. treasury bills. Interest expense for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was $1.4 
million, $1.3 million and $2.1 million, respectively. Foreign currency based transactions produced a $1.0 million loss in 1997, a $0.3 million 
loss in 1996, and a $0.7 million loss in 1995. The foreign currency transaction loss in 1997 was primarily due to the impact of the strengthening 
dollar on intercompany transactions denominated in German marks and South African rands. The foreign currency transaction loss in 1996 was 
primarily due to the weakening in the South African rand and German mark relative to the U.S. dollar. This loss was partially offset by the 
strengthening of the Italian lira relative to the German mark. The foreign currency transaction loss in 1995 was primarily due  



to the weakening of the Italian lira relative to the German mark and the strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Australian dollar and 
Mexican peso.  

The provision for income taxes in 1997, 1996 and 1995 was $15.0 million, $11.8 million and $8.8 million, respectively. The effective tax rate 
for each year differs from the United States statutory rate of 35 percent principally due to the effects of state and foreign income taxes, net of 
federal tax benefits.  

Inflation has not had a significant effect on the Company's operations or financial condition.  

As customer sales volume incentive plans and other programs are based on the fiscal year of the Company, the additional week in the fiscal 
year 1997 did not have a measurable effect on the results of operations of the Company.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY  
Cash flows from operations provide the principal source of current liquidity. Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $22.0 
million, $30.9 million and $15.6 million in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively. The decrease in 1997 was primarily related to increases in 
receivables and inventories at ODI from the beginning of the year to the date of the sale of ODI. The 1996 increase was due primarily to the 
increase in net income and decrease in inventories.  

Net cash flows provided by investing activities were $9.6 million in 1997 versus net cash flows used in investing activities of $38.0 million and 
$6.7 million in 1996 and 1995, respectively. The increase in 1997 was primarily due to $34.4 million of proceeds from the sale of ODI offset in 
part by an increase in purchases of marketable securities and an increase in additions to plant and equipment. The fluctuation between 1996 and 
1995 was primarily due to purchases of short-term marketable securities less the proceeds from the maturities of these securities. During 1996, 
the Company changed its cash investment practice to take advantage of higher yields on treasury bills with maturities extending beyond three 
months.  

Net cash flows used in financing activities were $31.8 million, $2.5 million and $15.5 million in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively. During 
1997, the Company repurchased 615,000 shares of its common stock for $30.6 million. Also during 1997, the Company paid $3.4 million in 
dividends on the Company's common stock. The primary use of cash for financing activities in 1996 was for the payment of dividends on the 
Company's common stock. In 1995, the Company borrowed $3.5 million on a short-term basis to finance current working capital requirements, 
of which $3.1 million was repaid by year-end. The Company also repaid $15.2 million of short-term borrowings originating in 1994.  

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities at the end of 1997 were $71.7 million compared to $54.6 million at the end of 1996. Working 
capital decreased $1.5 million in 1997 and the current ratio of the Company was 3.2 at the end of 1997 and 1996.  

Principal payments on the Company's $20.0 million of unsecured long-term debt will begin in 1998 and continue until 2008 when a balloon 
payment of $10.0 million will fully retire the debt. In January 1996, the Company entered into an unsecured, five-year $40.0 million revolving 
credit agreement (the  



"Agreement"). The Agreement, which was amended and restated on December 30, 1997 and extended for one year to 2002, provides for 
various borrowing rate options and includes a facility fee on the committed amount. Both of the Company's loan agreements contain certain 
financial covenants with respect to borrowings, fixed charge coverage, working capital, loans or advances, and investments. The Company was 
in compliance with all debt covenants in 1997 and 1996.  

At January 3, 1998, the Company had $4.1 million of commitments for the purchase of machinery and equipment. During 1998, the Company 
intends to continue to seek acquisition candidates that are both compatible with and can leverage growth off of existing businesses.  

Management believes that internally generated funds and existing credit arrangements provide sufficient liquidity to meet current and future 
commitments.  

OTHER  
Sale of Subsidiary  
On October 24, 1997, the Company sold the common stock of ODI, previously a wholly owned subsidiary, to an unrelated entity for $34.4 
million. The Company's Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended January 3, 1998 include ODI's results of operations for the first 
ten months of 1997 and the gain on the sale of $2.3 million, after tax.  

ODI's operations represented substantially all of the Company's oil well pumping systems product line. Management believes that the sale of 
ODI will allow the Company to more effectively build shareholder value at lower risk by investing its capital and other resources in segments 
of the world economy more closely aligned with its historical core markets.  



ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

 

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

                                             1997        1996        1995 
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
 
Net sales.............................     $303,298     $300,689    $276,440 
 
Cost of sales (including research 
  and development expenses of $5,058, 
  $4,846 and $4,742, respectively)....      217,765      221,475     210,969 
                                           --------     --------    -------- 
 
Gross profit..........................       85,533       79,214      65,471 
 
Selling and administrative expenses...       49,194       45,915      40,688 
                                           --------     --------    -------- 
 
Operating income......................       36,339       33,299      24,783 
 
Interest expense......................       (1,435 )     (1,308)     (2,128)  
Gain on sale of subsidiary (Note 2)...        3,500          -           - 
Other income, net.....................        3,137        1,598       2,341 
Foreign exchange loss.................       (1,032 )       (252)       (717)  
                                           --------     --------    -------- 
 
Income before income taxes............       40,509       33,337      24,279 
 
Income taxes (Note 5).................       15,004       11,827       8,777 
                                           --------     --------    -------- 
 
Net income............................     $ 25,505     $ 21,510    $ 15,502 
                                           ========     ========    ======== 

Per share data (Note 8): 
 
  Net income per common share.........     $   4.33     $   3.43    $   2.51  
                                           ========     ========    ========  
 
  Net income per common share, 
    assuming dilution.................     $   4.01     $   3.22    $   2.35  
                                           ========     ========    ========  
 
  Dividends per common share..........     $    .57     $    .46    $    .38  
                                           ========     ========    ========  



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

ASSETS  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

 (in thousands)                                     1997        1996 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
Current assets: 
  Cash and equivalents........................   $ 23,191    $ 22,968 
  Marketable securities.......................     48,497      31,624 
  Receivables (less allowances of $1,349 
    and $1,435, respectively).................     16,978      24,634 
  Inventories: 
    Raw materials.............................      9,763      15,958 
    Work-in-process...........................      5,157       4,942 
    Finished goods............................     26,267      32,528 
    LIFO reserve..............................     (9,928)    (11,123) 
                                                   ------      ------ 
                                                   31,259      42,305 
  Other current assets (including deferred 
    income taxes of $7,490 and $7,755, 
    respectively, Note 5).....................      8,575       9,485 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
      Total current assets....................    1 28,500     131,016 
 
Property, plant and equipment, at cost: 
  Land and buildings..........................     20,018      28,335 
  Machinery and equipment.....................     82,134      95,457 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
 
                                                  1 02,152     123,792 
    Less allowance for depreciation...........     69,795      83,695 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
                                                   32,357      40,097 
Deferred and other assets (including deferred 
   income taxes of $1,001 in 1997, Note 5)....      2,253       1,846 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
 
Total Assets..................................   $1 63,110    $172,959 
                                                 == ======    ======== 



LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY  

 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

                                                   1997        1996 
(In thousands) 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------ 
 
Current liabilities: 
  Current maturities of long-term debt and 
    short-term borrowings (Note 6)............   $  1,196    $     21 
  Accounts payable............................     10,472      14,049 
  Accrued expenses (Note 4)...................     24,346      23,136 
  Income taxes (Note 5).......................      4,513       4,339 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
    Total current liabilities.................     40,527      41,545 
 
Long-term debt (Note 6)......................      19,163      20,276 
 
Employee benefit plan obligations (Note 3)....      7,237       6,904 
 
Other long-term liabilities...................      3,342       4,228 
 
Deferred income taxes (Note 5)................        -           183 
 
Shareowners' equity (Note 7): 
  Common shares outstanding 
    5,847 and 6,371, respectively.............        585         638 
  Additional capital..........................     10,295       7,613 
  Retained earnings...........................     87,508      95,961 
  Stock subscriptions.........................       (625)       (997)  
  Cumulative translation adjustment...........     (2,394)       (625)  
  Loan to ESOP Trust (Note 3).................     (2,292)     (2,524)  
  Minimum pension liability 
    adjustment, net of taxes (Note 3).........       (236)       (243)  
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
 
    Total shareowners' equity.................     92,841      99,823 
                                                 -- ------    -------- 
Total Liabilities and Shareowners' Equity.....   $1 63,110    $172,959 
                                                 == ======    ======== 



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

 

                                                199 7       1996       1995 
(In thousands) 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net income................................. $25,5 05    $21,510    $15,502 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to 
  net cash flows from operating activities: 
    Depreciation and amortization............   7,6 28      8,389      8,890 
    Gain on sale of subsidiary (Note 2)......  (3,5 00)       -          - 
    Deferred income taxes....................    (9 19)       (56)    (2,091)  
    (Gain)/Loss on disposals of plant 
      and equipment..........................     2 73        (20)       (43)  
    Changes in assets and liabilities: 
      Receivables............................  (2,2 90)    (3,018)        41 
      Inventories............................  (3,0 69)     2,164     (7,628)  
      Other assets...........................  (1,8 82)      (360)       495 
      Accounts payable and other 
        accrued expenses.....................      11      3,638       (691)  
      Employee benefit plan obligations......   1,0 93       (567)     1,166 
      Other long-term liabilities............    (8 46)      (807)       (69)  
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
Net cash flows from operating activities.....  22,0 04     30,873     15,572 
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Additions to plant and equipment...........  (8,5 98)    (6,235)    (6,111)  
  Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment..   1,1 63        257         70 
  Proceeds from sale of subsidiary (Note 2)..  34,4 02        -          - 
  Transferred cash of subsidiary.............    (5 35)       -          - 
  Additions to deferred assets...............     -          (445)      (630)  
  Purchases of marketable securities......... (64,5 21)   (52,866)       - 
  Proceeds from maturities of marketable 
    securities...............................  47,6 48     21,242        - 
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Net cash flows from investing activities.....   9,5 59    (38,047)    (6,671)  
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Borrowing on long-term debt................     -           199        - 
  Repayment of long-term debt (Note 6).......     ( 79)       (97)       - 
  Borrowing on line of credit................     1 86        -        3,549 
  Repayment of line of credit................     -          (393)   (18,300)  
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock.....   1,7 81        811        530 
  Purchases of common stock (Note 7)......... (30,6 49)       -          - 
  Proceeds from stock subscriptions..........     1 00         25        866 
  Loan to ESOP Trust.........................     -          (324)       - 
  Reduction of loan to ESOP Trust............     2 32        200        200 
  Dividends paid.............................  (3,3 71)    (2,912)    (2,370)  
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Net cash flows from financing activities..... (31,8 00)    (2,491)   (15,525)  
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash......     4 60        556       (189)  
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
 
Net change in cash and equivalents...........     2 23     (9,109)    (6,813)  
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year....  22,9 68     32,077     38,890 
                                              ----- --    -------    ------- 
Cash and equivalents at end of year.......... $23,1 91    $22,968    $32,077 
                                              ===== ==    =======    ======= 



Cash paid during 1997, 1996, and 1995 for interest was $1.4 million, $1.3 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Also, cash paid during 1997, 
1996 and 1995 for income taxes was $15.2 million, $9.3 million and $12.0 million, respectively.  

Non-cash transactions:  
During the first quarter of 1995, the Company issued 20,000 common shares valued at $0.6 million under the 1988 Executive Stock Purchase 
Plan.  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  



 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY 
 
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES 
 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
(In thousands, except share amounts) 
 
                                       Common                                               Cumulative    Loan to     Minimum 
                                       Shares     C ommon  Additional  Retained    Stock     Translatio n   ESOP       Pension 
                                     Outstanding   Stock   Capital    Earnings   Subscrip.  Adjustment     Trust     Liability 
                                     -----------   -----   -------    --------   ---------  ----------     -----     --------- 
Balance year end 1994..............   6,199,449    $620   $ 4,667     $64,231     $(2,112)   $    59     $(2,600)     $  - 
 
Net income.........................                                    15,502 
Dividends on common stock..........                                    (2,370) 
Common stock issued................      54,553       6     1,084                    (530) 
Proceeds from stock subscriptions..                                                   866 
Stock subscription amortization 
  and adjustment...................                           (68)                    461 
Currency translation adjustment....                                                              541 
Loan payment from ESOP.............                                                                          200 
                                      ---------    ----   -------     -------     -------    -------     -------      ----- 
Balance year end 1995..............   6,254,002    $626   $ 5,683     $77,363     $(1,315)   $   600     $(2,400)     $  - 
                                      ---------    ----   -------     -------     -------    -------     -------      ----- 
 
Net income.........................                                    21,510 
Dividends on common stock..........                                    (2,912) 
Common stock issued................     117,027      12     1,470 
Proceeds from stock subscriptions..                                                    25 
Stock subscription amortization 
  and adjustment...................                           460                     293 
Currency translation adjustment....                                                           (1,225) 
Loan payment from ESOP.............                                                                          200 
Loan to ESOP Trust.................                                                                         (324) 
Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment, net of tax benefit...                                                                                    (243) 
                                      ---------    ----   -------     -------     -------    -------     -------      ----- 
Balance year end 1996..............   6,371,029    $638   $ 7,613     $95,961     $  (997)   $  (625)    $(2,524)     $(243) 
                                      ---------    ----   -------     -------     -------    -------     -------      ----- 
 
Net income.........................                                    25,505 
Dividends on common stock..........                                    (3,371) 
Common stock issued................      91,404       9     1,772 
Common stock repurchased...........    (615,600)    (62)              (30,587) 
Proceeds from stock subscriptions..                                                   100 
Stock subscription amortization 
  and adjustment...................                           910                     272 
Currency translation adjustment....                                                           (1,769) 
Loan payment from ESOP.............                                                                          232 
Minimum pension liability 
  adjustment, net of tax benefit...                                                                                       7 
                                      ---------    ----   -------     -------     -------    -------     -------      ----- 
Balance year end 1997..............   5,846,833    $585   $10,295     $87,508     $  (625)   $(2,394)    $(2,292)     $(236) 
                                      =========    ====   =======     =======     =======    =======     =======      ===== 
 
 
 
                        See Notes to Consolidated F inancial Statements. 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC. AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSID IARIES  

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

FISCAL YEAR--The Company's fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest December  
31. The financial statements and accompanying notes are as of and for the years ended January 3, 1998 (53 weeks), December 28, 1996 (52 
weeks) and December 30, 1995 (52 weeks) and are referred to as 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.  

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION--The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned 
subsidiaries. The accounts of certain foreign subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements on their fiscal years ended 
November 30.  

REVENUE RECOGNITION--Sales are recognized when the Company's products are shipped.  

CASH EQUIVALENTS--Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments which are readily convertible to cash, present insignificant risk 
of changes in value due to interest rate fluctuations and generally have original or purchased maturities of three months or less.  

MARKETABLE SECURITIES--Marketable securities consist of short-term U.S. Treasury Bills with maturities of greater than 3 months at the 
date of purchase. All securities are categorized as held-to-maturity and are stated at amortized cost. Due to the nature of these securities, the 
difference between the amortized cost and fair value is immaterial.  

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS--The carrying amounts for cash and equivalents, long-term debt and short-term debt 
approximate fair value. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated based on current borrowing rates for similar issues. The Company's off-
balance sheet instruments are not significant.  

INVENTORIES--Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The majority of the cost of domestic inventories is determined using the 
last-in, first-out (LIFO) method; all remaining inventory costs are determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories stated on 
the LIFO method approximated 56 and 64 percent of total inventories in 1997 and 1996, respectively. In 1997, due to the liquidation of LIFO 
inventories, net income increased by $0.2 million.  

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT--Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment is provided 
principally on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 50 years for land improvements and buildings, 2 to 10 years for 
machinery, equipment, furniture, and fixtures and 3 to 5 years for automobiles and trucks. Accelerated methods are used for income tax 
purposes. The Company reviews its property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.  



STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION--Management of the Company has elected to adopt the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" (SFAS No. 123). Employee stock-based compensation 
will continue to be accounted for under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees". 
Accordingly, no compensation expense is recognized in the financial statements as the exercise price of the Company's stock options equals the 
market price of the underlying stock on the dates of the grants.  

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE--In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 128, "Earnings Per Share" (SFAS No. 128). SFAS No. 128 specifies the computation, presentation and disclosure 
requirements for earnings per share. Under the new requirements, primary earnings per share is replaced with basic earnings per share and the 
dilutive effect of stock options is excluded from the computation. The Company adopted SFAS No. 128 in the fourth quarter of 1997.  

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES--All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than the 
U.S. dollar are translated at year-end exchange rates. All revenue and expense accounts are translated at average rates in effect during the 
period.  

USE OF ESTIMATES--Management's best estimates of certain amounts are required in preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  

RECLASSIFICATIONS--Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  

PENDING ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  

REPORTING COMPREHENSIVE INCOME. In June 1997, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, 
"Reporting Comprehensive Income." This statement establishes standards for reporting and display of comprehensive income and its 
components in a full set of general-purpose financial statements and is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1997. The 
adoption of this Statement is not expected to have a material impact on the presentation of the Company's financial statements.  

SEGMENT DISCLOSURES. In June 1997, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, "Disclosures about 
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information." This statement establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments 
and for disclosures about products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. It is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1997. The adoption of this Statement is not expected to have a material impact on the presentation of the Company's financial 
statements.  



2. SALE OF SUBSIDIARY  

On October 24, 1997, the Company sold Oil Dynamics Inc. (ODI), previously a wholly-owned subsidiary, to Baker Hughes Incorporated 
(BHI), an unrelated entity. The operations of ODI represented substantially all of the Company's oil well pumping systems product line.  

The Company received $34.4 million in cash proceeds from BHI in exchange for the common stock of ODI. The net assets of ODI at October 
24, 1997, were $27.9 million and the Company incurred $3.0 million in related expenses resulting in an after tax gain on the sale of $2.3 
million. The Company's 1997 results of operations include ODI's ten month net sales of $34.4 million and net loss of $1.0 million. The 
Company's 1996 and 1995 results of operations include ODI's net sales of $35.9 million and $26.9 million and net losses of $3.2 million, and 
$4.0 million, respectively.  

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated statements of income have been prepared to show the Company's results of operations after 
eliminating the gain on the sale of ODI and the historical results of ODI for each period presented. This unaudited pro forma information is not 
necessarily representative of the results which would have been obtained for the respective periods.  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------  
                                             1997         1996         1995 
                                             ----         ----         ---- 
Net sales..............................   $268,912     $264,838     $249,497 
Costs and expenses.....................    230,430      225,610      218,498 
                                          --------     --------     -------- 
Income before income taxes.............     38,482       39,228       30,999 
Income taxes...........................     14,304       14,514       11,470 
                                          --------     --------     -------- 
Net income.............................   $ 24,178     $ 24,714     $ 19,529 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
 
Per share data: 
  Net income per common share..........   $   4.10     $   3.94     $   3.16 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
  Net income per common share, 
    assuming dilution..................   $   3.80     $   3.70     $   2.96 
                                          ========     ========     ======== 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------  



3. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS  

PENSION PLANS - As of January 3, 1998, the Company's domestic operations maintain three separate pension plans covering substantially all 
of its U.S. employees. A non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all U.S. employees provides benefits based upon 
years of credited service. A contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all U.S. salaried employees provides benefits 
based upon the highest average thirty-six (36) consecutive monthly earnings before retirement. A non-contributory defined benefit pension plan 
covering certain management employees provides benefits in excess of those provided under other plans. Prior to the sale of ODI, the Company 
maintained a fourth pension plan. This non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covered substantially all ODI employees and provided 
benefits based upon a percentage of monthly earnings for each year of credited service. The Company's funding policy is to make the minimum 
annual contribution required by applicable regulations.  

Net domestic pension cost for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was as follows:  

(In thousands)  

 

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Company's domestic plans and accrued pension costs reflected in the Company's balance 
sheet at year end. The Company's German subsidiary, which does not report pension information under the Employee Retirement Income 
Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), calculates the pension liability based on local requirements. Pension liability for the German subsidiary was 
$1,058 at January 3, 1998 and $1,163 at December 28, 1996. The difference between calculating the pension liability under local requirements 
versus SFAS No. 87 requirements is immaterial. Pension liabilities for other foreign subsidiaries are not significant.  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
                                      1997       19 96       1995 
                                      ----       -- --       ---- 
Service cost....................    $ 2,506    $ 2, 295    $ 1,846 
Interest on projected 
  benefit obligation............      5,716      5, 291      4,952 
Actual return on plan assets....    (20,580)   (16, 769)   (13,082) 
Net amortization and deferral...     14,538     11, 331      7,559 
                                    -------    ---- ---    ------- 
Net domestic pension cost.......    $ 2,180    $ 2, 148    $ 1,275 
                                    =======    ==== ===    ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  



(In thousands)  

 
return on plan assets......... 8.25-9.0% 8.25-9.0% 8.25-9.0%  

Pursuant to the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions," the Company 
recorded in other non-current liabilities an additional minimum pension liability adjustment of $417,000 and $437,000 as of January 3, 1998 
and December 28, 1996, respectively, to recognize the amount of the accumulated plan benefits which exceeds the fair value of the plan assets 
and the accrued pension liability. At January 3, 1998, and December 28, 1996, the liability exceeded the unrecognized prior service cost 
resulting in a minimum pension liability, net of taxes, of $236,000 and $243,000, respectively, recorded as a reduction of the Company's 
equity.  

EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN - The Company maintains an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for substantially all of its 
domestic employees excluding hourly employees at its Bluffton and Jonesboro, Indiana; Siloam Springs, Arkansas; and McFarland, Wisconsin, 
locations.  

--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------  
                                  ABO Exceeds Asset s    Assets Exceed ABO 
                                  ----------------- -    ----------------- 
                                    1997      1996        1997      1996 
                                    ----      ----        ----      ---- 
Actuarial Present Value of 
  Benefit Obligations: 
  Vested employees..............  $ 1,245   $ 1,120      $71,210   $66,271 
  Nonvested employees...........       40        38        3,721     2,787 
                                  -------   -------      -------   ------- 
Accumulated benefit 
  obligation (ABO)..............    1,285     1,158       74,931    69,058 
Additional amount related to 
  projected benefit 
  or pay increases..............      205       307        4,647     5,624 
                                  -------   -------      -------   ------- 
Projected benefit obligation....    1,490     1,465       79,578    74,682 
Fair value of plan assets, 
  primarily common stocks and 
  bonds, including $32,030 
  and $23,306 of the Company's 
  common stock in 1997 and 
  1996, respectively............     -          -       100,827    86,030 
                                  -------   -------      -------   ------- 
Funded status...................   (1,490)   (1,465 )     21,249    11,348 
Unrecognized net (gain)/loss....      598       712      (30,087)  (18,698)  
Unrecognized net obligation 
  (asset) at date of initial 
  application of SFAS No. 87....      -         -          (198)     (242)  
Unrecognized prior service cost.       24        32        6,315     4,674 
Adjustment required to 
  recognize minimum liability...     (417)     (437 )        -         - 
                                  -------   -------      -------   ------- 
Accrued pension liability.......  $(1,285)  $(1,158 )    $(2,721)  $(2,918)  
                                  =======   =======      =======   ======= 
 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
                                       1997          1996          1995 
                                       ----          ----          ---- 
 
Discount rate...................       7.25%         7.50%         7.50% 
Rate of increase in future 
  compensation..................      0-5.0%        0-5.0%        0-5.0% 
Expected long-term rate of 



In June 1996 and in July 1992, the ESOP Trustee acquired additional shares of Company common stock on the open market using the proceeds 
of a ten-year, $0.3 million loan and a fifteen-year, $3.0 million loan, respectively, from the Company. Under the terms of the variable rate loan 
(6.31 percent at January 3, 1998), principal plus interest is payable in equal annual installments. The shares of stock purchased with the loan 
proceeds are collateral for the loan and are considered outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share.  

At January 3, 1998, 99,312 shares were allocated to the accounts of participants, 10,736 shares were committed to be released and allocated to 
the accounts of participants for service rendered during 1997, and 76,767 shares were held by the ESOP Trust in suspense.  

The Company contributes a portion of its 401(k) matching contribution as well as an additional annual contribution, both subject to the 
Company's annual financial results, to the ESOP Trust. The ESOP Trustee uses a portion of the Company's contributions to make principal and 
interest payments on the loan. As loan payments are made, shares of common stock are released as collateral and are allocated to participants' 
accounts. The balance of the Company's contributions in cash or common stock is made to the 401(k) and ESOP Trusts, and allocated to 
participants' accounts to satisfy the balance of the Company's 401(k) matching contribution.  

The following table sets forth the interest expense and Company contributions to the integrated ESOP and 401(k) Plan (dividends on the 
Company's common stock held by the ESOP have not been used for debt service for 1997, 1996 or 1995):  

(In thousands)  

 

ODI employees participated in a separate 401(k) plan. The Company contributed $189,000, $194,000, and $220,000 for this plan in 1997, 1996 
and 1995, respectively.  

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS OTHER THAN PENSIONS - The Company's  
postretirement health plans cover domestic employees hired prior to 1992. The Company effectively capped its cost for those benefits through 
plan amendments made in 1992 freezing Company contributions for health insurance benefits at 1991 levels for current and future beneficiaries 
with actuarially reduced benefits for employees who retire before age 65.  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
                                               1997      1996     1995 
                                               ----      ----     ---- 
Interest expense incurred by the plan 
  on ESOP debt.............................  $  148    $  153   $  155 
Company contributions to integrated plan...   1,200     1,023    1,072 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  



Net postretirement benefit cost for 1997, 1996 and 1995 was as follows:  

(In thousands)  

 

The following table sets forth the funded status of the Company's postretirement benefit plans and accrued postretirement benefit cost reflected 
in the Company's balance sheet at year end:  

(In thousands)  

 

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7.25, 7.50 and 7.50 percent in 1997, 1996 and 
1995, respectively.  

4. ACCRUED EXPENSES  

Accrued expenses consisted of:  

(In thousands)  

 

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                              1997     1996     1995 
                                              ----     ----     ---- 
Service cost...............................  $  235    $  244   $  219 
Interest cost..............................     858       803      837 
Amortization of transition obligation......     489       489      489 
Net amortization and deferral..............     136        59        7 
                                             ------    ------   ------ 
Net postretirement benefit cost............  $1,718    $1,595   $1,552 
                                             ======    ======   ====== 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                                   1997        1996 
                                                   ----        ---- 
Accumulated Postretirement 
  Benefit Obligation: 
    Retirees................................     $( 8,498)    $(7,640) 
    Active employees........................      ( 3,683)     (3,562) 
                                                 -- -----     ------- 
                                                 (1 2,181)    (11,202) 
Unrecognized net obligation at date 
  of adoption of SFAS No. 106................      7,334       7,823 
Unrecognized net loss........................      2,674       1,714 
                                                 -- -----     ------- 
Accrued postretirement benefit cost..........    $( 2,173)    $(1,665) 
                                                 == =====     ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
                                            1997            1996 
                                            ----            ---- 
Salaries, wages and commissions.......    $ 7,345         $ 7,092 
Product warranty costs................      4,282           4,717 
Insurance.............................      5,198           4,895 
Employee benefits.....................      1,763           1,654 
Other.................................      5,758           4,778 
                                          -------         ------- 
                                          $24,346         $23,136 
                                          =======         ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------- 



5. INCOME TAXES  

Income before income taxes consisted of:  

(In thousands)  

 

The income tax provision consisted of:  

(In thousands)  

 

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:  

(In thousands)  

 

--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------  
                                    1997         19 96         1995 
                                    ----         -- --         ---- 
Domestic....................      $34,269      $27, 664      $23,647 
Foreign.....................        6,240        5, 673          632 
                                  -------      ---- ---      ------- 
                                  $40,509      $33, 337      $24,279 
                                  =======      ==== ===      ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- -----------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------- 
                                    1997         19 96         1995 
                                    ----         -- --         ---- 
Currently payable: 
  Federal...................      $10,606      $ 8, 110      $ 8,714 
  Foreign...................        2,397        1, 611          113 
  State.....................        2,920        2, 162        2,041 
Deferred: 
  Federal...................         (757)         (44)      (2,293) 
  Foreign...................           58           50          343 
  State.....................         (220)         (62)        (141) 
                                  -------      ---- ---      ------- 
                                  $15,004      $11, 827      $ 8,777 
                                  =======      ==== ===      ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                                 19 97         1996 
                                                 -- --         ---- 
Deferred tax assets: 
  Accrued expenses and reserves..............  $ 6, 125      $ 6,835 
  Compensation and employee benefits.........    4, 868        4,380 
  Other items................................      564          670 
                                               ---- ---      ------- 
    Total deferred tax assets................   11, 557       11,885 
                                               ---- ---      ------- 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Accelerated depreciation on fixed assets...    2, 908        4,132 
  Other items................................      158          181 
                                               ---- ---      ------- 
    Total deferred tax liabilities...........    3, 066        4,313 
                                               ---- ---      ------- 
Net deferred tax assets......................  $ 8, 491      $ 7,572 
                                               ==== ===      ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------ 



The portions of current and non-current deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:  

(In thousands)  

 

There was no valuation allowance for deferred tax assets required in 1997 or 1996.  

The differences between the statutory and effective tax rates were as follows:  

 

Accumulated undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries expected to be permanently invested approximated $0.1 million at January 3, 1998. 
The Company does not anticipate incurring any tax should these earnings be repatriated in the future.  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
                           1997                     1996 
                   ---------------------    ------- -------------- 
                   Deferred   Deferred      Deferre d   Deferred 
                     Tax        Tax           Tax        Tax 
                    Assets   Liabilities     Assets    Liabilities 
                    ------   -----------     ------    ----------- 
  Current........   $ 7,490    $  -          $ 7,84 0    $   85 
  Non-current....     4,067     3,066          4,04 5     4,228 
                    -------    ------        ------ -    ------ 
                    $11,557    $3,066        $11,88 5    $4,313 
                    =======    ======        ====== =    ====== 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
                                     1997        19 96        1995 
                                     ----        -- --        ---- 
U.S. Federal statutory rate......    35.0%       35 .0%       35.0% 
State income taxes, net of 
  federal benefit................     4.3         4 .1         5.1 
Effect of higher foreign 
  tax rates......................      .6         ( .5)        1.0 
Earnings of foreign sales 
  corporation ...................    (1.4)       (3 .1)        (.4) 
Utilization of foreign 
  tax credits....................    (1.5)         -         (5.2) 
Other items......................      -           -           .7 
                                     -----       -- ---       ----- 
                                     37.0%       35 .5%       36.2% 
                                     =====       == ===       ===== 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  



6. DEBT  

Short-term borrowings consisted of:  

(In thousands)  

 

Both the Company's short-term borrowings and long-term debt are unsecured. The Company's long-term debt agreement provides for certain 
financial covenants relative to working capital, additional borrowings, loans or advances and investments. The Company was in compliance 
with all financial covenants in 1997 and 1996.  

On January 5, 1996, the Company entered into an unsecured, five-year $40.0 million revolving credit agreement (the "Agreement"). The 
Agreement, which includes a facility fee of one-tenth of one percent on the committed amount, was amended and restated (the "Amended 
Agreement") on December 30, 1997. The Amended Agreement provides for various borrowing rate options including interest rates based on 
the London Interbank Offered Rates (LIBOR) plus interest spreads keyed to the Company's ratio of debt to earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA). The Amended Agreement contains certain financial covenants with respect to borrowings, fixed 
charge coverage, working capital, loans or advances, and investments.  

7. SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY  

The Company had 5,846,833 shares of common stock (10,000,000 shares authorized, $.10 par value) outstanding at the end of 1997.  

During 1997, pursuant to stock repurchase programs authorized by the Company's Board of Directors, the Company repurchased a total of 
615,000 shares for $30.6 million. Of these shares, 175,000 were repurchased from a director of the Company. All repurchased shares were 
retired.  

Stock subscriptions are principally deferred costs recognized in connection with the issuance of common stock under the 1988 Stock Incentive 
Award Plan and loans to officers under the 1988 Executive Stock Purchase Plan.  

--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------- 
                                              1997        1996 
                                              ----        ---- 
 Bank--other.............................     $177        $ - 
                                              ====        ==== 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------  
 
Long-term debt consisted of: 
 
(In thousands) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------- 
                                              1997        1996 
                                              ----        ---- 
Insurance Company--6.31%, principal 
  payments of $1.0 million due in 
  annual installments, starting in 
  1998 with a balloon payment of 
  $10,000 in 2008.......................    $20,000      $20,000 
Bank--other.............................        182          297 
                                            -------      ------- 
                                             20,182       20,297 
Less current maturities.................     (1,019 )        (21) 
                                            -------      ------- 
                                            $19,163      $20,276 
                                            =======      ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------- 



8. EARNINGS PER SHARE  

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  

At January 3, 1998, the Company had seven stock-based compensation plans which are described as follows.  

FIXED STOCK OPTION PLANS--The Company has authorized the grant of options to purchase common stock of the Company to employees 
and non-employee directors of the Company and its subsidiaries under five fixed stock option plans. The plans and the original number of 
authorized shares available for grants are as follows:  

 

Under each of the above plans, the exercise price of each option equals the market price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant 
and the options expire ten years after the date of the grant. Generally, options granted under the 1981 Plan, the 1986 Plan, and the 1996 Plan 
vest 20 percent a year and become fully vested and exercisable after five years. Options granted under the 1990 and 1996 Director Plans vest 
33 percent a year and become fully vested and exercisable after three years.  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                          1997        1996        1995 
                                          ----        ----        ---- 
Numerator: 
  Net Income..........................  $25,505     $21,510     $15,502 
                                        =======     =======     ======= 
 
Denominator: 
 
 Basic 
 ----- 
   Weighted average common shares.....    5,895       6,279       6,186 
 
 Diluted 
 ------- 
  Effect of dilutive securities: 
 
    Employee and director incentive 
      stock options and awards........      471         397         412 
                                        -------     -------     ------- 
 
  Adjusted weighted average common 
      shares..........................    6,366       6,676       6,598 
                                        =======     =======     ======= 
 
 
Basic earnings per share..............  $  4.33     $  3.43     $  2.51 
                                        =======     =======     ======= 
 
Diluted earnings per share............  $  4.01     $  3.22     $  2.35 
                                        =======     =======     ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                                                    Shares 
                                                                    ------ 
 1981 Incentive Stock Option Plan (1981 Plan)                      555,000 
 1986 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan (1986 Plan)                  555,000 
 1996 Employee Stock Option Plan (1996 Plan)                       600,000 
 1990 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (1990  Director Plan)  60,000 
 1996 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (1996  Director Plan)  90,000 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  



A summary of the Company's fixed stock option plans activity and related information for 1997, 1996 and 1995 follows:  

 

The following summarizes information about fixed stock options outstanding at January 3, 1998:  

 

For pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share, the fair value for the options awarded in 1997, 1996 and 1995 for all 
fixed stock option plans was estimated as of the date of the grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. The following table sets forth 
the weighted average assumptions for 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.  

 

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized over the options' vesting period. Therefore, in the 
year of adoption and subsequently affected years, the effects of applying SFAS No. 123 for providing pro forma net income and earnings per 
share are not likely to be representative of the effects on reported income in future years. The Company's pro forma information follows:  

--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---  
                               1997                        1996                       1995 
                              Weighted-Average            Weighted-Average           Weighted-Average 
Fixed Options        Shares    Exercise Price     S hares   Exercise Price   Shares    Exercise Price 
------------------   -------------------------    - -----------------------  --------------------------  
Outstanding at 
  beginning of year  850,125      $23.51          8 61,092     $18.69         753,645     $15.90 
Granted               18,000       46.47          1 16,500      41.74         192,000      31.82 
Exercised           (104,829)       7.96         (1 21,467)      6.90         (34,553)     15.36 
Forfeited             (1,000)      26.50           (6,000)     22.13         (50,000)     29.25 
                     -------                      - ------                    ------- 
Outstanding at 
  end of year        762,296       25.73          8 50,125     $23.51         861,092     $18.69 
                     =======                      = ======                    ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---  

--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---  
                                 Options Outstandin g                           Options Exercisable 
                    ------------------------------- -------------------    ---------------------------- -- 
                      Number       Weighted-Average                          Number 
   Range of         Outstanding       Remaining       Weighted-Average    Exercisable   Weighted-Avera ge 
Exercise Prices     at 1/03/98     Contractual Life     Exercise Price     at 1/03/98     Exercise Pric e 
---------------     ----------     ----------------     --------------     ----------     ------------- - 
$ 5.86 to 10.00       189,196        1.88 years            $ 8.22           189,196          $ 8.22 
 10.01 to 30.00       245,600        6.08                   25.35           199,600           25.09 
 30.01 to 54.13       327,500        8.04                   36.14           182,100           32.92 
                      -------                                               ------- 
$ 5.86 to 54.13       762,296        5.88                  $25.73           570,896          $22.00 
                      =======                                               ======= 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                        1997       1996       1995 
                                        ----       ----       ---- 
  Risk-free interest rate............   6.51%      6.18%      6.42% 
  Dividend yield.....................   1.2 %      1.4 %      1.4 % 
  Volatility factor..................   .236       .257       .260 
  Weighted average expected life.....   6 years    6 years    6 years 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  



(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

The Black-Scholes option valuation model used by the Company was developed for use in estimating the fair value of fully tradable options 
which have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. It is management's opinion that the Company's stock options have characteristics 
significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock options.  

ADDITIONAL AWARD PLANS--The Company has authorized the grant of up to 888,000 restricted shares of its common stock to employees 
of the Company and its subsidiaries under the 1988 Stock Incentive Award Plan (1988 Award Plan). Vesting of shares awarded under the 1988 
Award Plan can be contingent upon individual or Company performance relative to certain thresholds. No shares were awarded under the 1988 
Award Plan during 1997, 1996 or 1995. At January 3, 1998, 671,936 shares were reserved for future awards.  

The Company has allocated 888,000 shares of its common stock for the 1988 Executive Stock Purchase Plan (1988 Purchase Plan). Under this 
plan executives of the Company and its subsidiaries are awarded the right to purchase shares of its common stock through a Company loan. 
The purchase price per share is the closing price of a share on the day prior to the date of purchase. No shares were awarded in 1997 or 1996. 
During 1995, 20,000 shares were awarded under this plan. At January 3, 1998, 512,800 shares were reserved for future awards.  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                        1997          1996          1995 
                                        ----          ----          ---- 
 Reported net income................. $25,505       $21,510       $15,502 
 Pro forma net income................ $25,037       $21,245       $15,362 
 
 Reported net income available 
   per common share..................   $4.33         $3.43         $2.51 
 Pro forma net income available 
   per common share..................   $4.25         $3.38         $2.48 
 
 Reported net income available per 
   common share, assuming dilution...   $4.01         $3.22         $2.35 
 Pro forma net income available per 
   common share, assuming dilution ..   $3.93         $3.18         $2.33 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  



10. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION  

The Company's single business segment is the design, manufacture and sale of electric motors, electronic motor controls and related 
equipment. These products are primarily sold to original equipment manufacturers in the United States, Canada, Europe, Australia, South 
Africa, Mexico and other world markets.  

Manufacturing plants are located in the United States, Germany, Czech Republic, Italy and South Africa.  

GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS  

(In thousands)  

 

The Company has no single geographic area within its foreign operations whose revenues or assets exceed 10 percent of such amounts on a 
consolidated basis. The Company had $40.8 million, $44.6 million and $32.7 million of export sales (from domestic sources) in 1997, 1996 and 
1995, respectively, to various geographic areas, of which no single geographic area was significant.  

One customer accounted for 12.4%, 12.5% and 12.9% of the consolidated sales in 1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively.  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                 1997           199 6           1995 
                                 ----           --- -           ---- 
NET SALES 
North America..............   $251,842       $252,0 07       $225,958 
Foreign....................     51,456         48,6 82         50,482 
                              --------       ------ --       -------- 
                              $303,298       $300,6 89       $276,440 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 
 
OPERATING MARGIN 
North America..............   $ 48,149       $ 44,0 11       $ 38,885 
Foreign....................      7,848          7,4 25          2,148 
Interest expense...........     (1,435)        (1,3 08)        (2,128) 
Interest income............      2,379          2,0 52          1,866 
Corporate expenses.........    (16,432)       (18,8 43)       (16,492) 
                              --------       ------ --       -------- 
Income before taxes........   $ 40,509       $ 33,3 37       $ 24,279 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 
 
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS 
North America..............   $ 52,565       $ 81,0 70       $ 84,013 
Foreign....................     27,486         29,9 66         29,697 
Corporate .................     83,059         61,9 23         39,647 
                              --------       ------ --        ------- 
                              $163,110       $172,9 59       $153,357 
                              ========       ====== ==       ======== 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  



11. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)  

Unaudited quarterly financial information for the years 1997 and 1996 is as follows:  

(In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

12. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS  

The Company is defending various claims and legal actions which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Company has attempted, 
where possible, to assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome as a result of these actions. Legal counsel has been retained to assist the 
Company in making these determinations, and costs are accrued when an unfavorable outcome is determined to be probable and a reasonable 
estimate can be made. As a result, the Company has an accrual balance of approximately $1.4 million and $1.6 million at January 3, 1998 and 
December 28, 1996, respectively, to provide for such actions.  

Included in such matters, the Company has been designated, in conjunction with other parties, as a "potentially responsible party" (PRP) under 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act with respect to a reclamation and recycling site located in 
Columbia City, Indiana. Under consent decree, the Company has paid approximately $153,000 through January 3, 1998 toward the cost of 
remediation. Future remediation costs are estimated at less than $5.0 million over the next four to fourteen years, for which the Company's 
share is estimated to be $35,000.  

Total rent expense charged to operations for operating leases including contingent rentals was $2.3 million, $2.4 million and $2.0 million for 
1997, 1996 and 1995, respectively. The future minimum rental payments for noncancellable operating leases as of January 3, 1998, are as 
follows: 1998, $0.5 million; 1999, $0.4 million and 2000, $0.3 million. Rental commitments subsequent to 2000 are not material.  

--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  
                                                        Basic      Diluted 
                      Net       Gross        Net      Earnings    Earnings 
                    Sales      Profit      Income     Per Share   Per Share 
                    -----      ------      ------     ---------   --------- 
1997 
---- 
1st Quarter.....  $ 64,200     $16,491     $ 3,195      $ .53      $ .49 
2nd Quarter.....    75,935      19,701       5,269        .90        .84 
3rd Quarter.....    85,610      23,589       6,123       1.04        .96 
4th Quarter.....    77,553      25,752      10,918       1.86       1.72 
                  --------     -------     -------      -----      ----- 
                  $303,298     $85,533     $25,505      $4.33      $4.01 
                  ========     =======     =======      =====      ===== 
1996 
---- 
1st Quarter.....  $ 62,754     $14,960     $ 3,008      $ .48      $ .45 
2nd Quarter.....    73,107      19,249       5,081        .81        .76 
3rd Quarter.....    79,380      20,047       5,612        .89        .84 
4th Quarter.....    85,448      24,958       7,809       1.25       1.17 
                  --------     -------     -------      -----      ----- 
                  $300,689     $79,214     $21,510      $3.43      $3.22 
                  ========     =======     =======      =====      ===== 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------  



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT  

To the Shareowners and Directors, Franklin Electric Co., Inc.:  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. and consolidated subsidiaries as of January 3, 
1998 and December 28, 1996 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareowners' equity and cash flows for each of the three years 
in the period ended January 3, 1998. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 14. These financial 
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. and 
consolidated subsidiaries as of January 3, 1998 and December 28, 1996, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended January 3, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, such 
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material 
respects the information set forth therein.  

 

 /s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Chicago, Illinois 
January 30, 1998 



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

None.  

PART III  
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT  

The information concerning directors required by this Item 10 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders to be held on April 17, 1998, under the headings of "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS" and "INFORMATION CONCERNING 
NOMINEES AND DIRECTORS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  

The information concerning executive officers required by this Item 10 is contained in Part I of this Form 10-K under the heading of 
"EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT."  

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

The information required by Item 11 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 
17, 1998, under the headings of "INFORMATION ABOUT THE BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES," "SUMMARY COMPENSATION 
TABLE," "OPTION GRANTS IN 1997 FISCAL YEAR," "1997 FISCAL YEAR-END OPTION VALUES," "COMPENSATION 
PURSUANT TO PLANS" and "AGREEMENTS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT  

The information required by Item 12 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 
17, 1998, under the heading of "SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT," and is 
incorporated herein by reference.  

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS  

The information required by Item 13 is set forth in the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 
17, 1998, under the headings of "SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT" and 
"AGREEMENTS," and is incorporated herein by reference.  



PART IV  
 
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K  
 
Form 10-K Annual Report  

 
(page)  

 
(a) 1. Financial Statements - Franklin Electric  
 

 

Schedules other than those listed above are omitted for the reason that they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is 
disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements and related notes.  

3. Exhibits  

See the Exhibit Index located on pages 39-40. Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement is denoted by an asterisk (*).  

(b) Reports on Form 8-K filed during the fourth quarter ended January 3, 1998:  

During the fourth quarter ended January 3, 1998, a Form 8-K was filed by the Company dated October 24, 1997, to report the sale of Oil 
Dynamics Inc. Another Form 8-K was filed by the Company dated November 7, 1997, to report the Company's repurchase of 75,000 shares of 
its common stock.  

(c) See the Exhibit Index located on pages 39-40.  

(d) Individual financial statements and all other schedules of the Registrant are omitted as they are not required.  
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     Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
       for the three years ended January 3, 1998... ...... 16-17  
     Consolidated Statements of Shareowners' Equity  
       for the three years ended January 3, 1998... ...... 18 
     Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
       (including quarterly financial data)........ ...... 19-33  
 
2.   Financial Statement Schedules - Franklin Elect ric 
     ---------------------------------------------- --- 
 
     II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.......... ...... 37 



SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
For the years 1997, 1996 and 1995  

(In thousands)  
 

 

Allowance for doubtful accounts:  

 

NOTES:  

(A) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries, and the elimination of Oil Dynamics Inc.  

(B) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.  

                                   Additions 
                  Balance at       charged to                       Balance 
                   beginning       costs and                        at end 
Description        of period        expenses     De ductions        of period  
-----------        ---------        --------     -- --------        ---------  

1997              $1,435           $248          $3 34 (A)        $1,349  
                  ======           ====          == ==            ======  
 
1996              $1,351           $227          $1 43 (B)        $1,435  
                  ======           ====          == ==            ======  
 
1995              $1,271           $190          $1 10 (B)        $1,351  
                  ======           ====          == ==            ======  



SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

Franklin Electric Co., Inc.  

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of 
the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  

 

                                         /s/ WILLIAM H. LAWSON 
                                        ------------------------- 
                                        William H. Lawson 
                                        Chairman of the Board 
(Date) February 13, 1998                Chief Executive Officer 

 /s/ WILLIAM H. LAWSON                  Chairman of the Board and 
-------------------------------------   Chief Executive Officer 
William H. Lawson   February 13, 1998   (Principal Executive 
                                        Officer) 
 
 /s/ JOHN B. LINDSAY 
------------------------------------- 
John B. Lindsay     February 13, 1998   President and Director 
 
 
 /s/ JESS B. FORD                       Vice President and Chief 
-------------------------------------   Financial Officer (Principal 
Jess B. Ford        February 13, 1998   Financial and Accounting 
                                        Officer) 
 
 /s/ ROBERT H. LITTLE 
------------------------------------- 
Robert H. Little    February 13, 1998   Director 
 
 
 /s/ PATRICIA SCHAEFER 
------------------------------------- 
Patricia Schaefer   February 13, 1998   Director 
 
 
 /s/ DONALD J. SCHNEIDER 
------------------------------------- 
Donald J. Schneider February 13, 1998   Director 
 
 
 /s/ GERARD E. VENEMAN 
------------------------------------- 
Gerard E. Veneman   February 13, 1998   Director 
 
 
 /s/ JURIS VIKMANIS 
------------------------------------- 
Juris Vikmanis      February 13, 1998   Director 
 
 
 /s/ HOWARD B. WITT 
------------------------------------- 
Howard B. Witt      February 13, 1998   Director 



FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

EXHIBIT INDEX FOR THE FISCAL YEAR  
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3(i) Restated Articles of Incorporation of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3 of the Company's Form 10-
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EXHIBIT 10.8  

$40,000,000  

AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT  

dated as of  

December 30, 1997  

among  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  
as Borrower and as Guarantor  

The Banks Listed Herein  

and  

WACHOVIA BANK, N.A.,  
as Agent  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT  

AGREEMENT dated as of December 30, 1997 among FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC., the BANKS listed on the signature pages hereof 
and WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., as Agent.  

Franklin Electric, the Agent and certain Banks listed therein (the "Original Banks") entered into a Credit Agreement dated as of January 5, 
1996 (the "Original Credit Agreement") to provide, among other things, for the making of Loans from time to time by the Original Banks to 
Franklin Electric.  

Franklin Electric, the Agent and the Banks listed on the signature pages hereof (which currently hold all of the Commitments and Loans 
outstanding under the Original Credit Agreement) wish to amend and restate the Original Credit Agreement as follows:  

ARTICLE I  

DEFINITIONS  

SECTION 1.01. Definitions. The terms as defined in this Section 1.01 shall, for all purposes of this Agreement and any amendment hereto 
(except as herein otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise requires), have the meanings set forth herein:  

Additional Borrower means any Wholly Owned Subsidiary that becomes an Additional Borrower for purposes of this Agreement pursuant to 
Section 2.13.  

Adjusted IBOR Rate has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(d).  

"Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in  
Section 2.05(c).  

"Affiliate" of any Person means (i) any other Person which directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls such Person, or  
(ii) any other Person which directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, is controlled by or is under common control with such 
Person. As used herein, the term "control" means possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the 
management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.  

"Agent" means Wachovia Bank, N.A. (successor by merger to Wachovia Bank of Georgia, N. A.), a national banking association organized 
under the laws of the United States of America, in its capacity as agent for the Banks hereunder, and its successors and permitted assigns in 
such capacity.  

"Agent's Letter Agreement" means that certain letter agreement, dated as of November 2, 1995, between Franklin Electric and the Agent 
relating to the structure of the Loans, and certain fees from time to time payable by Franklin Electric to the Agent, together with all 
amendments and modifications thereto.  



"Agreement" means this Credit Agreement, together with all amendments and supplements hereto.  

"Applicable Facility Fee Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(a).  

"Applicable Margin" has the meaning set forth in Section2.05(a).  

"Assignee" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.07(c).  

"Assignment and Acceptance" means an Assignment and Acceptance executed in accordance with Section 9.07(c) in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit K.  

"Authority" has the meaning set forth in Section8.02.  

"Bank" means each bank listed on the signature pages hereof as having a Commitment, and its successors and permitted assigns.  

"Base Rate" means for any Base Rate Loan for any day, the rate per annum equal to the higher as of such day of (i) the Prime Rate, and (ii) 
one- half of one percent above the Federal Funds Rate for such day. For purposes of determining the Base Rate for any day, changes in the 
Prime Rate and the Federal Funds Rate shall be effective on the date of each such change.  

"Base Rate Loan" means a Loan which bears or is to bear interest at a rate based upon the Base Rate.  

"Borrower" means any of Franklin Electric and the Additional Borrowers (if any); provided that the status of any such Person (except Franklin 
Electric) as a Borrower hereunder shall terminate when the Agent (i) receives an Election to Terminate with respect to such Person, duly 
executed on behalf of Franklin Electric, and (ii) confirms to its satisfaction that the representations and warranties of Franklin Electric set forth 
in such Election to Terminate are true.  

"Borrowing" means a borrowing hereunder consisting of Loans made to the same Borrower at the same time by the Banks, pursuant to Article. 
A Borrowing is a Dollar Borrowing if such Loans are Dollar Loans or a Foreign Currency Borrowing if such Loans are Foreign Currency 
Loans. A Dollar Borrowing is a "Base Rate Borrowing" if such Loans are Base Rate Loans or a "Euro-Dollar Borrowing" if such Loans are 
Euro-Dollar Loans.  

"Capital Expenditures" means, for any period, the sum of all capital expenditures incurred during such period by Franklin Electric and its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries, as determined in accordance with GAAP.  

Capitalized Lease Obligations means any rental obligation which, under GAAP, is or will be required to be capitalized on the books of Franklin 
Electric or any Subsidiary, taken at the amount thereof accounted for as indebtedness (net of interest expenses) in accordance with GAAP.  



"Capital Stock" means any nonredeemable capital stock of Franklin Electric or any Consolidated Subsidiary (to the extent issued to a Person 
other than Franklin Electric), whether common or preferred.  

"CERCLA" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq. and its implementing 
regulations and amendments.  

"CERCLIS" means the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Inventory System established pursuant to 
CERCLA.  

"Change of Law" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.02.  

"Closing Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(e).  

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor Federal tax code. Any reference to any provision of the Code 
shall also be deemed to be a reference to any successor provision or provisions thereof.  

"Commitment" means, with respect to each Bank, (i) the amount set forth opposite the name of such Bank on the signature pages hereof, or (ii) 
as to any Bank which enters into an Assignment and Acceptance (whether as transferor Bank or as Assignee thereunder), the amount of such 
Bank's Commitment after giving effect to such Assignment and Acceptance, in each case as such amount may be reduced from time to time 
pursuant to Sections 2.07 and 2.08.  

"Compliance Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.01(c).  

"Consolidated Fixed Charges" means, for any period, the sum of (i) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period, and (ii) Depreciation for 
such period.  

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, for any period, interest expense in respect of Indebtedness of Franklin Electric or any of its 
Consolidated Subsidiaries outstanding during such period, determined on a consolidated basis as of such date in accordance with GAAP.  

Consolidated Net Income means, for any period, the net income, after taxes, of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined 
on a consolidated basis for such period in accordance with GAAP, but excluding extraordinary and other non-recurring items.  

Consolidated Net Worth means the sum of (i) the par value (or value stated on the books of Franklin Electric) of the capital stock of all classes 
of Franklin Electric, plus (or minus in the case of a surplus deficit) (ii) the amount of the consolidated surplus, whether capital or earned, of 
Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries after subtracting therefrom the aggregate of treasury stock and any other contra-equity accounts including, 
without limitation, minority interests, all determined in accordance with GAAP.  



Consolidated Operating Profits means, for any period, the operating income of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries for such 
period, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.  

Consolidated Subsidiary means at any date any Subsidiary or other entity the accounts of which, in accordance with GAAP, are consolidated 
with those of Franklin Electric in its consolidated financial statements as of such date.  

Consolidated Tangible Net Worth means (i) Consolidated Net Worth less  
(ii) intangible and similar assets in excess of $5,630,000 plus (iii) an amount equal to 75% of Franklin Electric's LIFO reserve.  

Consolidated Total Assets means, at any time, the total assets of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined on a 
consolidated basis, as set forth or reflected on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, 
prepared in accordance with GAAP.  

"Controlled Group" means all members of a controlled group of corporations and all trades or businesses (whether or not incorporated) under 
common control which, together with Franklin Electric, are treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.  

Current Debt means, with respect to any Person, all Indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money which by its terms or by the terms of any 
instrument or agreement relating thereto matures on demand or within 1 year from the date of the creation thereof.  

Current Maturities means all payments in respect of Long-Term Debt that are required to be made by Franklin Electric or any Consolidated 
Subsidiary within 1 year from the date of determination, whether or not the obligation to make such payments would constitute a current 
liability of Franklin Electric or such Consolidated Subsidiary under GAAP.  

Current Obligations means, for any period, the sum of (i) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period and (ii) Current Maturities for such 
period.  

Debt means Current Debt of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, 
and Funded Debt of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.  

"Default" means any condition or event which constitutes an Event of Default or which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both 
would, unless cured or waived in writing, become an Event of Default.  

"Default Rate" means, with respect to any Loan, on any day, the sum of 2% plus the then highest interest rate (including the Applicable 
Margin) which may be applicable to any Loans hereunder (irrespective of whether any such type of Loans are actually outstanding hereunder).  



"Depreciation" means, for any period, the sum of all depreciation and amortization expenses of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated 
Subsidiaries for such period, as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.  

"Dollar Equivalent" means the Dollar equivalent of the amount of a Foreign Currency Loan or Foreign Currency Borrowing, as the case may 
be, determined by the Agent on the basis of its spot rate for the purchase of the appropriate Foreign Currency with Dollars.  

"Dollar Loans" means Loans made in Dollars by all of the Banks at the same time pursuant to Section 2.01, which may be either a Base Rate 
Loan or a Euro-Dollar Loan.  

"Dollar Notes" means promissory notes of each of the Borrowers, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto, evidencing the obligation of the 
Borrowers to repay the Dollar Loans, together with all amendments, consolidations, modifications, renewals and supplements thereto.  

"Dollars" or "$" means dollars in lawful currency of the United States of America.  

"Domestic Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in Georgia or Illinois are 
authorized or required by law to close.  

"EBITDA" for any period means the sum of (a) Consolidated Net Income,  
(b) tax expense and (c) Consolidated Fixed Charges, all determined with respect to Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries on a 
consolidated basis for such period and in accordance with GAAP.  

Election to Participate means an Election to Participate substantially in the form of Exhibit F hereto.  

Election to Terminate means an Election to Terminate substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto.  

"Environmental Authority" means any foreign, federal, state, local or regional government that exercises any form of jurisdiction or authority 
under any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Authorizations" means all licenses, permits, orders, approvals, notices, registrations or other legal prerequisites for conducting 
the business of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary required by any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Judgments and Orders" means all judgments, decrees or orders arising from or in any way associated with any Environmental 
Requirements, whether or not entered upon consent or written agreements with an Environmental Authority or other entity arising from or in 
any way associated with any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Liabilities" means any liabilities, whether accrued, contingent or otherwise, arising from and in any way associated with any 
Environmental Requirements.  



"Environmental Notices" means notice from any Environmental Authority or by any other person or entity, of possible or alleged 
noncompliance with or liability under any Environmental Requirement, including without limitation any complaints, citations, demands or 
requests from any Environmental Authority or from any other person or entity for correction of any violation of any Environmental 
Requirement or any investigations concerning any violation of any Environmental Requirement.  

"Environmental Proceedings" means any judicial or administrative proceedings arising from or in any way associated with any Environmental 
Requirement.  

"Environmental Releases" means releases as defined in CERCLA or under any applicable state or local environmental law or regulation.  

"Environmental Requirements" means any legal requirement relating to health, safety or the environment and applicable to Franklin Electric, 
any Subsidiary or the Properties, including but not limited to any such requirement under CERCLA or similar state legislation and all federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, regulations, orders, writs, decrees and common law.  

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, or any successor law. Any reference to 
any provision of ERISA shall also be deemed to be a reference to any successor provision or provisions thereof.  

"Euro-Dollar Business Day" means any Domestic Business Day on which dealings in Dollar deposits are carried out in the London interbank 
market.  

"Euro-Dollar Loan" means a Loan which bears or is to bear interest at a rate based upon the London Interbank Offered Rate.  

"Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).  

"Event of Default" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.01.  

"Facility Fee Determination Date" has the meaning set forth in  
Section 2.06(a).  

"Facility Fee Payment Date" means each March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31.  

"Federal Funds Rate" means, for any day, the rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) equal to the 
weighted average of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds 
brokers on such day, as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the Domestic Business Day next succeeding such day, 
provided that (i) if the day for which such rate is to be determined is not a Domestic Business Day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be 
such rate on such transactions on the next preceding Domestic Business Day as so published on the next succeeding Domestic Business Day, 
and (ii) if such rate is not so published for any day, the Federal Funds Rate for such day shall be the average rate charged to Wachovia on such 
day on such transactions as determined by the Agent.  



"Fiscal Quarter" means any fiscal quarter of Franklin Electric.  

"Fiscal Year" means any fiscal year of Franklin Electric.  

"Fixed Rate Borrowing" means a Euro-Dollar Borrowing or a Foreign Currency Borrowing.  

"Fixed Rate Loans" means Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, or any or all of them, as the context shall require.  

Foreign Currencies means, individually and collectively, as the context shall require: (i) Federal Republic of Germany deutsche marks; or (ii) 
Australian dollars, (iii) Italian lira, or (iv) any other currency which is freely transferable and convertible into Dollars; provided, however, that 
no such other currency under this clause (iv) shall be included as a Foreign Currency hereunder, or included in a Notice of Borrowing, unless 
(x) Franklin Electric has first submitted a request to the Agent that it be so included; and (y) the Agent, in its sole discretion, has agreed to such 
request.  

Foreign Currency Business Day shall mean any Domestic Business Day, excluding one on which trading is not carried on by and between 
banks in deposits of the applicable Foreign Currency in the applicable interbank market for such Foreign Currency.  

Foreign Currency Loans means Loans made in a Foreign Currency by all of the Banks at the same time pursuant to Section 2.01(a).  

Foreign Currency Notes means promissory notes of each of the Borrowers, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, evidencing the 
obligation of the Borrowers to repay the Foreign Currency Loans, together with all amendments, consolidations, modifications, renewals and 
supplements thereto.  

Franklin Electric means Franklin Electric Co., Inc., an Indiana corporation, and its successors and permitted assigns.  

Funded Debt means, with respect to any Person, as of any time of determination thereof and without duplication, the sum of (i) any obligation 
payable more than 1 year from the date of creation thereof, including all payments thereof required to be made within 1 year (including 
Capitalized Lease Obligations but excluding reserves for deferred compensation, deferred income taxes and other reserves to the extent such 
reserves do not constitute an obligation), (ii) Indebtedness secured by a Lien on property and (iii) Guarantees of financial obligations referred to 
in clause (i) of this definition.  

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles applied on a basis consistent with those which, in accordance with Section 1.02, are 
to be used in making the calculations for purposes of determining compliance with the terms of this Agreement.  

"Guarantee" by any Person means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of such Person directly or indirectly guaranteeing any Indebtedness 
or other obligation of any other Person and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any obligation, direct or indirect, contingent or 
otherwise,  



of such Person (i)to secure, purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation 
(whether arising by virtue of partnership arrangements, by agreement to keep-well, to purchase assets, goods, securities or services, to provide 
collateral security, to take-or-pay, or to maintain financial statement conditions or otherwise) or (ii)entered into for the purpose of assuring in 
any other manner the obligee of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof or to protect such obligee against loss in respect 
thereof (in whole or in part), provided that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of 
business. The term "Guarantee" used as a verb has a corresponding meaning.  

"Hazardous Materials" includes, without limitation, (a) solid or hazardous waste, as defined in the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 
1980, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq. and its implementing regulations and amendments, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation, (b) any 
"hazardous substance", "pollutant" or "contaminant", as defined in CERCLA, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation, (c) gasoline, 
or any other petroleum product or by-product, including crude oil or any fraction thereof,  
(d) toxic substances, as defined in the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976, or in any applicable state or local law or regulation and (e) 
insecticides, fungicides, or rodenticides, as defined in the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act of 1975, or in any applicable 
state or local law or regulation, as each such Act, statute or regulation may be amended from time to time.  

"IBOR" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(d).  

"Income Available for Fixed Charges" for any period means (a) the sum of (i)Consolidated Net Income, (ii)tax expense and (iii)Consolidated 
Fixed Charges, minus (b) Capital Expenditures, all determined with respect to Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries on a 
consolidated basis for such period and in accordance with GAAP.  

"Indebtedness" of any Person means at any date, without duplication,  
(i) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar 
instruments, (iii) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services, except trade accounts payable arising 
in the ordinary course of business, (iv) all Capitalized Lease Obligations, (v)all obligations of such Person to reimburse any bank or other 
Person in respect of amounts payable under a banker's acceptance, (vi) all Redeemable Preferred Stock of such Person (in the event such 
Person is a corporation), (vii) all obligations (absolute or contingent) of such Person to reimburse any bank or other Person in respect of 
amounts paid under a letter of credit or similar instrument, (viii) all Indebtedness of others secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, 
whether or not such Indebtedness is assumed by such Person, and (ix) all Indebtedness of others Guaranteed by such Person.  

"Interest Period" means: (1) with respect to each Euro-Dollar Borrowing and Foreign Currency Borrowing, the period commencing on the date 
of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the first, second, third or sixth month thereafter, as the relevant 
Borrower may elect in the applicable Notice of Borrowing; provided that:  

(a) any Interest Period (subject to clause (c) below) which would otherwise end on a day which is not a Euro-Dollar Business Day or a Foreign 
Currency Business Day, as the case may be, shall be extended to the next succeeding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business 
Day, as the  



case may be, unless such Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may be, falls in another calendar month, in 
which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may 
be;  

(b) any Interest Period which begins on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may be, of a calendar 
month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the appropriate subsequent calendar month) shall, subject to clause
(c) below, end on the last Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may be, of the appropriate subsequent 
calendar month; and  

(c) no Interest Period may be selected which would end after the Termination Date; and (2) with respect to each Base Rate Borrowing, the 
period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending 30 days thereafter; provided that:  

(a) any Interest Period (subject to clause (b) below) which would otherwise end on a day which is not a Domestic Business Day shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Domestic Business Day; and  

(b) no Interest Period may be selected which would end after the Termination Date.  

"Investment" means any investment in any Person, whether by means of purchase or acquisition of obligations or securities of such Person, 
capital contribution to such Person, loan or advance to such Person, making of a time deposit with such Person or assumption of any obligation 
of such Person or otherwise; provided that Investment shall not include the repurchase or redemption by Franklin Electric of shares of Capital 
Stock of Franklin Electric.  

"Lending Office" means, as to each Bank, its office located at its address set forth on the signature pages hereof (or identified on the signature 
pages hereof as its Lending Office) or such other office as such Bank may hereafter designate as its Lending Office by notice to Franklin 
Electric and the Agent. Each Bank may designate a Lending Office for Dollar Loans and a different Lending Office for Foreign Currency 
Loans and the term Lending Office shall in such case mean either such Lending Office, as the context shall require.  

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, deed to secure debt, deed of trust, lien, pledge, charge, security interest, preferential 
arrangement which has the practical effect of constituting a security interest or encumbrance, or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such 
asset to secure or assure payment of any Indebtedness or a Guarantee, whether by consensual agreement or by operation of statute or other law, 
or by any agreement, contingent or otherwise, to provide any of the foregoing. For the purposes of this Agreement, Franklin Electric or any 
Subsidiary shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien any asset which it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or lessor under 
any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset.  



"Loan" means a Base Rate Loan, a Euro-Dollar Loan or a Foreign Currency Loan and Loans means Base Rate Loans, Euro-Dollar Loans or 
Foreign Currency Loans, or any or all of them, as the context shall require.  

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Notes, any other document evidencing, relating to or securing the Loans, and any other 
document or instrument delivered from time to time in connection with this Agreement, the Notes or the Loans, as such documents and 
instruments may be amended or supplemented from time to time.  

"London Interbank Offered Rate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(c).  

"Long-Term Debt" means at any date any Indebtedness of Franklin Electric or any Consolidated Subsidiary determined on a consolidated basis 
as of such date in accordance with GAAP which matures (or the maturity of which may at the option of Franklin Electric or any Consolidated 
Subsidiary be extended such that it matures) more than 1 year after such date.  

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" as defined in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as in effect from 
time to time, together with all official rulings and interpretations issued thereunder.  

"Material Adverse Effect" means, with respect to any event, act, condition or occurrence of whatever nature (including any adverse 
determination in any litigation, arbitration, or governmental investigation or proceeding), whether singly or in conjunction with any other event 
or events, act or acts, condition or conditions, occurrence or occurrences, whether or not related, a material adverse change in, or a material 
adverse effect upon, any of (a) the financial condition, operations, business or properties of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries 
taken as a whole, (b) the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Banks under the Loan Documents, or the ability of a Borrower to perform its 
obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party, as applicable, or (c) the legality, validity or enforceability of any Loan Document.  

Material Subsidiary means at any time any Subsidiary having total assets (determined in accordance with GAAP) in excess of $5,000,000.  

"Multiemployer Plan" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.  

"Note" means a Dollar Note or a Foreign Currency Note and Notes means Dollar Notes or Foreign Currency Notes, or any or all of them, as the 
context shall require.  

"Notice of Borrowing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02.  

"Officer's Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.01(f).  

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.07(b).  

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any entity succeeding to any or all of its functions under ERISA.  



"Person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership (including without limitation, a joint venture), an unincorporated association, a trust 
or any other entity or organization, including, but not limited to, a government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof.  

"Plan" means at any time an employee pension benefit plan which is covered by Title IV of ERISA or subject to the minimum funding 
standards under  
Section 412 of the Code and is either (i) maintained by a member of the Controlled Group for employees of any member of the Controlled 
Group or (ii) maintained pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement or any other arrangement under which more than one employer makes 
contributions and to which a member of the Controlled Group is then making or accruing an obligation to make contributions or has within the 
preceding 5 plan years made contributions.  

"Prime Rate" refers to that interest rate so denominated and set by Wachovia from time to time as an interest rate basis for borrowings. The 
Prime Rate is but one of several interest rate bases used by Wachovia. Wachovia lends at interest rates above and below the Prime Rate.  

"Properties" means all real property owned or operated by Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary, wherever located.  

"Rate Determination Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).  

"Redeemable Preferred Stock" of any Person means any preferred stock issued by such Person which is at any time prior to the Termination 
Date either (i) mandatorily redeemable (by sinking fund or similar payments or otherwise) or (ii) redeemable at the option of the holder thereof. 

"Required Banks" means at any time Banks having at least (i) 76% of the aggregate amount of the Commitments or, if the Commitments are no 
longer in effect, 76% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes (in the event that at such time there are 3 or more Banks party 
to this Agreement) or (ii) 100% of the aggregate amount of the Commitments or, if the Commitments are no longer in effect, 100% of the 
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes (in the event that at such time there are fewer than 3 Banks party to this Agreement).  

Responsible Officer means any of the chief executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer or 
treasurer of Franklin Electric or any other officer of Franklin Electric involved principally in its financial administration or its controllership 
function.  

"Subsidiary" means any corporation or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to elect a 
majority of the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions are at the time directly or indirectly owned by Franklin Electric. 

"Subsidiary Borrower" means any Borrower other than Franklin Electric.  

"Subsidiary Guarantor" means any Subsidiary which has (i) executed and delivered to the Agent a Subsidiary Guaranty, and (ii) caused to be 
executed and delivered to the Agent (A) an opinion of counsel (acceptable to the Agent and the Required Banks) to such Subsidiary in such 
form and covering such matters relating to such Subsidiary and the Subsidiary Guaranty being  



executed and delivered by such Subsidiary as the Agent or any Bank may request, and (B) all documents which the Agent or any Bank may 
request relating to the existence of such Subsidiary, the corporate authority for and the validity of such Subsidiary Guaranty, and any other 
matters relevant thereto, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Banks.  

"Subsidiary Guaranty" means a guaranty agreement executed by a Subsidiary Guarantor for the benefit of the Agent and the Banks in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Agent and the Required Banks, guaranteeing the obligations of the Borrowers (other than such Subsidiary 
Guarantor) under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which the Borrowers (other than such Subsidiary Guarantor) are parties.  

"Taxes" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.11(d).  

"Termination Date" means January 5, 2002, or such later date as may be determined from time to time pursuant to Section 2.04(b).  

"Third Parties" means all lessees, sublessees, licensees and other users of the Properties, excluding those users of the Properties in the ordinary 
course of Franklin Electric's or any Subsidiary's business and on a temporary basis.  

"Transferee" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.07(d).  

"Unused Commitment" means at any date, with respect to any Bank, an amount equal to its Commitment less the aggregate outstanding 
principal amount of its Loans.  

U.S. Subsidiary means a Subsidiary which has the majority of its assets located in the United States of America.  

"Wachovia" means Wachovia Bank, N.A., a national banking association and its successors.  

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary all of the shares of capital stock or other ownership interests of which (except directors' 
qualifying shares) are at the time directly or indirectly owned by Franklin Electric.  

SECTION 1.02. Accounting Terms and Determinations. Unless otherwise specified herein, all terms of an accounting character used herein 
shall be interpreted, all accounting determinations hereunder shall be made, and all financial statements required to be delivered hereunder shall 
be prepared in accordance with GAAP, applied on a basis consistent (except for changes concurred in by Franklin Electric's independent public 
accountants or otherwise required by a change in GAAP) with the most recent audited consolidated financial statements of Franklin Electric 
and its Consolidated Subsidiaries delivered to the Banks, unless with respect to any such change concurred in by Franklin Electric's 
independent public accountants or required by GAAP, in determining compliance with any of the provisions of this Agreement or any of the 
other Loan Documents: (i) Franklin Electric shall have objected to determining such compliance on such basis at the time of delivery of such 
financial statements, or (ii) the Required Banks shall so object in writing within 30 days after the delivery of such financial  



statements, in either of which events (x) such calculations shall be made on a basis consistent with those used in the preparation of the latest 
financial statements as to which such objection shall not have been made (which, if objection is made in respect of the first financial statements 
delivered under  
Section 5.01, shall mean the financial statements referred to in Section 4.04), and (y) the Banks and Franklin Electric will negotiate in good 
faith to revise the financial covenants contained in this Agreement solely for the purpose of reflecting such changes so that the criteria for 
evaluating Franklin Electric's consolidated financial condition and performance will be substantially the same after such changes as they were 
before such changes.  

SECTION 1.03. Use of Defined Terms. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the same meanings when used in any of the other Loan 
Documents, unless otherwise defined therein or unless the context shall otherwise require.  

SECTION 1.04. Terminology. All personal pronouns used in this Agreement, whether used in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, shall 
include all other genders; the singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include the singular. Titles of Articles and Sections in this 
Agreement are for convenience only, and neither limit nor amplify the provisions of this Agreement.  

SECTION 1.05. References. Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Agreement to "Articles", "Exhibits", "Schedules", and "Sections" 
are references to articles, exhibits, schedules and sections hereof.  

ARTICLE II  

THE CREDITS  

SECTION 2.01. Commitments to Make Syndicated Loans. Each Bank severally agrees, on the terms and conditions set forth herein, to make 
Loans to the Borrowers from time to time before the Termination Date; provided that, immediately after each such Loan is made (i) the sum of 
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Dollar Loans and the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Foreign 
Currency Loans by such Bank to all Borrowers shall not exceed the amount of its Commitment, and (ii) the sum of the aggregate outstanding 
principal amount of all Dollar Loans and the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Foreign Currency Loans 
shall not exceed the aggregate amount of the Commitments of all of the Banks at such time. The Dollar Equivalent of each Foreign Currency 
Loan on the date each Foreign Currency Loan is disbursed shall be deemed to be the amount of the Foreign Currency Loan outstanding for the 
purpose of calculating the unutilized portion of the Commitments on the date of disbursement. Each Borrowing under this Section shall be in 
an aggregate principal amount of $500,000 (or the Dollar Equivalent thereof, rounded to the nearest Dollar, in any Foreign Currency) or any 
larger multiple of $500,000 (except that any Borrowing may be in the aggregate amount of the Unused Commitments) and shall be made from 
the several Banks ratably in proportion to their respective Commitments. Within the foregoing limits, the Borrowers may borrow under this 
Section, repay or, to the extent permitted by Section 2.09, prepay Loans and reborrow under this Section at any time before the Termination 
Date.  

SECTION 2.02. Method of Borrowing Loans. (a) Franklin Electric shall give the Agent notice in the form attached hereto as Exhibit L (a 
"Notice of Borrowing") prior to 11:00 A.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the  



Domestic Business Day of each Base Rate Borrowing, at least 2 Euro-Dollar Business Days before each Euro-Dollar Borrowing and at least 2 
Foreign Currency Business Days before each Foreign Currency Borrowing, specifying:  

(i) the name of the Borrower,  

(ii) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Domestic Business Day in the case of a Base Rate Borrowing, a Euro-Dollar Business Day in 
the case of a Euro-Dollar Borrowing and a Foreign Currency Business Day in the case of a Foreign Currency Borrowing,  

(iii) the aggregate amount of such Borrowing,  

(iv) whether the Loans comprising such Borrowing are to be Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, and (A) if such Loans are to be Dollar 
Loans, whether they are to be Base Rate Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans and (B) if such Loans are to be Foreign Currency Loans, specifying the 
Foreign Currency, and  

(v) in the case of a Fixed Rate Borrowing, the duration of the Interest Period applicable thereto, subject to the provisions of the definition of 
Interest Period.  

(b) Upon receipt of a Notice of Borrowing, the Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of such Bank's ratable share 
of such Borrowing and such Notice of Borrowing shall not thereafter be revocable by the relevant Borrower.  

(c) Not later than 1:00 P.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the date of each Borrowing, each Bank shall (except as provided in subsection (d) of 
this Section) make available its ratable share of such Borrowing, in Federal or other funds immediately available in Atlanta, Georgia, to the 
Agent at its address referred to in or specified pursuant to Section 9.01, which funds shall be in Dollars and, if such Borrowing is a Foreign 
Currency Borrowing, in an amount equal to the Dollar Equivalent of such Bank's ratable share of such Foreign Currency Borrowing. Unless the 
Agent determines that any applicable condition specified in Article III has not been satisfied, the Agent will make the funds so received from 
the Banks available to the relevant Borrower by wire transfer at the bank account specified by, and in the name of, such Borrower. Unless the 
Agent receives notice from a Bank, at the Agent's address referred to in Section9.01, before the date of a Fixed Rate Borrowing or not later 
than 12:30 P.M. (local time at such address) on the date of a Base Rate Borrowing, in either case stating that such Bank will not make a Loan in 
connection with such Borrowing, the Agent shall be entitled to assume that such Bank will make a Loan in connection with such Borrowing 
and, in reliance on such assumption, the Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) make available such Bank's ratable share of such Borrowing 
to the relevant Borrower for the account of such Bank. If the Agent makes such Bank's ratable share available to the relevant Borrower and 
such Bank does not in fact make its ratable share of such Borrowing available on such date, the Agent shall be entitled to recover such Bank's 
ratable share from such Bank or the relevant Borrower (and for such purpose shall be entitled to charge such amount to any account of the 
relevant Borrower maintained with the Agent), together with interest thereon for each day during the period from the date of such Borrowing 
until such sum shall be paid in full at a rate per annum equal to the rate at which the Agent determines that it obtained (or could have obtained) 
overnight Federal funds to cover such amount for each such day during such period, provided that any such payment by the relevant Borrower 
of  



such Bank's ratable share and interest thereon shall be without prejudice to any rights that the relevant Borrower may have against such Bank. 
If such Bank shall repay to the Agent such corresponding amount, such amount so repaid shall constitute such Bank's Loan included in such 
Borrowing for purposes of this Agreement.  

(d) If any Bank makes a new Loan hereunder to a Borrower on a day on which such Borrower is to repay all or any part of an outstanding Loan 
from such Bank, such Bank shall apply the proceeds of its new Loan to make such repayment and only an amount equal to the difference (if 
any) between the amount being borrowed and the amount being repaid shall be made available by such Bank to the Agent as provided in 
subsection (c) of this Section, or remitted by such Borrower to the Agent as provided in Section 2.11, as the case may be; provided, however, 
that if the Loan which is to be repaid is a Foreign Currency Loan, the foregoing provisions shall apply only if the new Loan is to be made in the 
same Foreign Currency.  

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, no Fixed Rate Borrowing may be made if there shall have occurred a 
Default or an Event of Default, which Default or Event of Default shall not have been cured or waived in writing.  

f) In the event that a Notice of Borrowing fails to specify whether the Loans comprising such Borrowing are to be Base Rate Loans, Euro-
Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, such Loans shall be made as Base Rate Loans. If a Borrower is otherwise entitled under this 
Agreement to repay any Loans maturing at the end of an Interest Period applicable thereto with the proceeds of a new Borrowing, and the 
Borrower fails to repay such Loans using its own moneys and Franklin Electric fails to give a Notice of Borrowing in connection with such 
new Borrowing, a new Borrowing shall be deemed to be made on the date such Loans mature in an amount equal to the principal amount of the 
Loans so maturing, and the Loans comprising such new Borrowing shall be Base Rate Loans, which shall be made in the Dollar Equivalent of 
such maturing Loans, if such maturing Loans were Foreign Currency Loans.  

(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, there shall not be more than 10 different Interest Periods applicable to Fixed 
Rate Loans.  

SECTION 2.03. Notes. (a) The Dollar Loans of each Bank shall be evidenced by a single Dollar Note and the Foreign Currency Loans of each 
Bank shall be evidenced by a single Foreign Currency Note, each payable to the order of such Bank for the account of its Lending Office in an 
amount equal to the original principal amount of such Bank's Commitment.  

(b) Upon receipt of each Bank's Notes pursuant to Section 3.01, the Agent shall deliver such Notes to such Bank. Each Bank shall record, and 
prior to any transfer of its Notes shall endorse on the schedule forming a part thereof appropriate notations to evidence, the date, amount and 
maturity of, and effective interest rate for, each Loan made by it, the date and amount of each payment of principal made by the Borrower with 
respect thereto and whether, in the case of such Bank's Dollar Note, such Dollar Loan is a Base Rate Loan or Euro-Dollar Loan, and, in the 
case of such Bank's Foreign Currency Note, specification of the Foreign Currency, and such schedule shall constitute rebuttable presumptive 
evidence of the principal amount owing and unpaid on such Bank's Notes; provided that the failure of any Bank to make, or any error in 
making, any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the  



obligation of any Borrower hereunder or under the Notes or the ability of any Bank to assign its Notes. Each Bank is hereby irrevocably 
authorized by each Borrower so to endorse its Notes and to attach to and make a part of any Note a continuation of any such schedule as and 
when required.  

SECTION 2.04. Maturity of Loans; Extension of Termination Date. (a) Each Loan included in any Borrowing shall mature, and the principal 
amount thereof shall be due and payable, on the last day of the Interest Period applicable to such Borrowing.  

(b) Upon written request of Franklin Electric, which may be made from time to time and which shall be made in writing and delivered to the 
Agent on a Domestic Business Day no fewer than 60 days prior to each anniversary of the Effective Date, the Banks and the Agent in their sole 
and absolute discretion may (but shall not be obligated to) extend the then effective Termination Date for a period of 1 year; provided that in no 
event shall the Termination Date be extended later than January 5, 2006. In the event that a Bank chooses to extend the Termination Date for 
such a 1 year period, notice shall be given by such Bank to Franklin Electric and the Agent not more than 45, nor fewer than 30, days prior to 
the next succeeding anniversary of the Effective Date; provided that the Termination Date shall not be extended with respect to any of the 
Banks unless the Required Banks are willing to extend the Termination Date and either (i) the remaining Banks shall purchase ratable 
assignments (without any obligations so to do) from such terminating Bank (in the form of an Assignment and Acceptance) in accordance with 
their respective percentage of the remaining aggregate amount of the Commitments; provided that such Banks shall be provided such 
opportunity (which opportunity shall allow such Banks at least 15 Domestic Business Days in which to make a decision) prior to the Borrower 
finding another bank pursuant to the immediately succeeding clause  
(ii); and provided, further, that should any of the remaining Banks elect not to purchase such an assignment, then such other remaining Banks 
shall be entitled to purchase an assignment from any terminating Bank which includes the ratable interest that was otherwise available to such 
non-purchasing remaining Bank or Banks, as the case may be, (ii) Franklin Electric shall find another bank, reasonably acceptable to the Agent, 
willing to accept an assignment from such terminating Bank (in the form of an Assignment and Acceptance) or (iii) Franklin Electric shall 
reduce the aggregate amount of the Commitments in an amount equal to the unassigned portion of the Commitment of any such terminating 
Bank.  

SECTION 2.05. Interest Rates. (a)"Applicable Margin" shall be determined quarterly based upon the ratio of Debt to EBITDA (calculated as of 
the last day of each Fiscal Quarter), as follows:  



 

The Applicable Margin shall be determined effective as of the date (herein, the "Rate Determination Date") which is 60 days after the last day 
of the Fiscal Quarter as of the end of which the foregoing ratio is being determined, based on the quarterly financial statements for such Fiscal 
Quarter, and the Applicable Margin so determined shall remain effective from such Rate Determination Date until the date which is 60 days 
after the last day of the Fiscal Quarter in which such Rate Determination Date falls (which latter date shall be a new Rate Determination Date); 
provided that (i) for the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the Rate Determination Date next following the Effective 
Date, the Applicable Margin shall be (A)0% for Base Rate Loans, (B) .20% for Foreign Currency Loans, and (C) .20% for Euro- Dollar Loans, 
(ii)in the case of any Applicable Margin determined for the fourth and final Fiscal Quarter of a Fiscal Year, the Rate Determination Date shall 
be the date which is 90 days after the last day of such final Fiscal Quarter and such Applicable Margin shall be determined based upon the 
annual audited financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended on the last day of such final Fiscal Quarter, and (iii) if on any Rate Determination 
Date Franklin Electric shall have failed to deliver to the Banks the financial statements required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) 
with respect to the Fiscal Quarter most recently ended prior to such Rate Determination Date, then for the period beginning on such Rate 
Determination Date and ending on the earlier of (A) the date on which Franklin Electric shall deliver to the Banks the financial statements to be 
delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) with respect to such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequent Fiscal Quarter, or (B)the date on which Franklin 
Electric shall deliver to the Banks annual financial statements required to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) with respect to the Fiscal 
Year which includes such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequent Fiscal Year, the Applicable Margin shall be determined as if the ratio of Debt to 
EBITDA was more than 2.0 to 1.0 at all times during such period. Any change in the Applicable Margin on any Rate Determination Date shall 
result in a corresponding change, effective on and as of such Rate Determination Date, in the interest rate applicable to each Loan outstanding 
on such Rate Determination Date.  

(b)Each Base Rate Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for each day from the date such Loan is made until it 
becomes due, at a rate per annum equal to the Base Rate for such day plus the Applicable Margin. Such interest shall be payable for each 
Interest Period on the last day thereof. Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, overdue interest on any Base 
Rate Loan shall bear interest, payable on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.  

Ratio of Debt to                             Foreig n 
EBITDA                  Base Rate Loans   Currency Loans    Euro-Dollar Loans  
------                  ---------------   --------- -----    -----------------  
Greater than 2.0 to 1.0         0%              .32 5%            .325% 
 
Greater than 1.5 to 1.0 
but equal to or less 
than 2.0 to 1.0                 0%              .30 %             .30% 
 
Greater than or equal 
to 1.0 to 1.0 
but less than or equal 
to 1.5 to 1.0                   0%              .25 %             .25% 
 
Less than 1.0 to 1.0            0%              .20 %             .20% 



(c) Each Euro-Dollar Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period applicable thereto, at a rate 
per annum equal to the sum of the Applicable Margin plus the applicable Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate for such Interest Period; 
provided that if any Euro-Dollar Loan shall, as a result of clause (1)(c) of the definition of Interest Period, have an Interest Period of less than 
one month, such Euro- Dollar Loan shall bear interest during such Interest Period at the rate applicable to Base Rate Loans during such period. 
Such interest shall be payable for each Interest Period on the last day thereof and, if such Interest Period is longer than 3 months, at intervals of 
3 months after the first day thereof. Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by applicable law, overdue interest on any Euro-
Dollar Loan shall bear interest, payable on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.  

The "Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate" applicable to any Interest Period means a rate per annum equal to the quotient obtained 
(rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) by dividing (i)the applicable London Interbank Offered Rate for such Interest 
Period by (ii)1.00 minus the Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage.  

The "London Interbank Offered Rate" applicable to any Euro-Dollar Loan means for the Interest Period of such Euro-Dollar Loan the rate per 
annum determined on the basis of the offered rate for deposits in Dollars of amounts equal or comparable to the principal amount of such Euro-
Dollar Loan offered for a term comparable to such Interest Period, which rates appear on Telerate Page 3750 as of 11:00 a.m., London time, 2 
Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period, provided that (i)if more than one such offered rate appears on Telerate 
Page 3750, the "London Interbank Offered Rate" will be the arithmetic average (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 
1%) of such offered rates; and (ii)if no such offered rates appear on such page, the "London Interbank Offered Rate" for such Interest Period 
will be the arithmetic average (rounded, if necessary, to the next higher 1/100th of 1%) of rates quoted by not less than 2 major banks in New 
York City, selected by the Agent, at approximately 10:00 a.m., New York City time, 2 Euro-Dollar Business Days prior to the first day of such 
Interest Period, for deposits in Dollars offered by leading European banks for a period comparable to such Interest Period in an amount 
comparable to the principal amount of such Euro-Dollar Loan.  

"Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage" means for any day that percentage (expressed as a decimal) which is in effect on such day, as prescribed by 
the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (or any successor) for determining the maximum reserve requirement for a member 
bank of the Federal Reserve System in respect of "Eurocurrency liabilities" (or in respect of any other category of liabilities which includes 
deposits by reference to which the interest rate on Euro-Dollar Loans is determined or any category of extensions of credit or other assets 
which includes loans by a non-United States office of any Bank to United States residents). The Adjusted London Interbank Offered Rate shall 
be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in the Euro-Dollar Reserve Percentage.  

(d) Each Foreign Currency Loan shall bear interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof, for the Interest Period applicable thereto, at a 
rate per annum equal to the sum of the Applicable Margin plus the applicable Adjusted IBOR Rate for such Interest Period. Such interest shall 
be payable for each Interest Period on the last day thereof and, if such Interest Period is longer than 3 months, at intervals of 3 months after the 
first day thereof. Any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by law, overdue interest on any Foreign Currency Loan shall bear 
interest, payable on demand, for each day until paid at a rate per annum equal to the Default Rate.  



Adjusted IBOR Rate means, with respect to each Interest Period for a Foreign Currency Loan, the sum of (i) the rate obtained by dividing (A) 
IBOR for such Interest Period by (B) a percentage equal to 1 minus the then stated maximum rate (stated as a decimal) of all reserve 
requirements in respect of any category of liabilities by reference to which the interest rate on such Foreign Currency Loan is determined 
(including, without limitation, any marginal, emergency, supplemental, special or other reserves) applicable to any member bank of the Federal 
Reserve System as defined in Regulation D (or against any successor category of liabilities as defined in Regulation D), plus (ii) if the relevant 
Foreign Currency Loan is in British pounds sterling, a percentage sufficient to compensate the Banks for the cost of complying with any 
reserves, liquidity and/or special deposit requirements of the Bank of England directly or indirectly affecting the maintenance or funding of 
such Foreign Currency Loan.  

IBOR means, for any Interest Period, with respect to Foreign Currency Loans, the offered rate for deposits in the applicable Foreign Currency, 
for a period comparable to the Interest Period and in an amount comparable to the amount of such Foreign Currency Loan appearing on the 
applicable Telerate Page as of 11:00 A.M. (London, England time) on the day that is two Business Days prior to the first day of the Interest 
Period. If the foregoing rate is unavailable from Telerate for any reason, then such rate shall be determined by the Agent from any other interest 
rate reporting service of recognized standing designated in writing by the Agent to Franklin Electric.  

(e) The Agent shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Loans hereunder. The Agent shall give prompt notice to Franklin Electric and 
the Banks by telecopy of each rate of interest so determined, and its determination thereof shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.  

(f) After the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default, the principal amount of the Loans (and, to the extent permitted by applicable 
law, all accrued interest thereon) may, at the election of the Required Banks, bear interest at the Default Rate; provided that the Required Banks 
shall deliver written notice to Franklin Electric of such election prior to or promptly after such election.  

SECTION 2.06. Fees. (a) Franklin Electric shall pay to the Agent for the ratable account of each Bank a facility fee equal to the product of:  
(i)the aggregate of the daily average amounts of such Bank's Commitment, times  
(ii)a per annum percentage equal to the Applicable Facility Fee Rate. Such facility fee shall accrue from and including the Effective Date to and 
including the Termination Date (or earlier date on which the Commitments are terminated pursuant to Section 2.07 or 6.01). Facility fees shall 
be payable quarterly in arrears on the first Facility Fee Payment Date following each Facility Fee Determination Date and on the Termination 
Date; provided that should the Commitments be terminated at any time prior to the Termination Date for any reason, the entire accrued and 
unpaid facility fee shall be paid on the date of such termination. The "Applicable Facility Fee Rate" shall be determined quarterly based upon 
the ratio of Debt to EBITDA (calculated as of the last day of each Fiscal Quarter) as follows:  



 

The Applicable Facility Fee Rate shall be determined effective as of the date (herein, the "Facility Fee Determination Date") which is 60 days 
after the last day of the Fiscal Quarter as of the end of which the foregoing ratio is being determined, based on the quarterly financial 
statements for such Fiscal Quarter, and the Applicable Facility Fee Rate so determined shall remain effective from such Facility Fee 
Determination Date until the date which is 60 days after the last day of the Fiscal Quarter in which such Facility Fee Determination Date falls 
(which latter date shall be a new Facility Fee Determination Date); provided that (i) for the period from and including the Effective Date to but 
excluding the Facility Fee Determination Date next following the Effective Date, the Applicable Facility Fee Rate shall be .10%;  
(ii) in the case of any Applicable Facility Fee Rate determined for the fourth and final Fiscal Quarter of a Fiscal Year, the Facility Fee 
Determination Date shall be the date which is 90 days after the last day of such final Fiscal Quarter and such Applicable Facility Fee Rate shall 
be determined based upon the annual audited financial statements for the Fiscal Year ended on the last day of such final Fiscal Quarter, and (iii) 
if on any Facility Fee Determination Date Franklin Electric shall have failed to deliver to the Banks the financial statements required to be 
delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) with respect to the Fiscal Quarter most recently ended prior to such Facility Fee Determination Date, then 
for the period beginning on such Facility Fee Determination Date and ending on the earlier of (A) the date on which Franklin Electric shall 
deliver to the Banks the financial statements to be delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(b) with respect to such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequent 
Fiscal Quarter, and (B) the date on which Franklin Electric shall deliver to the Banks annual financial statements required to be delivered 
pursuant to Section 5.01(a) with respect to the Fiscal Year which includes such Fiscal Quarter or any subsequent Fiscal Year, the Applicable 
Facility Fee Rate shall be determined as if the ratio of Debt to EBITDA was more than 2.0 to 1.0 at all times during such period.  

(b) Franklin Electric shall pay to the Agent, for the account and sole benefit of the Agent, such fees and other amounts at such times as set forth 
in the Agent's Letter Agreement.  

SECTION 2.07. Optional Termination or Reduction of Commitments. Franklin Electric may, upon at least 3 Domestic Business Days' notice to 
the Agent, terminate at any time, or proportionately reduce from time to time by an aggregate amount of at least $500,000 or any larger 
multiple of $500,000, the Commitments. If the Commitments are terminated in their entirety, all accrued fees (as provided under Section2.06) 
shall be payable on the effective date of such termination.  

SECTION 2.08. Mandatory Termination of Commitments. The Commitments shall terminate on the Termination Date and any Loans then 
outstanding (together with accrued interest thereon) shall be due and payable on such date.  

                                       Applicable 
Ratio of Debt to EBITDA                Facility Fee  Rate  
-----------------------                ------------ -----  
 
Greater than 2.0 to 1.0                      .15% 
 
Greater than or equal to 1.0 to 1.0 
but less than or equal to 2.0 to 1.0         .125% 
 
Less than 1.0 to 1.0                         .10% 



SECTION 2.09. Optional Prepayments. (a) Franklin Electric may, upon notice to the Agent, prepay any Base Rate Borrowing in whole at any 
time, or from time to time in part in amounts aggregating at least $500,000 or in an amount equal to the then outstanding principal amount of 
all Base Rate Loans, by paying the principal amount to be prepaid together with accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment. Each such 
optional prepayment shall be applied to prepay ratably the Base Rate Loans of the several Banks included in such Base Rate Borrowing.  

(b) Except as provided in Section 8.02, no Borrower may prepay all or any portion of the principal amount of any Fixed Rate Loan prior to the 
maturity thereof.  

(c) Upon receipt of a notice of prepayment pursuant to this Section, the Agent shall promptly notify each Bank of the contents thereof and of 
such Bank's ratable share of such prepayment and such notice shall not thereafter be revocable by any Borrower.  

SECTION 2.10. Mandatory Prepayments. (a) On each date on which the Commitments are reduced pursuant to Section 2.07 or Section 2.08, 
Franklin Electric shall repay or prepay such principal amount of the outstanding Loans, if any (together with interest accrued thereon and any 
amounts due under  
Section 8.05(a)), as may be necessary so that after such payment the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Loans does not exceed the 
aggregate amount of the Commitments as then reduced. Each such payment or prepayment shall be applied to repay or prepay ratably the 
Loans of the several Banks.  

(b) If the Agent determines at any time (either on its own initiative or at the instance of any Bank) that the aggregate principal amount of the 
Foreign Currency Loans outstanding (after converting each such Foreign Currency Loan to its Dollar Equivalent on the date of calculation) at 
any time exceeds the aggregate Commitments less the outstanding aggregate amount of all Dollar Loans, then upon 5 Foreign Currency 
Business Days' written notice from the Agent, Franklin Electric shall prepay an aggregate principal amount of Loans sufficient to bring the 
aggregate of the Dollar Equivalent of the Foreign Currency Loans and the Dollar Loans outstanding to an amount not exceeding the 
Commitment. Nothing in the foregoing shall require the Agent to make any such calculation unless expressly requested to do so by the 
Required Banks. All such prepayments shall be applied in the following order: (i) first to Base Rate Loan; (ii) then to Euro-Dollar Loans; and 
(iii) lastly, to Foreign Currency Loans.  

SECTION 2.11. General Provisions as to Payments. (a)The Borrowers shall make each payment of principal of, and interest on, the Loans and 
of facility fees hereunder, not later than 11:00 A.M. (Atlanta, Georgia time) on the date when due, in Federal or other funds (subject to 
paragraph (c) of this  
Section with respect to Foreign Currency Loans) immediately available in Atlanta, Georgia, to the Agent at its address referred to in Section 
9.01. The Agent will promptly distribute to each Bank its ratable share of each such payment received by the Agent for the account of the 
Banks.  

(b) Whenever any payment of principal of, or interest on, the Domestic Loans or of fees shall be due on a day which is not a Domestic Business 
Day, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Domestic Business Day. Whenever any payment of principal of, or 
interest on, the Euro-Dollar Loans or the Foreign Currency Loans shall be due on a day which is not a Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign 
Currency Business  



Day, as the case may be, the date for payment thereof shall be extended to the next succeeding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency 
Business Day, as the case may be, unless such Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency Business Day, as the case may be, falls in 
another calendar month, in which case the date for payment thereof shall be the next preceding Euro-Dollar Business Day or Foreign Currency 
Business Day, as the case may be. If the date for any payment of principal is extended by operation of law or otherwise, interest thereon shall 
be payable for such extended time.  

(c) All payments of principal and interest with respect to Foreign Currency Loans shall be made in the Foreign Currency in which the related 
Foreign Currency Loan was made.  

(d) All payments of principal, interest and fees and all other amounts to be made by the Borrowers pursuant to this Agreement with respect to 
any Loan or fee relating thereto shall be paid without deduction for, and free from, any tax, imposts, levies, duties, deductions, or withholdings 
of any nature now or at anytime hereafter imposed by any governmental authority or by any taxing authority thereof or therein excluding in the 
case of each Bank (i) taxes imposed on or measured by its net income, and franchise taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction under the laws of 
which such Bank is organized or any political subdivision thereof (including for the purpose of this clause (i) with respect to any Bank 
organized under the laws of one of the states of the United States, United States federal income taxes) and (ii) taxes imposed on its income, and 
franchise taxes imposed on it, by the jurisdiction of such Bank's applicable Lending Office or any political subdivision thereof (all such non-
excluded taxes, imposts, levies, duties, deductions or withholdings of any nature being "Taxes"). In the event that any Borrower is required by 
applicable law to make any such withholding or deduction of Taxes with respect to any Loan or fee or other amount, such Borrower shall pay 
such deduction or withholding to the applicable taxing authority, shall promptly furnish to any Bank in respect of which such deduction or 
withholding is made all receipts and other documents evidencing such payment and shall pay to such Bank additional amounts as may be 
necessary in order that the amount received by such Bank after the required withholding or other payment shall equal the amount such Bank 
would have received had no such withholding or other payment been made. If no withholding or deduction of Taxes are payable in respect of 
any Loan or fee relating thereto, a Borrower shall furnish, at such Bank's reasonable request, evidence reasonably acceptable to such Bank, 
stating that such payments are exempt from or not subject to withholding or deduction of Taxes. If a Borrower fails to provide such evidence, 
such Borrower hereby agrees to compensate such Bank for, and indemnify them with respect to, the tax consequences of such Borrower's 
failure to provide evidence of tax payments or tax exemption.  

In the event any Bank receives a refund of any Taxes paid by a Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.11, it will pay to such Borrower the amount 
of such refund promptly upon receipt thereof; provided, however, if at any time thereafter it is required to return such refund, such Borrower 
shall promptly repay to it the amount of such refund.  

(e) Each Bank which shall be a foreign person (a person other than a United States person for United States Federal income tax purposes) 
hereby agrees that:  

(i) it shall no later than the Effective Date (or, in the case of a Bank which shall become a party hereto pursuant to Section 9.07 after the 
Effective Date, the date upon which such Bank shall become a part  



hereto) deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to the Agent) (A) if any Lending Office is located in the United States, two (2) accurate and 
complete signed originals of Internal Revenue Service Form 4224 (or any successors thereto) ("Form 4224"), and/or (B) if any Lending Office 
is located outside the United States, two (2) accurate and complete signed originals of Internal Revenue Service Form 1001 (or any successor 
thereto) ("Form 1001"), in each case indicating that such Bank is on the date of delivery thereof entitled to receive payments of principal, 
interest and fees for the account of such Lending Office or Lending Offices under this Agreement free from withholding of United States 
Federal income tax, in the case of Form 1001, pursuant to a United States tax treaty currently in effect and for which notice of termination has 
not been given (and, if any political subdivision of the United States shall impose similar reporting requirements with respect to payments to 
such Bank under this Agreement and such Bank shall receive notice from Franklin Electric of the same, such Bank shall deliver any applicable 
forms to Franklin Electric with a copy to the Agent promptly after receipt of such notice);  

(ii) if at any time such Bank shall change its Lending Office or Lending Offices or select an additional Lending Office as herein provided, it 
shall, at the same time or reasonably promptly thereafter, deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to the Agent) in replacement for, or in 
addition to, the forms previously delivered by it hereunder (A) if such changed or additional Lending Office is located in the United States, two 
(2) accurate and complete signed originals of Form 4224 or (B) otherwise, two (2) accurate and complete signed originals of Form 1001, in 
each case indicating that such Bank is on the date of delivery thereof entitled to receive payments of principal, interest and fees for the account 
of such changed or additional Lending Office under this Agreement free from withholding of United States Federal income tax;  

(iii) it shall, before or promptly after the occurrence of any event (including the passing of time but excluding any event mentioned in  
(ii) above) requiring a change in the most recent Form 4224 or Form 1001 previously delivered by such Bank and if the delivery of the same be 
lawful, deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to the Agent) two (2) accurate and complete original signed copies of Form 4224 or Form 1001 
in replacement for the forms previously delivered by such Bank;  

(iv) if such Bank claims exemption from withholding tax under a United States tax treaty by providing a Form 1001 and such Bank sells or 
grants a participation of all or part of its rights under this Agreement, such Bank shall notify Franklin Electric and the Agent of the percentage 
amount in which it is no longer the beneficial owner under this Agreement. To the extent of this percentage amount, Franklin Electric shall 
treat such Bank's Form 1001 as no longer in compliance with this Section 2.11(e). In the event a Bank claiming exemption from United States 
withholding tax by filing Form 4224 with Franklin Electric, sells or grants a participation in its rights under this Agreement, such Bank agrees 
to undertake sole responsibility for complying with the withholding tax requirements imposed by Sections 1441 and 1442 of the Code;  



(v) if the Internal Revenue Service or any authority of the United States of America or other jurisdiction successfully asserts a claim that the 
Agent or any Borrower did not properly withhold tax from amounts paid to or for the account of any Bank (because the appropriate form was 
not delivered, was not properly executed, or because such Bank failed to notify such Borrower or the Agent of a change in circumstances which 
rendered the exemption from withholding tax ineffective), such Bank shall indemnify the Agent and/or such Borrower, as applicable, fully for 
all amounts paid, directly or indirectly, by the Agent and/or such Borrower, as applicable, as tax or otherwise, including penalties and interest, 
and including any taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on the amounts payable to the Agent and/or such Borrower, as applicable under this 
paragraph (e), together with all costs, expenses and attorneys' fees (including the reasonable allocated costs for in- house staff counsel); and  

(vi) it shall, promptly upon the Agent's or Franklin Electric's reasonable request to that effect, deliver to Franklin Electric (with a copy to the 
Agent) such other forms or similar documentation as may be required from time to time by any applicable law, treaty, rule or regulation in 
order to establish such Bank's tax status for withholding purposes.  

(f) The Borrowers will not be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of United States Federal income tax pursuant to Section 2.11(d) 
to any Bank for the account of any Lending Office of such Bank:  

(i) if the obligation to pay such additional amounts would not have arisen but for a failure by such Bank to comply with its obligations under 
Section 2.11(e) in respect of such Lending Office;  

(ii) if such Bank shall have delivered to the Borrower a Form 4224 in respect of such Lending Office pursuant to Section 2.11(e) and such 
Bank shall not at any time be entitled to exemption from deduction or withholding of United States Federal income tax in respect of payments 
by the Borrower hereunder for the account of such Lending Office for any reason other than a change in United States law or regulations or in 
the official interpretation of such law or regulations by any Governmental Authority charged with the interpretation or administration thereof 
(whether or not having the force of law) after the date of delivery of such Form 4224; or  

(iii) if such Bank shall have delivered to Franklin Electric a Form 1001 in respect of such Lending Office pursuant to Section 2.11(e) and such 
Bank shall not at any time be entitled to exemption from deduction or withholding of United States Federal income tax in respect of payments 
by any Borrower hereunder for account of such Lending Office for any reason other than a change in United States law or regulations or any 
applicable tax treaty or regulations or in the official interpretation of any such law, treaty or regulations by any Governmental Authority 
charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (whether or not having the force of law) after the date of delivery of such Form 1001.  

(g) If, at any time, Franklin Electric shall request any Bank to deliver any forms or other documentation pursuant to Section 2.11(e)(vi), then 
Franklin Electric shall, on demand of such Bank, reimburse such Bank for any  



reasonable costs or expenses incurred by such Bank in the preparation or delivery of such forms or other documentation.  

(h) If any Borrower shall be required to pay additional amounts to any Bank pursuant to Section 2.11(d), then such Bank shall use its best 
efforts (consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions) to change the jurisdiction of its Lending Office so as to eliminate any such additional 
payment by the Borrower which may thereafter accrue if such change in the judgment of such Bank shall not otherwise be disadvantageous to 
such Bank.  

(i) Without prejudice to the survival of any other agreement of the Borrowers hereunder, the agreements and obligations of the Borrowers 
contained in Section 2.11(d) shall be applicable with respect to any Transferee, and any calculations required by such provisions (i) shall be 
made based upon the circumstances of such Transferee, and (ii) constitute a continuing agreement and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement and the payment in full or cancellation of the Notes.  

SECTION 2.12. Computation of Interest and Fees. Interest on Domestic Loans based on the Base Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year 
of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). Interest on Euro-Dollar Loans 
and on Foreign Currency Loans shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days (except for any Foreign Currency Loans outstanding in 
British pounds sterling, Canadian dollars or Irish punts (if any of such currencies is selected as a Foreign Currency pursuant to clause (iv) of the 
definition of "Foreign Currency"), which shall be computed on a basis of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be) and paid for the actual number 
of days elapsed, calculated as to each Interest Period from and including the first day thereof to but excluding the last day thereof. Facility fees 
and any other fees payable hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and paid for the actual number of days elapsed 
(including the first day but excluding the last day).  

SECTION 2.13. Additional Borrowers. (a) Franklin Electric may from time to time cause any Wholly-Owned Subsidiary to become eligible to 
borrower under Section 2.01 by delivering to the Agent an Election to Participate with respect to such Wholly-Owned Subsidiary, duly 
executed on behalf of such Wholly-Owned Subsidiary and Franklin Electric. Promptly upon receiving any such Election to Participate, the 
Agent shall give notice to the Banks of its receipt thereof, whereupon such Wholly-Owned Subsidiary shall become an Additional Borrower for 
all purposes of this Agreement.  

(b) The eligibility of any such Additional Borrower to borrow under  
Section 2.01 shall terminate when the Agent receives an Election to Terminate with respect to such Additional Borrower, duly executed on 
behalf of Franklin Electric. Promptly upon receiving any such Election to Terminate, the Agent shall give notice to the Banks of its receipt 
thereof, and thereafter such Additional Borrower shall no longer be eligible to borrow under Section 2.01. The delivery of an Election to 
Terminate shall not affect any obligation of such Additional Borrower theretofore incurred.  



ARTICLE III  

CONDITIONS TO BORROWINGS  

SECTION 3.01. Conditions to First Borrowing. The obligation of each Bank to make a Loan on the occasion of the first Borrowing is subject 
to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3.02 and the following additional conditions:  

(a) receipt by the Agent from each of the parties hereto of either (A)a duly executed counterpart of this Agreement signed by such party or (B)a 
facsimile transmission stating that such party has duly executed a counterpart of this Agreement and sent such counterpart to the Agent;  

(b) receipt by the Agent of a duly executed Dollar Note and a duly executed Foreign Currency Note of Franklin Electric for the account of each 
Bank complying with the provisions of Section 2.03;  

(c) receipt by the Agent of an opinion (together with any opinions of local counsel relied on therein) of Schiff, Hardin & Waite, counsel for 
Franklin Electric, dated as of the Effective Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto and covering such additional matters relating to 
the transactions contemplated hereby as the Agent or any Bank may reasonably request;  

(d) receipt by the Agent of an opinion of Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PLLC, special counsel for the Agent, dated as of the Effective 
Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit D hereto and covering such additional matters relating to the transactions contemplated hereby as the 
Agent may reasonably request;  

(e) receipt by the Agent of a certificate (the "Closing Certificate"), dated the Effective Date, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto, 
signed by a principal financial officer of the Franklin Electric, to the effect that (i)no Default has occurred and is continuing on the date of the 
first Borrowing and (ii)the representations and warranties of Franklin Electric contained in Article IV are true on and as of the date of the first 
Borrowing hereunder; and  

(f) receipt by the Agent of all documents which the Agent or any Bank may reasonably request relating to the existence of Franklin Electric, the 
corporate authority for and the validity of this Agreement and the Notes, and any other matters relevant hereto, all in form and substance 
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, including without limitation a certificate of incumbency of Franklin Electric (the "Officer's Certificate"), 
signed by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of Franklin Electric, substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto, certifying as to the names, 
true signatures and incumbency of the officer or officers of Franklin Electric authorized to execute and deliver the Loan Documents, and 
certified copies of the following items: (i) Franklin Electric's Certificate of Incorporation, (ii) Franklin Electric's Bylaws, (iii) a certificate of the 
Secretary of State of the state of incorporation for Franklin Electric as to the good standing of Franklin Electric in such state, and (iv) the action 
taken by the Board of Directors of  



Franklin Electric authorizing Franklin Electric's execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan 
Documents to which Franklin Electric is a party.  

SECTION 3.02. Conditions to All Borrowings. The obligation of each Bank to make a Loan on the occasion of each Borrowing is subject to 
the satisfaction of the following conditions:  

(a) receipt by the Agent of Notice of Borrowing as required by  
Section 2.02;  

(b) the fact that, immediately before and after such Borrowing, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing;  

(c) the fact that the representations and warranties of the Borrowers contained in Article IV of this Agreement shall be true on and as of the date 
of such Borrowing, except (i) to the extent any such representation or warranty is stated to relate to an earlier date and (ii) for changes in the 
Schedules hereto reflecting transactions after the Effective Date permitted by this Agreement; and  

(d) the fact that, immediately after such Borrowing (i) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans of each Bank will not exceed 
the amount of its Commitment and (ii) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans will not exceed the aggregate amount of the 
Commitments of all of the Banks as of such date.  

Each Borrowing hereunder shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty by the Borrowers on the date of such Borrowing as to the truth 
and accuracy of the facts specified in clauses (b), (c) and (d) of this Section; provided that such Borrowing shall not be deemed to be such a 
representation and warranty to the effect set forth in Section4.04(b) as to any event, act or condition having a Material Adverse Effect which 
has theretofore been disclosed in writing by Franklin Electric to the Banks if the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans 
immediately after such Borrowing will not exceed the aggregate outstanding principal amount thereof immediately before such Borrowing.  

SECTION 3.03. First Borrowing By Each Additional Borrower. The obligation of each Bank to make a Loan on the occasion of the first 
Borrowing by each Additional Borrower is subject to the satisfaction of the following further conditions:  

(a) receipt by the Agent of an Election to Participate with respect to such Additional Borrower appropriately completed and signed;  

(b) receipt by the Agent for the account of each Bank of duly executed Notes of such Additional Borrower, dated on or before the date of such 
Borrowing, complying with the provisions of Section 2.03;  

(c) receipt by the Agent of one or more opinions of counsel for such Additional Borrower, reasonably acceptable to the Agent, which taken 
together cover the matters set forth in Exhibit E hereto; and  



(d) receipt by the Agent of all documents which it may reasonably request relating to (i) the existence of such Additional Borrower, (ii) the 
corporate authority for and validity of such Additional Borrower's Election to Participate and Notes; and (iii) the corporate authorization by 
Franklin Electric's Board of Directors of the guaranty set forth in Article XI of this Agreement with respect to such Additional Borrower, in 
each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent.  

ARTICLE IV  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  

Franklin Electric represents and warrants that:  

SECTION 4.01. Corporate Existence and Power. Franklin Electric is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under 
the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, is duly qualified to transact business in every jurisdiction where, by the nature of its business, 
such qualification is necessary, and has all corporate powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to 
carry on its business as now conducted, except where the failure to have such licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals could not 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.02. Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by Franklin Electric 
of this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents (i)are within Franklin Electric's corporate powers, (ii)have been duly authorized by 
all necessary corporate action, (iii)require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency or official, (iv)do not 
contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of any applicable law or regulation or of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of 
Franklin Electric or of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon Franklin Electric or any of its 
Subsidiaries, and  
(v)do not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of Franklin Electric or any of its Subsidiaries.  

SECTION 4.03. Binding Effect. This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of Franklin Electric enforceable in accordance with 
its terms, and the Notes and the other Loan Documents, when executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement, will constitute valid 
and binding obligations of Franklin Electric enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, provided that the enforceability hereof and 
thereof is subject in each case to general principles of equity and to bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforcement of 
creditors' rights generally.  

SECTION 4.04. Financial Information. (a)The consolidated balance sheet of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 1996, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for the Fiscal Year then ended, 
reported on by Deloitte & Touche LLP, copies of which have been delivered to each of the Banks, and the unaudited consolidated financial 
statements of Franklin Electric for the interim period ended September 30, 1997, copies of which have been delivered to each of the Banks, 
fairly present, in conformity with GAAP, the  



consolidated financial position of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of such dates and their consolidated results of 
operations and cash flows for such periods stated.  

(b) Since December 31, 1996, there has been no event, act, condition or occurrence having a Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.05. Litigation. There is no action, suit or proceeding pending, or to the knowledge of Franklin Electric threatened, against or 
affecting Franklin Electric or any of its Subsidiaries before any court or arbitrator or any governmental body, agency or official which could 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or which in any manner draws into question the validity or enforceability of, or could 
reasonably be expected to impair the ability of Franklin Electric to perform its obligations under, this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other 
Loan Documents.  

SECTION 4.06. Compliance with ERISA. (a) Franklin Electric and each member of the Controlled Group have fulfilled their obligations under 
the minimum funding standards of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan and are in compliance in all material respects with the 
presently applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code, and have not incurred any liability (other than liabilities incurred in the ordinary 
course of business) to the PBGC or a Plan under Title IV of ERISA.  

(b) Either (i) neither Franklin Electric nor any member of the Controlled Group is or within the preceding 5 years ever has been obligated to 
contribute to any Multiemployer Plan, or (ii) if Franklin Electric or any member of the Controlled Group is or within the preceding 5 years has 
been obligated to contribute to any Multiemployer Plan, neither Franklin Electric nor any member of the Controlled Group has incurred any 
withdrawal liability in excess of $1,000,000 with respect to any Multiemployer Plan under Title IV of ERISA.  

SECTION 4.07. Taxes. There have been filed on behalf of Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries all Federal and state income and other material 
tax returns which are required to be filed by them and all taxes due pursuant to such returns or pursuant to any assessment received by or on 
behalf of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary have been paid, except those being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and as to 
which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP. The charges, accruals and reserves on the books of Franklin Electric 
and its Subsidiaries in respect of taxes or other governmental charges are, in the opinion of Franklin Electric, adequate. United States income 
tax returns of Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries have been examined and closed through the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 1993.  

SECTION 4.08. Subsidiaries. Each of Franklin Electric's Subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
its jurisdiction of organization, is duly qualified to transact business in every jurisdiction where, by the nature of its business, such qualification 
is necessary, and has all powers and all governmental licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now 
conducted, except where the failure to have such licenses, authorizations, consents and approvals could not reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect. Franklin Electric has no Subsidiaries except those Subsidiaries listed on Schedule 4.08 (as such Schedule may be 
updated by Franklin Electric (without any consent or approval by the Agent or any Bank) from time to time to delete therefrom Persons which 
cease to be Subsidiaries  



of Franklin Electric after the Effective Date and to add thereto Persons which become Subsidiaries of Franklin Electric after the Effective 
Date), which accurately sets forth each such Subsidiary's complete name and jurisdiction of organization.  

SECTION 4.09. Not an Investment Company. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries is an "investment company" within the 
meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.  

SECTION 4.10 Public Utility Holding Company Act. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries is a "holding company", or a 
"subsidiary company" of a "holding company", or an "affiliate" of a "holding company" or of a "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", 
as such terms are defined in the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.  

SECTION 4.11. Ownership of Property; Liens. Each of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries has title to its properties sufficient 
for the conduct of its business, and none of such property is subject to any Lien except as permitted in Section5.07.  

SECTION 4.12. No Default. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Consolidated Subsidiaries is in default under or with respect to any 
agreement, instrument or undertaking to which it is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound which could reasonably be expected to 
have or cause a Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.13. Full Disclosure. All information heretofore furnished by Franklin Electric to the Agent or any Bank for purposes of or in 
connection with this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all such information hereafter furnished by Franklin Electric to 
the Agent or any Bank will be, true, accurate and complete in every material respect or based on reasonable estimates on the date as of which 
such information is stated or certified. Franklin Electric has disclosed to the Banks in writing any and all facts which could reasonably be 
expected to have or cause a Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.14. Environmental Matters. (a) Neither Franklin Electric nor any Subsidiary is subject to any Environmental Liability which could 
reasonably be expected to have or cause a Material Adverse Effect, and, except as disclosed on Schedule 4.14A-1 hereto, neither Franklin 
Electric nor any Subsidiary has been designated as a potentially responsible party under CERCLA or under any state statute similar to 
CERCLA. Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.14A-2 hereto, none of the Properties has been identified on any current or proposed (i) National 
Priorities List under 40 C.F.R. 300, (ii) CERCLIS list or (iii) any list arising from a state statute similar to CERCLA.  

(b) No Hazardous Materials have been or are being used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generated, stored, disposed of, 
managed or otherwise handled at, or shipped or transported to or from the Properties or are otherwise present at, on, in or under the Properties, 
or, to the best of the knowledge of Franklin Electric, at or from any adjacent site or facility, except for Hazardous Materials, such as cleaning 
solvents, pesticides and other materials used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, recycled, generated, stored, disposed of, and 
managed or otherwise  



handled in minimal amounts in the ordinary course of business in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental 
Requirements.  

(c) Franklin Electric, and each of its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, has procured all Environmental Authorizations necessary for the conduct of its 
business, and is in compliance with all Environmental Requirements in connection with the operation of the Properties and Franklin Electric's, 
and each of its Subsidiary's and Affiliate's, respective businesses, except where any failure to procure any such Environmental Authorizations 
or any failure to comply with any such Environmental Requirements could not, alone or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a 
Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.15. Compliance with Laws. Franklin Electric and each Subsidiary is in compliance with all applicable laws, including, without 
limitation, all Environmental Requirements, except where any failure to comply with any such laws could not, alone or in the aggregate, 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  

SECTION 4.16. Capital Stock. All Capital Stock, debentures, bonds, notes and all other securities of Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries 
presently issued and outstanding are validly and properly issued in accordance with all applicable laws, including, but not limited to, the "Blue 
Sky" laws of all applicable states and the federal securities laws. The issued shares of Capital Stock of Franklin Electric's Wholly Owned 
Subsidiaries are owned by Franklin Electric free and clear of any Lien or adverse claim. At least a majority of the issued shares of stock of each 
of Franklin Electric's other Subsidiaries (other than Wholly Owned Subsidiaries) having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board 
of directors of such Subsidiary is owned by Franklin Electric free and clear of any Lien or adverse claim.  

SECTION 4.17. Margin Stock. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, 
in the business of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock. Margin Stock constitutes less than 25% of those assets of Franklin Electric and its 
Subsidiaries which are subject to any limitation on sale, pledge or other restriction hereunder.  

SECTION 4.18. Insolvency. After giving effect to the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of the Loans under this 
Agreement, Franklin Electric will not be "insolvent," within the meaning of such term as used in O.C.G.A. 18-2-22 or as defined in 101 of Title 
11 of the United States Code or Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act, or any other applicable state law pertaining to fraudulent 
transfers, as each may be amended from time to time, or be unable to pay its debts generally as such debts become due, or have an 
unreasonably small capital to engage in any business or transaction, whether current or contemplated.  

ARTICLE V  

COVENANTS  

Franklin Electric agrees that, so long as any Bank has any Commitment hereunder or any amount payable under any Note remains unpaid:  



SECTION 5.01. Information. Franklin Electric will deliver to each of the Banks:  

(a) as soon as available and in any event within 90 days after the end of each Fiscal Year, a consolidated balance sheet of Franklin Electric and 
its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash 
flows for such Fiscal Year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all certified by Deloitte & 
Touche LLP or other independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing, with such certification to be free of exceptions and 
qualifications not acceptable to the Required Banks;  

(b) as soon as available and in any event within 60 days after the end of each of the first 3 Fiscal Quarters of each Fiscal Year, a consolidated 
balance sheet of Franklin Electric and its Consolidated Subsidiaries as of the end of such Fiscal Quarter and the related statement of income 
and statement of cash flows for such Fiscal Quarter and for the portion of the Fiscal Year ended at the end of such Fiscal Quarter, setting forth 
in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding Fiscal Quarter and the corresponding portion of the previous Fiscal Year, all 
certified (subject to normal year-end and audit adjustments) as to fairness of presentation, GAAP and consistency by the chief financial officer 
or the chief accounting officer of Franklin Electric;  

(c) simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, a certificate, substantially in the 
form of Exhibit J (a "Compliance Certificate"), of the chief financial officer or the chief accounting officer of Franklin Electric  
(i) setting forth in reasonable detail the calculations required to establish whether Franklin Electric was in compliance with the requirements of 
Sections 5.03, 5.04, 5.06, 5.07 and 5.08 on the date of such financial statements and  
(ii) stating whether any Default exists on the date of such certificate and, if any Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the 
action which Franklin Electric is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;  

(d) within 5 Domestic Business Days after any Responsible Officer becomes aware of the occurrence of any Default, a certificate of the chief 
financial officer or the chief accounting officer of Franklin Electric setting forth the details thereof and the action which Franklin Electric is 
taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;  

(e) promptly upon the mailing thereof to the shareholders of Franklin Electric generally, copies of all financial statements, reports and proxy 
statements so mailed;  

(f) promptly upon the filing thereof, copies of all registration statements (other than the exhibits thereto and any registration statements on 
Form S-8 or its equivalent) and annual or quarterly reports which Franklin Electric shall have filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission;  

(g) if and when Franklin Electric or, to the knowledge of a Responsible Officer, any member of the Controlled Group (i) gives or is required to 
give notice to the PBGC of any "reportable event" (as defined in Section4043 of ERISA) with respect to any Plan which might constitute 
grounds  



for a termination of such Plan under Title IV of ERISA, or knows that the plan administrator of any Plan has given or is required to give notice 
of any such reportable event, a copy of the notice of such reportable event given or required to be given to the PBGC; (ii)receives notice of 
complete or partial withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA, a copy of such notice; or  
(iii)receives notice from the PBGC under Title IV of ERISA of an intent to terminate or appoint a trustee to administer any Plan, a copy of such 
notice;  

(h) promptly after a Responsible Officer knows of the commencement thereof, notice of any litigation, dispute or proceeding involving a claim 
against Franklin Electric and/or any Subsidiary for $3,000,000 or more in excess of amounts covered in full by applicable insurance; and  

(i) from time to time such additional information regarding the financial position or business of Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries as the 
Agent, at the request of any Bank, may reasonably request.  

SECTION 5.02. Inspection of Property, Books and Records. Franklin Electric will (i) keep, and will cause each Subsidiary to keep, proper 
books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with GAAP (where applicable) shall be made of all dealings 
and transactions in relation to its business and activities; and (ii) permit, and will cause each Subsidiary to permit, representatives of any Bank 
at such Bank's expense prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default and at the Borrower's expense after the occurrence of an Event of Default 
to visit and inspect any of their respective properties, to examine and make abstracts from any of their respective books and records and to 
discuss their respective affairs, finances and accounts with their respective officers and independent public accountants; provided that in any 
such discussions with the independent public accountants of Franklin Electric, Franklin Electric shall be afforded the opportunity to have one 
or more of its officers present at such discussions. Franklin Electric agrees to cooperate and assist in such visits and inspections, in each case 
upon reasonable prior notice and at such times during normal business hours and as often as may reasonably be desired.  

SECTION 5.03. Debt to EBIDTA. At the end of each Fiscal Quarter, commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 1997, the ratio 
of Debt as at the end of such Fiscal Quarter to EBITDA for the period of 4 consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ended shall not exceed 2.5 to 1.0.  

SECTION 5.04. Current Obligation Coverage. At the end of each Fiscal Quarter, commencing with the Fiscal Quarter ending September 30, 
1997, the ratio of Income Available for Fixed Charges for the period of 4 consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ended to Current Obligations for the 
period of 4 consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ended, shall not have been less than 2.5 to 1.0.  

SECTION 5.05. [Reserved]  

SECTION 5.06. Loans or Advances. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make loans or advances to any Person except: (i) 
loans or advances to employees made in the ordinary course of business and consistently with practices existing on the Effective Date; (ii)
deposits required by government agencies or public utilities; (iii)loans or advances to  



any Subsidiary Guarantor; (iv) loans or advances to any Subsidiary (other than any Subsidiary Guarantor) to the extent (A) the aggregate 
outstanding amount of all loans and advances to such Subsidiary does not exceed $10,000,000 and (B) the aggregate outstanding amount of all 
loans and advances to all Subsidiaries (other than any Subsidiary Guarantor) does not exceed $30,000,000; (v) loans or advances to senior 
management of Franklin Electric pursuant to Franklin Electric's stock purchase plan in an aggregate outstanding amount not to exceed 
$5,000,000; (vi) loans or advances to the existing employee stock ownership plan of Franklin Electric and any new employee stock ownership 
plan of Franklin Electric which is approved by Franklin Electric's shareholders; and (vii) loans or advances permitted by  
Section 5.07; provided that after giving effect to the making of any loans, advances or deposits permitted by clause (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi) or 
 
(vii) of this Section, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing.  

SECTION 5.07. Investments. Neither Franklin Electric nor any of its Subsidiaries shall make Investments in any Person except as permitted by 
 
Section 5.10, and except Investments (i) indirect obligations of or guaranteed by the United States Government or any state of the United States 
or any agency of either thereof maturing within 2 years, (ii) in certificates of deposit issued by, and time deposits with, a commercial bank with 
a capital of $100,000,000 or more or whose credit is reasonably satisfactory to the Agent,  
(iii) in commercial paper rated A or better by Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., or the equivalent thereof by 
any nationally recognized rating agency, (iv) in the form of loans and advances permitted by Section 5.06, (v) in tender bonds the payment of 
the principal of and interest on which is fully supported by a letter of credit issued by a United States bank whose long-term certificates of 
deposit are rated at least A or better by Standard & Poor's Ratings Group, a division of McGraw-Hill, Inc., or the equivalent thereof by any 
nationally recognized rating agency,  
(vi) in any Subsidiary or any corporation or other Person which immediately after such Investment is made will be a Subsidiary, (vii) consisting 
of stock, obligations or securities received in settlement of debts created in the ordinary course of business owing to Franklin Electric or any 
Subsidiary, to the extent the aggregate amount of all such Investments described in this clause (vii) made after the Effective Date does not 
exceed $1,000,000, (viii) consisting of demand deposit accounts, (ix) consisting of repurchase agreements with respect to Investments 
described in clauses (ii) and (iii) above, (x) consisting of money market funds which invest exclusively in Investments described in clauses (i), 
(ii), (iii) and (ix) above, and (xi) not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses (i) through (x) in an aggregate amount not to exceed an 
amount equal to 25% of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth.  

SECTION 5.08. Negative Pledge. Neither Franklin Electric nor any Consolidated Subsidiary will create, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on 
any asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, except:  

(a) Liens existing on the date of this Agreement securing Indebtedness outstanding on the date of this Agreement in an aggregate principal 
amount not exceeding $0;  

(b) any Lien existing on any asset of any corporation or other Person at the time such corporation or other Person becomes a Consolidated 
Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;  



(c) any Lien on any asset securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose of financing all or any part of the cost of acquiring or 
constructing such asset, provided that such Lien attaches to such asset concurrently with or within 18 months after the acquisition or 
completion of construction thereof;  

(d) any Lien on any asset of any corporation or other Person existing at the time such corporation or other Person is merged or consolidated 
with or into Franklin Electric or a Consolidated Subsidiary and not created in contemplation of such event;  

(e) any Lien existing on any asset prior to the acquisition thereof by Franklin Electric or a Consolidated Subsidiary and not created in 
contemplation of such acquisition;  

(f) Liens securing Indebtedness owing by any Subsidiary to Franklin Electric or another Subsidiary;  

(g) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any Indebtedness secured by any Lien permitted by any of the 
foregoing clauses of this Section, provided that (i) such Indebtedness is not secured by any additional assets, and (ii) the amount of such 
Indebtedness secured by any such Lien is not increased;  

(h) Liens incidental to the conduct of its business or the ownership of its assets which (i) do not secure Indebtedness and (ii) do not in the 
aggregate materially detract from the value of its assets or materially impair the use thereof in the operation of its business;  

(i) any Lien on Margin Stock; and  

(j) Liens not otherwise permitted by the foregoing clauses of this  
Section securing Indebtedness (other than indebtedness represented by the Notes) in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not 
to exceed 15% of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth.  

SECTION 5.09. Maintenance of Existence. Franklin Electric shall, and shall cause each Material Subsidiary to, maintain its corporate existence 
(except as otherwise permitted by Section 5.10) and carry on its business in substantially the same manner and in substantially the same fields 
as such business is now carried on and maintained.  

SECTION 5.10. Consolidations, Mergers and Sales of Assets. Franklin Electric will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, consolidate or 
merge with or into, or sell, lease or otherwise transfer all or any substantial part of its assets to, any other Person, provided that (a)Franklin 
Electric may merge with another Person if (i) such Person was organized under the laws of the United States of America or one of its states, (ii)
Franklin Electric is the corporation surviving such merger and (iii) immediately after giving effect to such merger, no Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing,  
(b)Subsidiaries of Franklin Electric may merge with one another or with Franklin Electric, and (c) the foregoing limitation on the sale, lease or 
other transfer of assets shall not prohibit (1) any sale of accounts receivable of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary, (2) any sale and leaseback 
of any Property owned by Franklin Electric or any of its Subsidiaries, (3) any sale, lease or other transfer of assets made by Franklin Electric or 
any  



Subsidiary in the ordinary course of its business, or (4) any sale, lease or other transfer of assets outside of the ordinary course of business so 
long as the aggregate amount of assets sold, leased or otherwise transferred outside of the ordinary course of business in the then most recent 
twelve (12) month period which were not otherwise permitted by this Section 5.10 to be sold, leased or otherwise transferred together with the 
amount of any assets then proposed to be sold, leased or otherwise transferred outside of the ordinary course of business which are not 
otherwise permitted by this Section 5.10 to be sold, leased or otherwise transferred (A) does not constitute more than fifteen percent (15%) of 
Consolidated Total Assets determined as of the end of the most recently ended Fiscal Year and (B) has not contributed more than fifteen 
percent (15%) of Consolidated Operating Profits for the most recently ended Fiscal Year.  

SECTION 5.11. Use of Proceeds. No portion of the proceeds of the Loans will be used by Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary (i) in a manner 
which would violate or cause any Bank to be in violation of Regulation G, T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 
(ii)for any purpose in violation of any applicable law or regulation, or (iii) to finance the acquisition of a controlling interest in any Person if the 
board of directors (or the functional equivalent thereof) of such Person has not recommended or approved such acquisition.  

SECTION 5.12. Compliance with Laws; Payment of Taxes. Franklin Electric will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries and (as to ERISA and 
regulations and similar requirements of the PBGC only) each member of the Controlled Group to, comply in all material respects with 
applicable laws (including but not limited to ERISA), regulations and similar requirements of governmental authorities (including but not 
limited to PBGC), except where the necessity of such compliance is being contested in good faith through appropriate proceedings diligently 
pursued. Franklin Electric will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay promptly when due all taxes, assessments, governmental charges, 
claims for labor, supplies, rent and other obligations which, if unpaid, might become a lien against the property of Franklin Electric or any 
Subsidiary not permitted by Section 5.08, except liabilities being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued and 
against which, if requested by the Agent, Franklin Electric shall have set up reserves in accordance with GAAP.  

SECTION 5.13. Insurance. Franklin Electric will maintain, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain (either in the name of Franklin 
Electric or in such Subsidiary's own name), with financially sound and reputable insurance companies, insurance on all its Property in at least 
such amounts and against at least such risks as are usually insured against in the same general area by companies of established repute engaged 
in the same or similar business; provided that Franklin Electric may satisfy the requirements of this Section through adequate self-insurance 
programs.  

SECTION 5.14. Change in Fiscal Year. Franklin Electric will not change its Fiscal Year without the consent of the Required Banks.  

SECTION 5.15. Maintenance of Property. Franklin Electric shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, maintain its properties and assets in all 
material respects in good condition, repair and working order, ordinary wear and tear excepted.  



SECTION 5.16. Environmental Matters. (a) Franklin Electric shall furnish to the Banks and the Agent prompt written notice of all material 
Environmental Liabilities, pending or, to the best knowledge of any Responsible Officer, threatened material Environmental Proceedings, 
material Environmental Notices, Environmental Judgments and Orders, and material Environmental Releases at, on, in, under or in any way 
affecting the Properties or any adjacent property.  

(b) Franklin Electric and its Subsidiaries will not, and will not permit any Third Party to, use, produce, manufacture, process, treat, recycle, 
generate, store, dispose of, manage at, or otherwise handle or ship or transport to or from the Properties any Hazardous Materials except for 
Hazardous Materials such as cleaning solvents, pesticides and other similar materials used, produced, manufactured, processed, treated, 
recycled, generated, stored, disposed, managed or otherwise handled in minimal amounts in the ordinary course of business in compliance in 
all material respects with all applicable Environmental Requirements.  

(c) Franklin Electric agrees that upon the occurrence of a material Environmental Release at or on any of the Properties it will act immediately 
to investigate the extent of, and to take appropriate remedial action to eliminate, such Environmental Release, whether or not ordered or 
otherwise directed to do so by any Environmental Authority.  

ARTICLE VI  

DEFAULTS  

SECTION 6.01. Events of Default. If one or more of the following events ("Events of Default") shall have occurred and be continuing:  

(a) any Borrower shall fail to pay when due any principal of any Loan or shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan within 10 Domestic 
Business Days after such interest shall become due, or shall fail to pay any fee or other amount payable hereunder within 10 Domestic Business 
Days after such fee or other amount becomes due; or  

(b) Franklin Electric shall fail to observe or perform any covenant contained in Sections 5.02(ii), 5.03 to 5.11, inclusive, or Section 5.14; or  

(c) Franklin Electric shall fail to observe or perform any covenant or agreement contained or incorporated by reference in this Agreement 
(other than those covered by clause (a) or (b) above) for thirty days after the earlier of (i) the first day on which any Responsible Officer has 
knowledge of such failure or (ii) written notice thereof has been given to Franklin Electric by the Agent at the request of any Bank; or  

(d) any representation, warranty, certification or statement made or deemed made by any Borrower in this Agreement or by any Subsidiary 
Guarantor in any Subsidiary Guaranty to which such Subsidiary Guarantor is a party or in any certificate, financial statement (other than any 
projections made in such financial statement) or other document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or  



any Subsidiary Guaranty shall prove to have been incorrect or misleading in any material respect when made (or deemed made); or  

(e) Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary shall fail to make any payment in respect of Indebtedness outstanding in an aggregate amount exceeding 
$3,000,000 (other than the Notes) when due or within any applicable grace period; or  

(f) any event or condition shall occur which results in the acceleration of the maturity of Indebtedness outstanding in an aggregate amount 
exceeding $3,000,000 of Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary or the mandatory prepayment or purchase of such Indebtedness by Franklin 
Electric (or its designee) or such Subsidiary (or its designee) prior to the scheduled maturity thereof, or enables the holders of such 
Indebtedness or any Person acting on such holders' behalf to accelerate the maturity thereof or require the mandatory prepayment or purchase 
thereof prior to the scheduled maturity thereof, without regard to whether such holders or other Person shall have exercised or waived their 
right to do so; or  

(g) Franklin Electric, any other Borrower or any Subsidiary shall commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, 
reorganization or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect 
or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its property, or 
shall consent to any such relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or other proceeding 
commenced against it, or shall make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally, or shall admit in writing its 
inability, to pay its debts as they become due, or shall take any corporate action to authorize any of the foregoing; or  

(h) an involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against Franklin Electric, any other Borrower or any Subsidiary seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter 
in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its 
property, and such involuntary case or other proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed for a period of 60 days; or an order for relief 
shall be entered against Franklin Electric, any other Borrower or any Subsidiary under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter in 
effect; or  

(i) Franklin Electric or any member of the Controlled Group shall fail to pay when due any material amount which it shall have become liable 
to pay to the PBGC or to a Plan under Title IV of ERISA; or notice of intent to terminate a Plan or Plans shall be filed under Title IV of ERISA 
by Franklin Electric, any member of the Controlled Group, any plan administrator or any combination of the foregoing which results in liability 
of Franklin Electric or any member of the Controlled Group of greater than $2,000,000; or the PBGC shall institute proceedings under Title IV 
of ERISA to terminate or to cause a trustee to be appointed to administer any such Plan or Plans or a proceeding shall be instituted by a 
fiduciary of any such Plan or Plans to enforce Section515 or 4219(c)(5) of ERISA and such proceeding shall not have been dismissed within 60 
days thereafter; or a condition shall exist by reason of which the PBGC would be entitled to obtain a decree adjudicating that any such  



Plan or Plans must be terminated; or Franklin Electric or any other member of the Controlled Group shall incur any withdrawal liability in 
excess of $2,000,000 with respect to a Multiemployer Plan; or  

(j) one or more judgments or orders for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of $2,000,000 shall be rendered against 
Franklin Electric or any Subsidiary and such judgment or order shall continue unsatisfied, unbonded and unstayed for a period of 60 days; or  

(k) (i) any Person or two or more Persons acting in concert shall have acquired beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule13d-3 of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of 35% or more of the outstanding shares of the voting stock 
of Franklin Electric; or (ii) except as may occur solely as a result of natural disasters or other accidental causes, as of any date a majority of the 
Board of Directors of Franklin Electric consists of individuals who were not either (A) directors of Franklin Electric as of the corresponding 
date of the previous year, (B)selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of Franklin Electric of which a majority 
consisted of individuals described in clause (A), or (C)selected or nominated to become directors by the Board of Directors of Franklin Electric 
of which a majority consisted of individuals described in clause (A) and individuals described in clause (B); or  

(l) any provision of Article XI shall cease to be in full force and effect with respect to Franklin Electric, or Franklin Electric or any Person 
acting on behalf of Franklin Electric shall so assert in writing; or  

(m) any material provision of any Subsidiary Guaranty shall cease to be in full force and effect with respect to the Subsidiary Guarantor party 
to such Subsidiary Guaranty, or such Subsidiary Guarantor or any Person acting on behalf of such Subsidiary Guarantor shall so assert in 
writing;  

then, and in every such event, the Agent shall (i)if requested by the Required Banks, by notice to Franklin Electric terminate the Commitments 
and they shall thereupon terminate, and (ii) if requested by the Required Banks, by notice to Franklin Electric declare the Notes (together with 
accrued interest thereon) and all other amounts payable hereunder and under the other Loan Documents to be, and the Notes (together will all 
accrued interest thereon) and all other amounts payable hereunder and under the other Loan Documents shall thereupon become, immediately 
due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by Franklin Electric; 
provided that if any Event of Default specified in clause (g) or (h) above occurs with respect to Franklin Electric, without any notice to Franklin 
Electric or any other act by the Agent or the Banks, the Commitments shall thereupon automatically terminate and the Notes (together with 
accrued interest thereon) and all other amounts payable hereunder and under the other Loan Documents shall automatically become 
immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by Franklin 
Electric. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agent shall have available to it all other remedies at law or equity, and shall exercise any one or all 
of them at the request of the Required Banks.  



SECTION 6.02. Notice of Default. The Agent shall give notice to Franklin Electric of any Default under Section6.01(c) promptly upon being 
requested to do so by any Bank and shall thereupon notify all the Banks thereof.  

ARTICLE VII  

THE AGENT  

SECTION 7.01. Appointment, Powers and Immunities. Each Bank hereby irrevocably appoints and authorizes the Agent to act as its agent 
hereunder and under the other Loan Documents with such powers as are specifically delegated to the Agent by the terms hereof and thereof, 
together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Agent: (a) shall have no duties or responsibilities except as expressly 
set forth in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and shall not by reason of this Agreement or any other Loan Document be a trustee 
for any Bank; (b) shall not be responsible to the Banks for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties contained in this Agreement or 
any other Loan Document, or in any certificate or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by any Bank under, this Agreement 
or any other Loan Document, or for the validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other Loan 
Document or any other document referred to or provided for herein or therein or for any failure by Franklin Electric or any other Borrower to 
perform any of its obligations hereunder or thereunder; (c) shall not be required to initiate or conduct any litigation or collection proceedings 
hereunder or under any other Loan Document except to the extent requested by the Required Banks, and then only on terms and conditions 
satisfactory to the Agent, and (d) shall not be responsible for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it hereunder or under any other Loan 
Document or any other document or instrument referred to or provided for herein or therein or in connection herewith or therewith, except for 
its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent may employ agents and attorneys- in-fact and shall not be responsible for the 
negligence or misconduct of any such agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care. The provisions of this Article VII are 
solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Banks, and the Borrowers shall not have any rights as a third party beneficiary of any of the 
provisions hereof. In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement and under the other Loan Documents, the Agent shall act solely 
as agent of the Banks and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed any obligation towards or relationship of agency or trust 
with or for the Borrowers. The duties of the Agent shall be ministerial and administrative in nature, and the Agent shall not have by reason of 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Bank.  

SECTION 7.02. Reliance by Agent. The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any certification, notice or other communication (including any 
thereof by telephone, telefax, telegram or cable) believed by it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed or sent by or on behalf of the 
proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and statements of legal counsel, independent accountants or other experts selected by the Agent. As 
to any matters not expressly provided for by this Agreement or any other Loan Document, the Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in 
acting, or in refraining from acting, hereunder and thereunder in accordance with instructions signed by the Required Banks, and such 
instructions of the Required Banks in any action taken or failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding on all of the Banks.  



SECTION 7.03. Defaults. The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default (other than 
the non-payment of principal of or interest on the Loans) unless the Agent has received notice from a Bank or Franklin Electric specifying such 
Default or Event of Default and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default". In the event that the Agent receives such a notice of the 
occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default, the Agent shall give prompt notice thereof to the Banks. The Agent shall give each Bank 
prompt notice of each non-payment of principal of or interest on the Loans, whether or not it has received any notice of the occurrence of such 
non-payment. The Agent shall (subject to  
Section 9.05) take such action with respect to such Default or Event of Default as shall be directed by the Required Banks, provided that, unless 
and until the Agent shall have received such directions, the Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking 
such action, with respect to such Default or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable in the best interests of the Banks.  

SECTION 7.04. Rights of Agent as a Bank. With respect to the Loans made by it, Wachovia in its capacity as a Bank hereunder shall have the 
same rights and powers hereunder as any other Bank and may exercise the same as though it were not acting as the Agent, and the term "Bank" 
or "Banks" shall, unless the context otherwise indicates, include Wachovia in its individual capacity. The Agent may (without having to 
account therefor to any Bank) accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with 
any Borrower (and any of its Affiliates) as if it were not acting as the Agent, and the Agent may accept fees and other consideration from any 
Borrower (in addition to any agency fees and arrangement fees heretofore agreed to between Franklin Electric and the Agent) for services in 
connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document or otherwise without having to account for the same to the Banks.  

SECTION 7.05. Indemnification. Each Bank severally agrees to indemnify the Agent, to the extent the Agent shall not have been reimbursed 
by the Borrowers, ratably in accordance with its Commitment, for any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
judgments, suits, costs, expenses (including, without limitation, counsel fees and disbursements) or disbursements of any kind and nature 
whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any 
other Loan Document or any other documents contemplated by or referred to herein or therein or the transactions contemplated hereby or 
thereby (excluding, unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the normal administrative costs and expenses incident to the 
performance of its agency duties hereunder) or the enforcement of any of the terms hereof or thereof or any such other documents; provided, 
however, that no Bank shall be liable for any of the foregoing to the extent they arise from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Agent. If any indemnity furnished to the Agent for any purpose shall, in the opinion of the Agent, be insufficient or become impaired, the 
Agent may call for additional indemnity and cease, or not commence, to do the acts indemnified against until such additional indemnity is 
furnished.  

SECTION 7.06. CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES. THE AGENT SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE TO ANY BANK, ANY 
BORROWER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY EXEMPLARY OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES WHICH MAY BE 
ALLEGED AS A RESULT OF THIS AGREEMENT, THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.  



SECTION 7.07. Payee of Note Treated as Owner. The Agent may deem and treat the payee of any Note as the owner thereof for all purposes 
hereof unless and until a written notice of the assignment or transfer thereof shall have been filed with the Agent and the provisions of Section 
9.07(c) have been satisfied. Any requests, authority or consent of any Person who at the time of making such request or giving such authority 
or consent is the holder of any Note shall be conclusive and binding on any subsequent holder, transferee or assignee of that Note or of any 
Note or Notes issued in exchange therefor or replacement thereof.  

SECTION 7.08. Non-Reliance on Agent and Other Banks. Each Bank agrees that it has, independently and without reliance on the Agent or 
any other Bank, and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis of the Borrowers and 
decision to enter into this Agreement and that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Bank, and based on such 
documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own analysis and decisions in taking or not taking 
action under this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. The Agent shall not be required to keep itself (or any Bank) informed as to 
the performance or observance by the Borrowers of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or any other document referred to or 
provided for herein or therein or to inspect the properties or books of the Borrowers or any other Person. Except for notices, reports and other 
documents and information expressly required to be furnished to the Banks by the Agent hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the 
Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Bank with any credit or other information concerning the affairs, financial 
condition or business of the Borrowers or any other Person (or any of their Affiliates) which may come into the possession of the Agent.  

SECTION 7.09. Failure to Act. Except for action expressly required of the Agent hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, the Agent 
shall in all cases be fully justified in failing or refusing to act hereunder and thereunder unless it shall receive further assurances to its 
satisfaction by the Banks of their indemnification obligations under Section 7.05 against any and all liability and expense which may be 
incurred by the Agent by reason of taking, continuing to take, or failing to take any such action.  

SECTION 7.10. Resignation or Removal of Agent. Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor Agent as provided below, the 
Agent may resign at any time by giving notice thereof to the Banks and Franklin Electric and the Agent may be removed at any time with or 
without cause by the Required Banks. Upon any such resignation or removal, the Required Banks shall have the right to appoint a successor 
Agent (subject to the approval of Franklin Electric if such successor Agent is not a Bank). If no successor Agent shall have been so appointed 
by the Required Banks and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent's notice of resignation or the Required 
Banks' removal of the retiring Agent, then the retiring Agent may, on behalf of the Banks, appoint a successor Agent (subject to the approval of 
Franklin Electric if such successor Agent is not a Bank). Any successor Agent shall be a bank, which has a combined capital and surplus of at 
least $500,000,000. Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Agent hereunder by a successor Agent, such successor Agent shall thereupon 
succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged 
from its duties and obligations hereunder. After any retiring Agent's resignation or removal hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this Article 
VII shall continue in  



effect for its benefit in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was acting as the Agent hereunder.  

ARTICLE VIII  

CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES; COMPENSATION  

SECTION 8.01. Basis for Determining Interest Rate Inadequate or Unfair. If on or prior to the first day of any Interest Period:  

(a) the Agent determines that deposits in Dollars (in the applicable amounts) are not being offered in the relevant market for such Interest 
Period, or  

(b) the Required Banks advise the Agent that the London Interbank Offered Rate or IBOR, as the case may be, as determined by the Agent will 
not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Banks of funding the relevant type of Fixed Rate Loans for such Interest Period,  

the Agent shall forthwith give notice thereof to Franklin Electric and the Banks, whereupon until the Agent notifies Franklin Electric that the 
circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligations of the Banks to make the type of Fixed Rate Loans specified in 
such notice shall be suspended. Unless the relevant Borrower notifies the Agent at least 2 Domestic Business Days before the date of any 
Borrowing of such type of Fixed Rate Loans for which a Notice of Borrowing has previously been given that it elects not to borrow on such 
date, such Borrowing shall instead be made as a Base Rate Borrowing.  

SECTION 8.02. Illegality. If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any applicable law, rule or regulation, or any change in any existing or 
future law, rule or regulation, or any change in the interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental authority, central bank or 
comparable agency charged with the interpretation or administration thereof (any such authority, bank or agency being referred to as an 
"Authority" and any such event being referred to as a "Change of Law"), or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending Office) with any request 
or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Authority shall make it unlawful or impossible for any Bank (or its Lending Office) 
to make, maintain or fund its Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans and such Bank shall so notify the Agent, the Agent shall forthwith 
give notice thereof to the other Banks and Franklin Electric, whereupon until such Bank notifies Franklin Electric and the Agent that the 
circumstances giving rise to such suspension no longer exist, the obligation of such Bank to make Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency 
Loans, as the case may be, shall be suspended. Before giving any notice to the Agent pursuant to this Section, such Bank shall designate a 
different Lending Office if such designation will avoid the need for giving such notice and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise 
disadvantageous to such Bank. If such Bank shall determine that it may not lawfully continue to maintain and fund any of its outstanding Euro-
Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, as the case may be, to maturity and shall so specify in such notice, the relevant Borrower shall 
immediately prepay in full the then outstanding principal amount of each Euro-Dollar Loan or Foreign Currency Loan, as the case may be, of 
such Bank, together with accrued interest thereon and any amount due such Bank pursuant to Section 8.05(a). Concurrently with prepaying 
each such Euro-Dollar Loan or Foreign Currency Loan, as the case may be, such  



Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an equal principal amount from such Bank (on which interest and principal shall be payable 
contemporaneously with the related Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans, as the case may be, of the other Banks), and such Bank 
shall make such a Base Rate Loan.  

SECTION 8.03. Increased Cost and Reduced Return. (a) If after the date hereof, a Change of Law or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending 
Office) with any request or directive made or issued after the date hereof (whether or not having the force of law) of any Authority:  

(i) shall subject any Bank (or its Lending Office) to any tax, duty or other charge with respect to its Fixed Rate Loans, its Notes or its obligation 
to make Fixed Rate Loans, or shall change the basis of taxation of payments to any Bank (or its Lending Office) of the principal of or interest 
on its Fixed Rate Loans or any other amounts due under this Agreement in respect of its Fixed Rate Loans or its obligation to make Fixed Rate 
Loans (except for (A) taxes imposed on or measured by the income of such Bank and franchise taxes imposed on such Bank by the jurisdiction 
under the laws of which such Bank is organized or any political subdivision thereof (including for the purpose of this clause (A) with respect to 
any Bank organized under the laws of one of the states of the United States, United States federal income taxes) and (B) taxes imposed on the 
income of such Bank and franchise taxes imposed on such Bank by the jurisdiction of such Bank's applicable Lending Office or any political 
subdivision thereof); or  

(ii) shall impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement (including, without limitation, any such 
requirement imposed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, but excluding (A) with respect to any Foreign Currency Loan 
any such requirement included in an applicable Adjusted IBOR Rate and (B) with respect to any Euro-Dollar Loan any such requirement 
included in an applicable Euro- Dollar Reserve Percentage) against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any 
Bank (or its Lending Office); or  

(iii) shall impose on any Bank (or its Lending Office) or on the London interbank market any other condition affecting its Fixed Rate Loans, its 
Notes or its obligation to make Fixed Rate Loans;  

and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to such Bank (or its Lending Office) of making or maintaining any Fixed Rate 
Loan, or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Bank (or its Lending Office) under this Agreement or under its Notes 
with respect thereto, by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then, within 15days after demand by such Bank (with a copy to the 
Agent), the relevant Borrower shall pay to such Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such increased cost 
or reduction.  

(b) If any Bank shall have determined that the adoption after the date hereof of any applicable law, rule or regulation regarding capital 
adequacy, or any change after the date hereof in any existing or future law, rule or regulation, or any change after the date hereof in the 
interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any Bank (or its Lending Office) with any request or directive made after the date 
hereof regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) of any Authority, has or  



would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Bank's capital as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that 
which such Bank could have achieved but for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Bank's policies with respect 
to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Bank to be material, then from time to time, within 15 days after demand by such Bank, 
Franklin Electric shall pay to such Bank such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Bank for such reduction.  

(c) Each Bank will promptly notify Franklin Electric and the Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, occurring after the date hereof, 
which will entitle such Bank to compensation pursuant to this Section and will designate a different Lending Office if such designation will 
avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such Bank, be otherwise disadvantageous to 
such Bank. Notice by any Bank hereunder will be deemed to have been delivered promptly if given within 90 days after such Bank shall have 
determined it is entitled to compensation as a result of the occurrence of any such event. Franklin Electric shall not be liable for compensation 
pursuant to this Section 8.03 for which prompt notice has not been given. A certificate of any Bank claiming compensation under this Section 
and setting forth the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In 
determining such amount, such Bank may use any reasonable averaging and attribution methods.  

(d) The provisions of this Section 8.03 shall be applicable with respect to any Transferee, and any calculations required by such provisions 
shall be made based upon the circumstances of such Transferee.  

SECTION 8.04. Base Rate Loans or Other Fixed Rate Loans Substituted for Affected Fixed Rate Loans (a) If (i)the obligation of any Bank to 
make or maintain any type of Fixed Rate Loans has been suspended pursuant to Section 8.02 or (ii) any Bank has demanded compensation 
under Section 8.03, and Franklin Electric shall, by at least 5 Euro-Dollar Business Days' or Foreign Currency Business Days', as applicable, 
prior notice to such Bank through the Agent, have elected that the provisions of this Section shall apply to such Bank, then, unless and until 
such Bank notifies Franklin Electric that the circumstances giving rise to such suspension or demand for compensation no longer apply:  

(A) all Loans which would otherwise be made by such Bank as Foreign Currency Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans, as the case may be, shall be 
made instead either (A) as Base Rate Loans, (B) if such suspension or demand for compensation relates to Euro-Dollar Loans, but not Foreign 
Currency Loans, as Foreign Currency Loans, or (C) if such demand for compensation relates to Foreign Currency Loans, but not Euro-Dollar 
Loans, as Euro-Dollar Loans, as Franklin Electric may elect in the notice to such Bank through the Agent referred to hereinabove (in all cases 
interest and principal on such Loans shall be payable contemporaneously with the related Fixed Rate Loans of the other Banks), and  

(B) after each of its Foreign Currency Loans or Euro-Dollar Loans, as the case may be, has been repaid, all payments of principal which would 
otherwise be applied to repay such Fixed Rate Loans shall be applied to repay its Base Rate Loans instead.  



In the event that Franklin Electric shall elect that the provisions of this  
Section shall apply to any Bank, Franklin Electric shall remain liable for, and shall pay to such Bank as provided herein, all amounts due such 
Bank under  
Section 8.03 in respect of the period preceding the date of conversion of such Bank's Loans resulting from Franklin Electric's election.  

(b) If any Bank (the Requesting Bank) gives any notice to Franklin Electric pursuant to Section 8.02 suspending such Bank's obligation to 
make Euro-Dollar Loans or Foreign Currency Loans or demands compensation or any other amount under Section 8.03, then upon written 
notice to the Agent and the Requesting Bank given no later than 60 days after such suspension or demand, Franklin Electric shall have the right 
to (i) seek a bank or banks (the Replacement Bank), satisfactory to Franklin Electric and the Agent (whose approval will not be unreasonably 
withheld), to purchase all of the Requesting Bank's rights and assume its obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan 
Documents pursuant to Section 9.07 or (ii) terminate the Requesting Bank's Commitment upon payment to the Requesting Bank of its share of 
the outstanding principal amount of all Loans, all accrued interest thereon and any other amounts payable to the Requesting Bank hereunder; 
provided that prior to any purchase by a Replacement Bank under clause (i) above or any termination of any Commitment under clause (ii) 
above, the remaining Banks shall have the opportunity (which opportunity shall allow such remaining Banks at least 15 Domestic Business 
Days in which to make a decision) ratably to purchase (in the form of an Assignment and Acceptance in accordance with their respective 
percentage of the aggregate amount of the Commitments) the Requesting Bank's rights and assume its obligations under this Agreement, the 
Notes and the other Loan Documents pursuant to Section 9.07. The Requesting Bank shall execute or cause to be executed all instruments and 
documents reasonably requested by Franklin Electric or the Agent in order to effect any purchase and assumption or termination under this 
Section 8.04(b).  

SECTION 8.05. Compensation. Upon the request of any Bank, delivered to Franklin Electric and the Agent, Franklin Electric shall pay to such 
Bank such amount or amounts as shall compensate such Bank for any loss, cost or expense incurred by such Bank as a result of:  

(a) any payment or prepayment of a Fixed Rate Loan on a date other than the last day of an Interest Period for such Fixed Rate Loan;  

(b) any failure by the Borrower to prepay a Fixed Rate Loan on the date for such prepayment specified in the relevant notice of prepayment 
hereunder;  

(c) any failure by the Borrower to borrow a Fixed Rate Loan on the date for the Fixed Rate Borrowing of which such Fixed Rate Loan is a part 
specified in the applicable Notice of Borrowing delivered pursuant to Section  
2.02 (other than any failure arising as a result of a notice given by the Agent pursuant to Section 8.01); or  

(d) any failure by a Borrower to pay a Foreign Currency Loan in the applicable Foreign Currency;  

such compensation to include, without limitation, as applicable: (A) an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (x) the amount of interest which 
would have accrued on the amount so paid or prepaid or not prepaid or borrowed for the  



period from the date of such payment, prepayment or failure to prepay or borrow to the last day of the then current Interest Period for such 
Fixed Rate Loan (or, in the case of a failure to prepay or borrow, the Interest Period for such Fixed Rate Loan which would have commenced 
on the date of such failure to prepay or borrow) at the applicable rate of interest for such Fixed Rate Loan provided for herein over (y) the 
amount of interest (as reasonably determined by such Bank) such Bank would have paid on (i) deposits in Dollars of comparable amounts 
having terms comparable to such period placed with it by leading banks in the London interbank market (if such Fixed Rate Loan is a Euro-
Dollar Loan), or (ii) any deposit in a Foreign Currency of comparable amounts having terms comparable to such period placed with it by 
leading banks in the applicable interbank market for such Foreign Currency (if such Fixed Rate Loan is a Foreign Currency Loan) or (B) any 
such loss, cost or expense incurred by such Bank in liquidating or closing out any foreign currency contract undertaken by such Bank in 
funding or maintaining such Fixed Rate Loan (if such Fixed Rate Loan is a Foreign Currency Loan).  

SECTION 8.06. Failure to Pay in Foreign Currency. If any Borrower is unable for any reason to effect payment in a Foreign Currency as 
required by this Agreement or if any Borrower shall default in the Foreign Currency, each Bank may, through the Agent, require such payment 
to be made in Dollars in the Dollar Equivalent amount of such payment. In any case in which any Borrower shall make such payment in 
Dollars, such Borrower agrees to hold the Banks harmless from any loss incurred by the Banks arising from any change in the value of Dollars 
in relation to such Foreign Currency between the date such payment became due and the date of payment thereof.  

SECTION 8.07. Judgment Currency. If for the purpose of obtaining judgment in any court or enforcing any such judgment it is necessary to 
convert any amount due in any Foreign Currency into any other currency, the rate of exchange used shall be the Agent's spot rate of exchange 
for the purchase of the Foreign Currency with such other currency at the close of business on the Foreign Currency Business Day preceding the 
date on which judgment is given or any order for payment is made. The obligation of the relevant Borrower in respect of any amount due from 
it hereunder shall, notwithstanding any judgment or order for a liquidated sum or sums in respect of amounts due hereunder or under any 
judgment or order in any other currency or otherwise be discharged only to the extent that on the Foreign Currency Business Day following 
receipt by the Agent of any payment in a currency other than the relevant Foreign Currency the Agent is able (in accordance with normal 
banking procedures) to purchase the relevant Foreign Currency with such other currency. If the amount of the relevant Foreign Currency that 
the Agent is able to purchase with such other currency is less than the amount due in the relevant Foreign Currency, notwithstanding any 
judgment or order, such Borrower shall indemnify the Banks for the shortfall.  

ARTICLE IX  

MISCELLANEOUS  

SECTION 9.01. Notices. All notices, requests and other communications to any party hereunder shall be in writing (including facsimile 
transmission or similar writing) and shall be given to such party at its address or telecopy number set forth on the signature pages hereof or 
such other address or telecopy number as such party may hereafter specify for the purpose by notice to each other party. Each such notice, 
request or other  



communication shall be effective (i) if given by telecopier, when such telecopy is transmitted to the telecopy number specified in this Section 
and the telecopy machine used by the sender provides a written confirmation that such telecopy has been so transmitted or receipt of such 
telecopy transmission is otherwise confirmed, (ii) if given by mail, 72hours after such communication is deposited in the mails with first class 
postage prepaid, addressed as aforesaid, and (iii) if given by any other means, when delivered at the address specified in this Section; provided 
that notices to the Agent under Article II or Article VIII shall not be effective until received.  

SECTION 9.02. No Waivers. No failure or delay by the Agent or any Bank in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder or under any 
Note or other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further 
exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided shall be cumulative and not 
exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.  

SECTION 9.03. Expenses; Documentary Taxes; Indemnification. (a) Franklin Electric shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the 
Agent, including fees and disbursements of special counsel for the Agent (but subject to the provisions of the Agent's Letter Agreement), in 
connection with the preparation of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, any waiver or consent hereunder or thereunder or any 
amendment hereof or thereof or any Default or alleged Default hereunder or thereunder that has occurred and, to the knowledge of the Agent, is 
continuing and (ii) if a Default occurs and, to the knowledge of the Agent or such Bank (as the case may be), is continuing all reasonable out-
of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent or any Bank, including fees and disbursements of counsel, in connection with collection and other 
enforcement proceedings resulting therefrom, including out-of-pocket expenses incurred in enforcing this Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents.  

(b) Franklin Electric shall indemnify the Agent and each Bank against any transfer taxes, documentary taxes, assessments or charges made by 
any Authority by reason of the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.  

(c) Franklin Electric shall indemnify the Agent, the Banks and each Affiliate thereof and their respective directors, officers, employees and 
agents from, and hold each of them harmless against, any and all losses, liabilities, claims or damages to which any of them may become 
subject, insofar as such losses, liabilities, claims or damages arise out of or result from any actual or proposed use by any Borrower of the 
proceeds of any extension of credit by any Bank hereunder or breach by any Borrower of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or from 
investigation, litigation (including, without limitation, any actions taken by the Agent or any of the Banks to enforce this Agreement or any of 
the other Loan Documents) or other proceeding (including, without limitation, any threatened investigation or proceeding) relating to the 
foregoing, and Franklin Electric shall reimburse the Agent and each Bank, and each Affiliate thereof and their respective directors, officers, 
employees and agents, upon demand for any expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable legal fees) incurred in connection with any 
such investigation or proceeding; but excluding any such losses, liabilities, claims, damages or expenses incurred by reason of the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of the Person to be indemnified.  

SECTION 9.04. Set-offs; Sharing of Set-Offs. (a) Each Borrower hereby grants to each Bank, as security for the full and punctual payment and 
performance of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement, a  



continuing lien on and security interest in all deposits and other sums credited by or due from such Bank to such Borrower or subject to 
withdrawal by such Borrower; and regardless of the adequacy of any collateral or other means of obtaining repayment of such obligations, each 
Bank may at any time upon or after the occurrence of any Event of Default (so long as such Bank lacks actual knowledge that such Event of 
Default is no longer continuing), and without notice to any Borrower, set off the whole or any portion or portions of any or all such deposits 
and other sums against such obligations, whether or not any other Person or Persons could also withdraw money therefrom.  

(b) Each Bank agrees that if it shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, receive payment of a proportion of the 
aggregate amount of principal and interest owing with respect to the Notes held by it which is greater than the proportion received by any other 
Bank in respect of the aggregate amount of all principal and interest owing with respect to the Notes held by such other Bank, the Bank 
receiving such proportionately greater payment shall purchase such participations in the Notes held by the other Banks owing to such other 
Banks, and/or such other adjustments shall be made, as may be required so that all such payments of principal and interest with respect to the 
Notes held by the Banks owing to such other Banks shall be shared by the Banks pro rata; provided that (i) nothing in this Section shall impair 
the right of any Bank to exercise any right of set-off or counterclaim it may have and to apply the amount subject to such exercise to the 
payment of indebtedness of any Borrower other than its indebtedness under the Notes, and (ii) if all or any portion of such payment received by 
the purchasing Bank is thereafter recovered from such purchasing Bank, such purchase from each other Bank shall be rescinded and such other 
Bank shall repay to the purchasing Bank the purchase price of such participation to the extent of such recovery together with an amount equal 
to such other Bank's ratable share (according to the proportion of (x) the amount of such other Bank's required repayment to (y) the total 
amount so recovered from the purchasing Bank) of any interest or other amount paid or payable by the purchasing Bank in respect of the total 
amount so recovered. Each Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any holder of a 
participation in a Note, whether or not acquired pursuant to the foregoing arrangements, may exercise rights of set- off or counterclaim and 
other rights with respect to such participation as fully as if such holder of a participation were a direct creditor of such Borrower in the amount 
of such participation.  

SECTION 9.05. Amendments and Waivers. (a) Any provision of this Agreement, the Notes or any other Loan Documents may be amended or 
waived if, but only if, such amendment or waiver is in writing and is signed by the Borrowers and the Required Banks (and, if the rights or 
duties of the Agent are affected thereby, by the Agent); provided that no such amendment or waiver shall, unless signed by all the Banks, (i) 
change the Commitment of any Bank or subject any Bank to any additional obligation, (ii) change the principal of or rate of interest on any 
Loan or any fees hereunder, (iii) change the date fixed for any payment of principal of or interest on any Loan or any fees hereunder, (iv) 
change the amount of principal, interest or fees due on any date fixed for the payment thereof, (v) change the percentage of the Commitments 
or of the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Notes, or the percentage of Banks, which shall be required for the Banks or any of them to 
take any action under this Section or any other provision of this Agreement,  
(vi)change the manner of application of any payments made under this Agreement or the Notes, (vii) release or substitute all or any substantial 
part of the collateral (if any) held as security for the Loans, or (viii) release any guaranty given to support payment of the Loans; provided 
further, however, that if one or more Banks (each a Declining Bank) refuse to sign any amendment  



or waiver which is otherwise signed by the Required Banks and which, but for this proviso, would (under the immediately preceding proviso) 
require the signature of all of the Banks in order to become effective, then Franklin Electric shall have the right to (A) seek a bank or banks (the 
New Bank), satisfactory to Franklin Electric and the Agent (whose approval will not be unreasonably withheld), to purchase all of the 
Declining Bank's rights and assume its obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents pursuant to Section 9.07 or 
(B) terminate the Declining Bank's Commitment upon payment to the Declining Bank of its share of the outstanding principal amount of all 
Loans, all accrued interest thereon and any other amounts payable to the Declining Bank hereunder; provided that prior to any purchase by a 
New Bank under clause (A) above or any termination of any Commitment under clause (B) above, the remaining Banks shall have the 
opportunity (which opportunity shall allow such remaining Banks at least 15 Domestic Business Days in which to make a decision) ratably to 
purchase (in the form of an Assignment and Acceptance in accordance with their respective percentage of the aggregate amount of the 
Commitments) the Declining Bank's rights and assume its obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents pursuant 
to Section 9.07. The Declining Bank shall execute or cause to be executed all instruments and documents reasonably requested by Franklin 
Electric or the Agent in order to effect any purchase and assumption or termination under this Section 9.05(a). Once all Declining Banks which 
have refused to sign an amendment or waiver otherwise requiring the signature of all the Banks have either (x) had their Commitments 
terminated and all amounts owing to them hereunder paid or (y) assigned all of their rights and obligations under this Agreement to one or 
more existing Banks or New Banks (all in accordance with the second proviso of this Section 9.05(a)), such amendment or waiver signed by 
the Required Banks shall become effective.  

(b) The Borrowers will not solicit, request or negotiate for or with respect to any proposed waiver or amendment of any of the provisions of 
this Agreement unless each Bank shall be informed thereof by Franklin Electric and shall be afforded an opportunity of considering the same 
and shall be supplied by Franklin Electric with sufficient information to enable it to make an informed decision with respect thereto. Executed 
or true and correct copies of any waiver or consent effected pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall be delivered by Franklin Electric 
to each Bank forthwith following the date on which the same shall have been executed and delivered by the requisite percentage of Banks. The 
Borrowers will not, directly or indirectly, pay or cause to be paid any remuneration, whether by way of supplemental or additional interest, fee 
or otherwise, to any Bank (in its capacity as such) as consideration for or as an inducement to the entering into by such Bank of any waiver or 
amendment of any of the terms and provisions of this Agreement unless such remuneration is concurrently paid, on the same terms, ratably to 
all such Banks.  

SECTION 9.06. Margin Stock Collateral. Each of the Banks represents to the Agent and each of the other Banks that it in good faith is not, 
directly or indirectly (by negative pledge or otherwise), relying upon any Margin Stock as collateral in the extension or maintenance of the 
credit provided for in this Agreement.  

SECTION 9.07. Successors and Assigns. (a)The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and assigns; provided that no Borrower may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights under this 
Agreement.  



(b) Any Bank may at any time sell to one or more Persons (each a "Participant") participating interests in any Loan owing to such Bank, any 
Note held by such Bank, any Commitment hereunder or any other interest of such Bank hereunder. In the event of any such sale by a Bank of a 
participating interest to a Participant, such Bank's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, such Bank shall remain solely 
responsible for the performance thereof, such Bank shall remain the holder of any such Note for all purposes under this Agreement, and the 
Borrowers and the Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Bank in connection with such Bank's rights and obligations under 
this Agreement. In no event shall a Bank that sells a participation be obligated to the Participant to take or refrain from taking any action 
hereunder except that such Bank may agree that it will not (except as provided below), without the consent of the Participant, agree to (i)
postpone any date fixed for the payment of principal of or interest on the related Loan or Loans, (ii) reduce the amount of any principal, interest 
or fees due on any date fixed for the payment thereof with respect to the related Loan or Loans, (iii) any reduction in the rate at which either 
interest is payable thereon or (if the Participant is entitled to any part thereof) commitment fee is payable hereunder from the rate at which the 
Participant is entitled to receive interest or commitment fee (as the case may be) in respect of such participation, (iv)the release or substitution 
of all or any substantial part of the collateral (if any) held as security for the Loans, or (v) the release of any guaranty given to support payment 
of the Loans. Each Bank selling a participating interest in any Loan, Note, Commitment or other interest under this Agreement shall, within 10 
Domestic Business Days of such sale, provide Franklin Electric and the Agent with written notification stating that such sale has occurred and 
identifying the Participant and the interest purchased by such Participant. The Borrowers agree that each Participant shall be entitled to the 
benefits of Article VIII with respect to its participation in Loans outstanding from time to time.  

(c) Any Bank may at any time assign to one or more banks or financial institutions (each an "Assignee") all, or a proportionate part of all, of its 
rights and obligations under this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, and such Assignee shall assume all such rights and 
obligations, pursuant to an Assignment and Acceptance in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K, executed by such Assignee, such transferor 
Bank and the Agent (and, in the case of an Assignee that is not then a Bank or an Affiliate of a Bank, by Franklin Electric); provided that (i)no 
interest may be sold by a Bank pursuant to this paragraph (c) unless the Assignee shall agree to assume ratably equivalent portions of the 
transferor Bank's Commitment,  
(ii)the amount of the Commitment of the assigning Bank subject to such assignment (determined as of the effective date of the assignment) 
shall be equal to $5,000,000 (or any larger multiple of $1,000,000), (iii)no interest may be sold by a Bank pursuant to this paragraph (c) to any 
Assignee that is not then a Bank or an Affiliate of a Bank without the consent of Franklin Electric, and (iv)a Bank may not have more than 2 
Assignees that are not then Banks. Upon (A) execution of the Assignment and Acceptance by such transferor Bank, such Assignee, the Agent 
and (if applicable) Franklin Electric, (B) delivery of an executed copy of the Assignment and Acceptance to Franklin Electric and the Agent, 
(C)payment by such Assignee to such transferor Bank of an amount equal to the purchase price agreed between such transferor Bank and such 
Assignee, and (D) payment by the Assignor or the Assignee of a processing and recordation fee of $2,500 to the Agent, such Assignee shall for 
all purposes be a Bank party to this Agreement and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Bank under this Agreement to the same extent 
as if it were an original party hereto with a Commitment as set forth in such instrument of assumption, and the transferor Bank shall be released 
from its obligations hereunder to a corresponding extent, and no further consent or action by the Borrowers, the Banks or the Agent shall be 
required. Upon the consummation of any transfer to an Assignee pursuant to this paragraph (c), the transferor  



Bank, the Agent and Franklin Electric shall make appropriate arrangements so that, if required, a new Note is issued to each of such Assignee 
and such transferor Bank.  

(d) Subject to the provisions of Section9.08, the Borrowers authorize each Bank to disclose to any Participant or Assignee (each a 
"Transferee") and any prospective Transferee any and all financial and other information in such Bank's possession concerning the Borrowers 
which has been delivered to such Bank by any Borrower pursuant to this Agreement or which has been delivered to such Bank by any 
Borrower in connection with such Bank's credit evaluation prior to entering into this Agreement.  

(e) No Transferee shall be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section8.03 than the transferor Bank would have been entitled to 
receive with respect to the rights transferred, unless such transfer is made with Franklin Electric's prior written consent or by reason of the 
provisions of Section8.02 or 8.03 requiring such Bank to designate a different Lending Office under certain circumstances or at a time when the 
circumstances giving rise to such greater payment did not exist.  

(f) Anything in this Section 9.07 to the contrary notwithstanding, any Bank may assign and pledge all or any portion of the Loans and/or 
obligations owing to it to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United States Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank, provided that any payment in 
respect of such assigned Loans and/or obligations made by any Borrower to the assigning and/or pledging Bank in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement shall satisfy such Borrower's obligations hereunder in respect of such assigned Loans and/or obligations to the extent of such 
payment. No such assignment shall release the assigning and/or pledging Bank from its obligations hereunder.  

SECTION 9.08. Confidentiality. Each Bank agrees to exercise its best efforts to keep any information delivered or made available by any 
Borrower to it which is clearly indicated to be confidential information, confidential from anyone other than persons employed or retained by 
such Bank who are or are expected to become engaged in evaluating, approving, structuring or administering the Loans; provided, however, 
that nothing herein shall prevent any Bank from disclosing such information (i) to any other Bank,  
(ii) upon the order of any court or administrative agency, (iii) upon the request or demand of any regulatory agency or authority having 
jurisdiction over such Bank, (iv) which has been publicly disclosed, (v) to the extent reasonably required in connection with any litigation to 
which the Agent, any Bank or their respective Affiliates may be a party, (vi) to the extent reasonably required in connection with the exercise 
of any remedy hereunder,  
(vii) to such Bank's legal counsel and independent auditors and (viii) to any actual or proposed Participant, Assignee or other Transferee of all 
or part of its rights hereunder which has agreed in writing to be bound by the provisions of this Section 9.08.  

SECTION 9.09. Representation by Banks. Each Bank hereby represents that it is a commercial lender or financial institution which makes 
loans in the ordinary course of its business and that it will make its Loans hereunder for its own account in the ordinary course of such 
business; provided, however, that, subject to Section 9.07, the disposition of the Note or Notes held by that Bank shall at all times be within its 
exclusive control.  



SECTION 9.10. Obligations Several. The obligations of each Bank hereunder are several, and no Bank shall be responsible for the obligations 
or commitment of any other Bank hereunder. Nothing contained in this Agreement and no action taken by the Banks pursuant hereto shall be 
deemed to constitute the Banks to be a partnership, an association, a joint venture or any other kind of entity. The amounts payable at any time 
hereunder to each Bank shall be a separate and independent debt, and each Bank shall be entitled to protect and enforce its rights arising out of 
this Agreement or any other Loan Document and it shall not be necessary for any other Bank to be joined as an additional party in any 
proceeding for such purpose.  

SECTION 9.11. Survival of Certain Obligations. Sections 8.03(a), 8.03(b), 8.05 and 9.03, and the obligations of the Borrowers thereunder, 
shall survive, and shall continue to be enforceable notwithstanding, the termination of this Agreement and the Commitments and the payment 
in full of the principal of and interest on all Loans.  

SECTION 9.12. Georgia Law. This Agreement and each Note shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of 
Georgia.  

SECTION 9.13. Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement, the Notes or any of the other Loan 
Documents should be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions 
contained herein and therein shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall be enforced to the greatest extent permitted by law.  

SECTION 9.14. Interest. In no event shall the amount of interest due or payable hereunder or under the Notes exceed the maximum rate of 
interest allowed by applicable law, and in the event any such payment is inadvertently made to any Bank by any Borrower or inadvertently 
received by any Bank, then such excess sum shall be credited as a payment of principal, unless such Borrower shall notify such Bank in writing 
that it elects to have such excess sum returned forthwith. It is the express intent hereof that no Borrower pay and the Banks not receive, directly 
or indirectly in any manner whatsoever, interest in excess of that which may legally be paid by such Borrower under applicable law.  

SECTION 9.15. Interpretation. No provision of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents shall be construed against or interpreted to 
the disadvantage of any party hereto by any court or other governmental or judicial authority by reason of such party having or being deemed to 
have structured or dictated such provision.  

SECTION 9.16. Consent to Jurisdiction. The Borrowers (a) submit to non-exclusive personal jurisdiction in the State of Georgia, the courts 
thereof and the United States District Courts sitting therein, for the enforcement of this Agreement, the Notes and the other Loan Documents, 
(b) waive any and all personal rights under the law of any jurisdiction to object on any basis (including, without limitation, inconvenience of 
forum) to jurisdiction or venue within the State of Georgia for the purpose of litigation to enforce this Agreement, the Notes or the other Loan 
Documents, and (c) agree that service of process may be made upon it in the manner prescribed in Section 9.01 for the giving of notice to the 
Borrowers. Nothing herein contained, however, shall prevent the Agent from bringing any action or  



exercising any rights against any security and against any Borrower personally, and against any assets of any Borrower, within any other state 
or jurisdiction.  

SECTION 9.17. Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, with the same 
effect as if the signatures thereto and hereto were upon the same instrument.  

ARTICLE X  

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES  
OF ADDITIONAL BORROWERS  

Each Wholly Owned Subsidiary that becomes an Additional Borrower pursuant to Section 2.13 shall, by signing and delivering its Election to 
Participate, represent and warrant as of the date thereof that:  

SECTION 10.01. Corporate Existence and Power. It is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of 
its jurisdiction of incorporation and is, and at the time of each Borrowing by it hereunder will be, a Wholly Owned Subsidiary.  

SECTION 10.02. Corporate and Governmental Authorization; No Contravention. The execution and delivery by it of its Election to Participate 
and its Notes, and the performance by it of its obligations under this Agreement and its Notes, are within its corporate powers, have been duly 
authorized by all necessary corporate action, require no action by or in respect of, or filing with, any governmental body, agency or official and 
do not contravene, or constitute a default under, any provision of applicable law or regulation or of its certificate of incorporation of bylaws, or 
of any agreement, judgment, injunction, order, decree or other instrument binding upon Franklin Electric or such Additional Borrower or result 
in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of Franklin Electric or any of its Subsidiaries.  

SECTION 10.03. Binding Effect. This Agreement constitutes a valid and binding agreement of such Additional Borrower and its Notes, when 
executed and delivered in accordance with this Agreement, will constitute valid and binding obligations of such Additional Borrower, in each 
case enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject in each case to bankruptcy, insolvency and similar laws affecting the enforcement of 
creditors' rights generally and to general principles of equity.  

ARTICLE XI  

GUARANTEE BY FRANKLIN ELECTRIC  

SECTION 11.01. The Guarantee. Franklin Electric unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and punctual payment of all present and 
future indebtedness and other obligations of each Subsidiary Borrower evidenced by or arising out of any Loan Document, including the full 
and punctual payment of principal of and interest on the Notes of each Subsidiary Borrower and the full and punctual payment of all other 
sums now or hereafter owed by any Subsidiary Borrower under any Loan Document as and when the same shall become  



due and payable, whether at maturity or by declaration or otherwise, according to the terms hereof and thereof (including any interest which 
accrues on any of the foregoing obligations after the commencement of any case, proceeding or other action relating to the bankruptcy, 
insolvency or reorganization of any Subsidiary Borrower, whether or not allowed or allowable as a claim in any such proceeding). If any 
Subsidiary Borrower fails punctually to pay the indebtedness and other obligations guaranteed by Franklin Electric hereby, Franklin Electric 
unconditionally agrees to cause such payment to be made punctually as and when the same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity 
or by declaration or otherwise, and as if such payment were made by such Subsidiary Borrower.  

SECTION 11.02. Guarantee Unconditional. The obligations of Franklin Electric under this Article XI shall be unconditional and absolute and, 
without limiting the generality of the foregoing, shall not be released, discharged or otherwise affected by:  

(a) any extension, renewal, settlement, compromise, waiver or release in respect of any obligation of any Subsidiary Borrower under any Loan 
Document by operation of law or otherwise;  

(b) any modification, amendment or waiver of or supplement to any Loan Document;  

(c) any release, impairment, non-perfection or invalidity of any direct or indirect security, or of any guarantee or other liability of any third 
party, for any obligation of any Subsidiary Borrower under any Loan Document;  

(d) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of any Subsidiary Borrower, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or 
other similar proceeding affecting any Subsidiary Borrower or its assets, or any resulting release or discharge of any obligation of any 
Subsidiary Borrower contained in any Loan Document;  

(e) the existence of any claim, set-off or other rights which Franklin Electric (or any Subsidiary Borrower) may have at any time against any 
Bank, the Agent or any other Person, whether or not arising in connection with this Agreement, provided that nothing herein shall prevent the 
assertion of any such claim by separate suit or compulsory counterclaim;  

(f) any invalidity or unenforceability relating to or against any Subsidiary Borrower for any reason of any Loan Document, or any provision of 
applicable law or regulation purporting to prohibit the payment by any Subsidiary Borrower of the principal of or interest on any Note or any 
other amount payable by it under any Loan Document; or  

(g) any other act or omission to act or delay of any kind by any Subsidiary Borrower, any Bank, the Agent or any other Person or any other 
circumstance whatsoever that might, but for the provisions of this Section 11.02, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of Franklin Electric's 
obligations under this Article XI.  



SECTION 11.03. Discharge Only Upon Payment in Full; Reinstatement in Certain Circumstances. Franklin Electric's obligations under this 
Article XI constitute a continuing guaranty and shall remain in full force and effect until the Commitments of each Bank shall have terminated 
and all amounts payable by each Subsidiary Borrower under the Loan Documents shall have been paid in full. If at any time any payment of the 
principal of or interest on any Note or any other amount payable by any Subsidiary Borrower under any Loan Document is rescinded or must 
be otherwise restored or returned upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of such Subsidiary Borrower or otherwise, Franklin 
Electric's obligations under this Article XI with respect to such payment shall be reinstated at such time as though such payment had become 
due but had not been made at such time.  

SECTION 11.04. Waiver. Franklin Electric irrevocably waives acceptance hereof, presentment, demand, protest and any notice not provided 
for herein, as well as any requirement that at any time any action be taken by any Person against any Subsidiary Borrower or any other Person 
or against any security.  

SECTION 11.05. Subrogation. Upon making any payment with respect to the obligations of any Subsidiary Borrower hereunder, Franklin 
Electric shall be subrogated to the rights of the payee against such Subsidiary Borrower with respect to such payment; provided that Franklin 
Electric shall not enforce any payment by way of subrogation against such Subsidiary Borrower so long as any Bank has any Commitment to 
such Subsidiary Borrower hereunder or any interest or fees payable by such Subsidiary Borrower hereunder remain unpaid.  

SECTION 11.06. Stay of Acceleration. If acceleration of the time for payment of any amount payable by any Subsidiary Borrower under any 
Loan Document is stayed upon the insolvency, bankruptcy or reorganization of such Subsidiary Borrower, all such amounts otherwise subject 
to acceleration under the terms of this Agreement shall nonetheless by payable by Franklin Electric hereunder forthwith on demand by the 
Agent made at the request of the Required Banks.  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, under seal, by their respective authorized 
officers as of the day and year first above written.  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

 

 

Attention: Walter R. Gillikin Telecopy number: (404) 332-6898 Telephone number: (404) 332-5747  

By: /s/ JESS B. FORD         (SEAL) 
   ------------------------ 
Title: CFO 
400 East Spring Street 
Bluffton, Indiana 46714 
Attention:  Chief Financial Officer 
  (with a copy to the Treasurer) 
Telecopy number:  (219) 827-5530 
Telephone number: (219) 824-8000 

COMMITMENTS                            WACHOVIA BAN K, N.A., 
-----------                            as Agent and  as a Bank 
$25,000,000 
 
                                       By:                          (SEAL)  
                                          --------- --------------- 
                                       Title: VP 
 
                                       Lending Offi ce 
                                       ------------ -- 
                                       191 Peachtre e Street, N.E. 
                                       Atlanta, Geo rgia  30303-1757 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed, under seal, by their respective authorized 
officers as of the day and year first above written.  

FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

By: (SEAL)  
 
Title: CFO 400 East Spring Street Bluffton, Indiana 46714 Attention: Chief Financial Officer  

 
(with a copy to the Treasurer)  

 
Telecopy number: (219) 827-5530  
Telephone number: (219) 824-8000  

 

Attention: Walter R. Gillikin Telecopy number: (404) 332-6898 Telephone number: (404) 332-5747  

COMMITMENTS                            WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., 
-----------                            as Agent and as a Bank 
$25,000,000 
 
                                       By:  /s/ TODD J. EAGLE       (SEAL) 
                                          ------------------------ 
                                       Title: VP 
 
                                       Lending Office 
                                       -------------- 
                                       191 Peachtree Street, N.E. 
                                       Atlanta, Georgia  30303-1757 



$15,000,000  

BANK OF AMERICA NATIONAL TRUST  
& SAVINGS ASSOCIATION  

 
Lending Office  

 
231 South LaSalle Street Chicago, Illinois 60697 Attention: Paul A. O'Mara Telecopy number: (312) 828-6647 Telephone number: (312) 828-
1630  

TOTAL COMMITMENTS:  
$40,000,000  

By: /s/ MARK F. JACOBS       (SEAL) 
   ------------------------ 
 
Title: Vice President 



SCHEDULE 4.08  

 

                                 Existing Subsidiar ies 
 
Name of Subsidiary                            Juris diction of Incorporation 
------------------                            ----- ------------------------ 
 
Franklin Electric Subsidiaries, Inc. [inactive]             Indiana 
 
FE Petro, Inc.                                              Indiana 
 
Franklin Electric International, Inc.                       Delaware 
 
Franklin Electric of Canada, Limited [inactive]             Canada 
 
Franklin Electric Europa, GmbH                              Germany 
 
Franklin Electric (South Africa) Pty. Limited               South Africa 
 
Franklin Electric Foreign Sales Corporation                 U.S.Virgin Islands  
 
Franklin Electric (International) Pty. Ltd.                 Australia 
 
Motores Franklin S.A. de C.V.                               Mexico 
 
Franklin Electric B.V.                                      Netherlands 
 
Franklin Electric AG                                        Switzerland 
 
Franklin Electric spol S.R.O.                               Czech Republic 
 
Franklin Electric S.R.L.                                    Italy 



SCHEDULE 4.14A-1  

Potentially Responsible Party Designations  

 

1.  Wayne Reclamation & Recycling           Columbi a City, Indiana 
 
2.  I. Jones Recycling                      Covingt on Road, Ft. Wayne, Indiana  
 
3.  PCB Treatment Inc.                      Kansas City, Missouri 
 
4.  Diaz Refinery                           Diaz, A rkansas 
 
5.  Enviro Chem Third Site                  Zionsvi lle, Indiana 



SCHEDULE 4.14A-2  

Properties Identified on Environmental Lists  

None  



EXHIBIT A  

DOLLAR NOTE  

$_____________ Atlanta, Georgia December 30, 1997  

For value received, [name of Borrower], a ________ corporation (the "Borrower"), promises to pay to the order of ________ the "Bank"), for 
the account of its Lending Office, the principal sum of ________ and No/100 Dollars ($_______), or such lesser amount as shall equal the 
unpaid principal amount of each Dollar Loan made by the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement referred to below, on the 
dates and in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement. The Borrower promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of this 
Dollar Note on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the Credit Agreement. Interest on any overdue principal of and, to the extent 
permitted by law, overdue interest on the principal amount hereof shall bear interest at the Default Rate, as provided for in the Credit 
Agreement. All such payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the United States in Federal or other immediately 
available funds at the office of Wachovia Bank, N.A., 191 Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303, or such other address as may be 
specified from time to time pursuant to the Credit Agreement.  

All Dollar Loans made by the Bank, the respective maturities thereof, the interest rates from time to time applicable thereto and all repayments 
of the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached hereto, 
or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided that the failure of the Bank to make, or any error of the 
Bank in making, any such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunder or under the Credit 
Agreement.  

This Note is one of the Dollar Notes referred to in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1997 among 
Franklin Electric Co., Inc., the other Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and Wachovia Bank, N.A., 
as Agent (as the same may be amended or modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"). Terms defined in the Credit Agreement are 
used herein with the same meanings. Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for provisions for the prepayment and the repayment hereof 
and the acceleration of the maturity hereof.  

The Borrower hereby waives presentment, demand, protest, notice of demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice required by law 
relative hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be expressly provided for in the Credit Agreement.  

The Borrower agrees, in the event that this Dollar Note or any portion hereof is collected by law or through an attorney at law, to pay all 
reasonable costs of collection, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees.  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Dollar Note to be duly executed under seal, by its duly authorized officer as of the 
day and year first above written.  

[BORROWER]  

By: (SEAL)  
 
Title:  



Dollar Note (cont'd)  

DOLLAR LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL  

 

* I.e., a Base Rate or Euro-Dollars Loan.  

       Type                  Amount    Amount of 
        Of        Interest     of      Principal     Maturity       Notation 
Date   Loan*        Rate      Loan      Repaid        Date          Made By 
----   ----       --------   ------    ---------     --------       -------- 
 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------  



EXHIBIT B  

FOREIGN CURRENCY NOTE  

Atlanta, Georgia  
December 30, 1997  

For value received, [name of Borrower], a _______ corporation (the Borrower), promises to pay to the order of ________________, a 
_____________ (the Bank), for the account of its Lending Office, the outstanding principal amount of each Foreign Currency Loan made by 
the Bank to the Borrower pursuant to the Credit Agreement referred to below, on the dates and in the amounts provided in the Credit 
Agreement. The Borrower promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of this Foreign Currency Note on the dates and at the rate or 
rates provided for Foreign Currency Loans in the Credit Agreement. Interest on any overdue principal of and, to the extent permitted by law, 
overdue interest on the principal amount hereof shall bear interest at the Default Rate, as provided for in the Credit Agreement. All such 
payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the applicable Foreign Currency in immediately available funds at the 
office of Wachovia Bank, N.A., 191 Peachtree Street, N.E., Atlanta, Georgia 30303, or such other address as may be specified from time to 
time pursuant to the Credit Agreement.  

All Foreign Currency Loans made by the Bank, the respective maturities thereof, the interest rates from time to time applicable thereto, and all 
repayments of the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, endorsed by the Bank on the schedule 
attached hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided that the failure of the Bank to make any 
such recordation or endorsement shall not affect the obligations of the Borrower hereunder or under the Credit Agreement.  

This Note is one of the Foreign Currency Notes referred to in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 30, 1997 
among Franklin Electric Co., Inc., the other Borrowers referred to therein, the Banks listed on the signature pages thereof and Wachovia Bank, 
N.A., as Agent (as the same may be amended and modified from time to time, the Credit Agreement). Terms defined in the Credit Agreement 
are used herein with the same meanings. Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for provisions for the optional and mandatory prepayment 
and the repayment hereof and the acceleration of the maturity hereof.  

The Borrower hereby waives presentment, demand, protest, notice of demand, protest and nonpayment and any other notice required by law 
relative hereto, except to the extent as otherwise may be expressly provided for in the Credit Agreement.  

The Borrower agrees, in the event that this Foreign Currency Note or any portion hereof is collected by law or through an attorney at law, to 
pay all reasonable costs of collection, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees.  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower has caused this Foreign Currency Note to be duly executed under seal, by its duly authorized officer 
as of the day and year first above written.  

[BORROWER]  

By: (SEAL)  
 
Title:  



Foreign Currency Note (cont'd)  
FOREIGN CURRENCY LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL  

 

        Type                 Amount of       Amount  of 
         of      Interest     Loan and       Princi pal    Maturity    Notation  
Date   Foreign     Rate    Foreign Currency   Repai d        Date      Made By 
----   Currency  --------  ----------------  ------ ---    --------    --------  
       -------- 
 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------  



EXHIBIT 21  
FRANKLIN ELECTRIC CO., INC.  

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  

 

Franklin Electric Foreign Sales  
Corporation U.S. Virgin Islands 100  

Motores Franklin S.A. de C.V. Mexico 100  

                                                            Percent of 
                                       State or cou ntry       voting 
                                       of incorpora tion     stock owned  
                                       ------------ ----     -----------  
Subsidiaries consolidated: 
 
  FE Petro, Inc.                            Indiana              100 
 
  Franklin Electric Subsidiaries, Inc. 
    [inactive]                              Indiana              100 
 
  Franklin Electric International, Inc.     Delawar e            100 
 
  Franklin Electric AG                      Switzer land         100 
 
  Franklin Electric B.V.                    Netherl ands         100 
 
  Franklin Electric Europa, GmbH            Germany              100 
 
  Franklin Electric spol s.r.o.             Czech R epublic      100 
 
  Franklin Electric S.r.l.                  Italy               100 
 
  Franklin Electric (Australia) Pty. Ltd.   Austral ia           100 
 
  Franklin Electric (South Africa) 
    Pty. Limited                            South A frica        100 



EXHIBIT 23  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. on Form S-8 (file numbers 33-35958, 
33-35960, 33-35962, 33-38200, 333-01957 and 333-01959) of our report dated January 30, 1998 appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-
K of Franklin Electric Co., Inc. for the year ended January 3, 1998.  

 

 /s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
Chicago, Illinois 
February 27, 1998 



 
 

 

End of Filing  
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ARTICLE 5 
THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE FORM 10-K FOR THE PERIOD 
ENDED JANUARY 3, 1998 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

PERIOD TYPE 12 MOS 12 MOS 12 MOS 
FISCAL YEAR END JAN 03 1998 DEC 28 1996 DEC 30 1995 
PERIOD END JAN 03 1998 DEC 28 1996 DEC 30 1995 
CASH 23,191 22,968 32,077 
SECURITIES 48,497 31,624 0 
RECEIVABLES 18,327 26,069 23,877 
ALLOWANCES 1,349 1,435 1,351 
INVENTORY 31,259 42,305 45,839 
CURRENT ASSETS 128,500 131,016 109,321 
PP&E 102,152 123,792 121,696 
DEPRECIATION 69,795 83,695 80,026 
TOTAL ASSETS 163,110 172,959 153,357 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 40,527 41,545 41,297 
BONDS 0 0 0 
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0 0 0 
PREFERRED 0 0 0 
COMMON 585 638 626 
OTHER SE 92,256 99,185 79,931 
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 163,110 172,929 153,357 
SALES 303,298 300,689 276,440 
TOTAL REVENUES 309,935 302,287 278,781 
CGS 217,765 221,475 210,969 
TOTAL COSTS 269,426 268,950 254,502 
OTHER EXPENSES 0 0 0 
LOSS PROVISION 0 0 0 
INTEREST EXPENSE 1,435 1,308 2,128 
INCOME PRETAX 40,509 33,337 24,279 
INCOME TAX 15,004 11,827 8,777 
INCOME CONTINUING 25,505 21,510 15,502 
DISCONTINUED 0 0 0 
EXTRAORDINARY 0 0 0 
CHANGES 0 0 0 
NET INCOME 25,505 21,510 15,502 
EPS PRIMARY 4.33 3.43 2.51 
EPS DILUTED 4.01 3.22 2.35 


